
 

 
 

 
 

 
  Shropshire Council 

Legal and Democratic Services 
Shirehall 
Abbey Foregate 

Shrewsbury 
SY2 6ND 

   
Date:   Monday, 17 February 2025 
 

 
Committee:  

Southern Planning Committee 
 
Date: Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

Time: 2.00 pm 
Venue: The Council Chamber, The Guildhall, Frankwell Quay, Shrewsbury, SY3 8HQ 

  
You are requested to attend the above meeting. The Agenda is attached.  
 

There will be some access to the meeting room for members of the press and public, but this will 
be limited. If you wish to attend the meeting please email democracy@shropshire.gov.uk to check 

that a seat will be available for you.  
 
Please click here to view the livestream of the meeting on the date and time stated on the agenda 

 
The recording of the event will also be made available shortly after the meeting on the Shropshire 

Council Youtube Channel Here 
 
The Council’s procedure for holding Socially Distanced Planning Committees including the 

arrangements for public speaking can be found by clicking on this link: 
https://shropshire.gov.uk/planning/applications/planning-committees  

 
Tim Collard 
Assistant Director – Legal and Governance 

 
 

Members of the Committee Substitute Members of the Committee 

David Evans (Chairman) 
Nick Hignett (Vice Chairman) 

Caroline Bagnall 
Andy Boddington 

Richard Huffer 
Christian Lea 
Nigel Lumby 

Tony Parsons 
Ed Potter 

Robert Tindall 
 

Roy Aldcroft 
Gwilym Butler 

Rachel Connolly 
Hilary Luff 

Cecilia Motley 
Kevin Pardy 
Colin Taylor 

Edward Towers 
Claire Wild 

Mark Williams 
 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democracy@shropshire.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/user/ShropshireCouncil/featured
https://www.youtube.com/user/ShropshireCouncil/streams
https://shropshire.gov.uk/planning/applications/planning-committees


 
Your Committee Officer is:  

 
Tim Ward   Committee Officer 

Tel:     01743 257713 
Email:     tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk 



AGENDA 
 
1  Apologies for Absence  

 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

2  Minutes (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
To confirm the minutes of the Southern Planning Committee meeting held on 17 

December 2024 
 

Contact Tim Ward (01743) 257713. 
 

3  Public Question Time  

 
To receive any questions or petitions from the public, notice of which has been given in 

accordance with Procedure Rule 14.  The deadline for this meeting is no later than 12.00 
noon on Wednesday 19th February 2025 
 

4  Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

 

Members are reminded that they must declare their disclosable pecuniary interests and 
other registrable or non-registrable interests in any matter being considered at the 
meeting as set out in Appendix B of the Members’ Code of Conduct and consider if they 

should leave the room prior to the item being considered. Further advice can be sought 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 

 
5  32 and 34 Harley Road Condover Shrewsbury Shropshire SY5 7AZ (24/04272/FUL) 

(Pages 5 - 18) 

 
Change of use from a dwelling house (Class C3a) to a residential home for up to 5 

children (Class C2) 
 

6  8 Greendale Close Highley Bridgnorth Shropshire WV16 6EG (25/00171/COU) 

(Pages 19 - 32) 
 

Change of use of building from C3 (dwelling house) to C2 (residential institution) 
 

7  Development Land At Site Of Ironbridge Power Station Buildwas Road Ironbridge 

Telford Shropshire (24/03660/REM) (Pages 33 - 50) 

 

Application for the approval of reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale) for Phase 2A residential development pursuant to outline planning permission 
19/05560/OUT. 

 
8  Plots 1 & 7 Proposed Residential And Commercial Development Land Tasley 

Bridgnorth Shropshire (24/01598/REM) (Pages 51 - 68) 

 
Reserved Matters (appearance, layout, scale, landscaping) for Phase 2 (Plot 1) and 

Phase 3 (Plot 7) for the erection of 323 dwellings  
 

9  11 Greenfields Road Bridgnorth Shropshire WV16 4JG  (25/00387/CPL) (Pages 69 - 

76) 
 

Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for the proposed conversion of garage 



and internal alterations to kitchen.  Alterations to windows and doors, replacement 
brickwork to rear to allow for insulation, installation of french doors and addition of hipped 

roof to existing flat roof on rear bay 
 

10  Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions (Pages 77 - 118) 

 
 

11  Date of the Next Meeting  

 

To note that the next meeting of the Southern Planning Committee will be held at  
2.00 pm on Tuesday 25 March 2025, in the Council Chamber, Guildhall, Shrewsbury. 
 



 

  

 

 Committee and Date 

 

Southern Planning Committee 
 
INSERT NEXT MEETING DATE 

 
SOUTHERN PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes of the meeting held on 17 December 2024 
2.00  - 2.45 pm in the Shrewsbury/Oswestry Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, 
Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND 

 
Responsible Officer:    Tim Ward 

Email:  tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257713 
 
Present  

Councillors Nick Hignett (Vice Chairman), Andy Boddington, Christian Lea, Nigel Lumby, 
Tony Parsons, Robert Tindall, Roy Aldcroft (Substitute) (substitute for Ed Potter), 

Rachel Connolly (Substitute) (substitute for Caroline Bagnall), Hilary Luff (Substitute) 
(substitute for David Evans) and Mark Williams (Substitute) (substitute for Richard Huffer) 
 

 
51 Apologies for Absence  

 
Apologies for absence were received Councillors Caroline Bagnall (Sub- Rachel 
Connolly), David Evans (Sub – Hilary Luff), Richard Huffer (Sub Mark Williams) and 

Ed Potter (Sub- Roy Aldcroft) 
 
52 Minutes  

 
Councillor Tindall pointed out that Councillor Towers had substituted for him at the 

last meeting but his name had been omitted from the list of those present 
 

RESOLVED: 

 
That subject to the addition of Councillor Towers to the list of those present, the 

Minutes of the meeting of the South Planning Committee held on 26 November 2024 
be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
53 Public Question Time  

 

There were no public questions submitted. 
 
54 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

 
Members were reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting on 

any matter in which they had a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave the 
room prior to the commencement of the debate. 

 
With regard to agenda item 5 Councillor Tindall stated that he was the local Member 
and that he would make a statement and then withdraw from the table and take no 

part in the debate or voting. 
 Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes of the Southern Planning Committee held on 17 December 2024 

 

 
 
Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 2 

 

55 Proposed Residential Development Land To The East Of Derrington Road 
Ditton Priors Shropshire (24/02828/FUL)  

 
The South Area Planning Manager gave Members an update on the recently 

published changes to the NPPF and drew their attention to the update in the 
schedule of late representations. 
 

The Principal Planning Officer introduced the application which was an application for 
planning permission for a residential development of 44 No. plots consisting of 1, 2, 3 

and 4 bed properties including 11No. affordable dwellings plus associated 
infrastructure, access, off site footpath, public open space and landscaping and with 
reference to the drawings and photographs displayed, she drew Members’ attention 

to the to the location and layout.  She advised Members that the amount of 
affordable dwellings and Biodiversity Net Gain provided by the scheme was above 

that required by policy. 
 
Jayne Madeley (Clerk) spoke on behalf of Ditton Priors Parish Council in accordance 

with Shropshire Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees 
 

Councillor Robert Tindall, local Ward Councillor made a statement in accordance 
with Shropshire Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees and 
then left the table and took no part in the debate or voting 

 
Andrew Sheldon, (Applicant), spoke in support of the proposal in accordance with 

Shropshire Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees. 
 
Whilst Members acknowledged the concerns expressed regarding the local highways 

network, they agreed that the scheme would be of benefit to the local area. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That in accordance with the officer recommendation planning permission be granted 

subject to completion of a S106 Agreement to secure the provision of affordable 
housing in perpetuity, a POS Specification and Maintenance Scheme, Biodiversity 

Net Gain and the construction and transfer of the School Car Park Facilities, and to 
the conditions set out in appendix 1, with delegated powers to officers to negotiate 
and refine conditions and terms of section 106 agreement 

 
 

 
56 Cleobury Hills, High Street, Cleobury Mortimer, Shropshire, DY14 8DN 

(24/03787/FUL)  

 
The Principal Planning Officer introduced the application which was an application for 

planning permission for a 58 bedroom residential care accommodation, access, 
amenity space and associated works and with reference to the drawings and 
photographs displayed, she drew Members’ attention to the to the location and 

layout.  She advised members that planning permission had previously been granted 
for a similar scheme but the building that was built had to be demolished as it was 

Page 2



Minutes of the Southern Planning Committee held on 17 December 2024 

 

 
 
Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 3 

 

not constructed in accordance with required regulations and that permission for a 
subsequent larger scheme had been refused. 

 
Members commented that the proposals were similar to those previously granted 

permission and that the proposal would provide a valuable resource for the area. 
 
RESOLVED 

 
That in accordance with officer recommendation planning permission be granted 

subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1 and a section 106 agreement to 
recover the costs of administering a Traffic Regulation Order, with delegation to 
officers to refine or amend conditions and the detail of the section 106 as required 

 
57 Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions  

 
RESOLVED: 

 

That the Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions for the southern area as at 17 
December 2024 be noted. 

 
58 Date of the Next Meeting  

 
RESOLVED: 

 

That it be noted that the next meeting of the Southern Planning Committee will be 
held at 2.00 pm on Tuesday 28 January 2025 

 

 
Signed  (Chairman) 

 
 

Date:  

  

 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

          AGENDA ITEM 

 
 

 Committee and date        

 
  

 
25th February 2025 

 
 
 
Development Management Report 
 
Responsible Officer: Rachel Robinson, Director of Health Wellbeing and Prevention 

 
Summary of Application 

 
Application Number: 24/04272/FUL 

 
Parish: 

 

Condover  
 

Proposal: Change of use from a dwelling house (Class C3a) to a residential home for up to 5 

children (Class C2) 
 
Site Address: 32 and 34 Harley Road Condover Shrewsbury Shropshire SY5 7AZ 
 

Applicant: Unique Care Group 

 

Case Officer: Mandy Starr  email: mandy.starr@shropshire.gov.uk  

 
Grid Ref: 349267 - 305958 

 

 
 
© Crown Copy right. All rights reserv ed.  Shropshire Council AC0000808715. 2024  For ref erence purposes only . No f urther copies may  be made.  

 
Recommendation:-  Grant Permission subject to the conditions set out in Appendix  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5

mailto:mandy.starr@shropshire.gov.uk


AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

REPORT 

   
1.0 THE PROPOSAL 

 

1.1 
 
 

 
 

The proposed development is for the change of use of two attached dwellinghouses 
(Class C3a) into a single residential care home for up to 5 children (Class C2) at No 
32 and No 34 Harley Road Condover and this application has been made on behalf 

of Unique Care Ltd who are a local residential educational childcare company.  

1.2 The proposal is to convert these two attached dwellings into a single care home 
facility of 335m2 (gross internal area) by this Company. The properties, although 
attached, are currently two separate planning units.  The scheme proposes 5 

children’s bedrooms on the ground floor with a new through opening in the party wall 
between No 32 and 34. The waking night staff would be accommodated on first floor 

for No 34 and the Manager and Meeting room would be in the roof space for No 32.   
 

1.3 5 children aged 5 to 18 with learning disabilities would be placed at the premises as 

their main residence, where they can have one to one support with the aim to 
transform their lives and provide support and care for them as they transition to adult 
life. 

 
1.4 The business would employ 10 full time staff to look after 5 children with 5 daytime 

carers and 2 waking night staff arranged on a rota basis.  There would be one 
change of these staff each day around 8.30am. A manager would arrive each 
weekday around 9am and work until around 5pm and three daily carers would arrive 

each day and would work from 8.30am to 6.30pm each day.  
  

1.5 The handovers would incur a small number of traffic movements per day. No on-
street parking is envisaged for any staff or visitors as the site already has parking 
provision. 

 
2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION 

 

2.1 
 

 
 

 
 

Nos 32 and 34 Harley Road are two semi-detached red brick and concrete tiled 
1960s chalet bungalows situated on the corner with No 34 fronting onto Harley Road 

itself, whilst No 32 fronts onto a short cul-de-sac facing Nos 28 and 30. A footpath 
leads from the end of cul-de-sac around several other houses and onto the ‘C’ class 

Dorrington Road, Condover. To the north of No 34 is No 36 Harley Road which is a 
two-storey dwelling set back behind the frontage of No 34 and which has its rear 
garden extending along the party boundary with No 32.  To the rear of No 32 itself 

beyond an existing brick wall and fencing is The Laurels which is a modern dwelling 
built within the last decade which has several rear windows facing towards No 32. 

Either side of the Laurels is The Coach House and Lime Villa to the northeast and the 
Rectory to the south.  Within the garden of No 32 is a beech tree which is the subject 
of a Tree Preservation Order as well as a group of protected trees that extends 

northwards towards No 40.  In addition, part of the rear garden of No 32 is also within 

Page 6



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

the Condover Conservation Area too.   
  
3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION  

 

3.1 The Parish Council and Local Ward Member have contrary views to officers. At the 
Southern Committee Agenda Setting meeting, it was resolved for the application to 
be presented to planning committee. 

  

4.0 Community Representations 

  
4.1 Summary of Consultee Comments 

4.1.1 SC Conservation (Historic Environment) – 22 November 2024 

The proposed change of use affects a modern pair of houses positioned just outside 
of the Condover Conservation Area boundary where the boundary line cuts through 

the east half of the garden of Number 32. As the works proposed are limited to the 
interior of the building, we have no further comments related to historic environment 

matters. 
 

4.1.2 SC Regulatory Services – 29 November 2024  

The proposals indicate 5 members of staff at any one time during the day, plus other 
support staff. The changeover of staff could result in 10 cars coming and going, along 

with other vehicles. 
 
The main concern is that the north boundary spans the length of a neighbouring 

dwelling and is near the neighbouring house with rooms such as kitchen, dining 
room, sensory room and two breakout rooms near the boundary.  

 
In the previous use of the properties as a care facility, noise breakout of staff talking 
in the rear yard area could be easily heard. The same could be true of any C3 

residential use of the home, but as it is effectively a workplace for staff in a care 
facility, and it is a 24-hour workplace.  

 
Although houses as a structural unit may lend themselves to a care setting, the 
location itself, its scale and proximity with the border very closely with one house to 

the north where are the day-to-day activity rooms and outside area view towards and 
the outside areas of other gardens make noise breakout of staff activities and similar 

difficult to mitigate. Many similar applications frequently apply for change of use for 2 
or 3 residents. 5, along with 5 staff is quite intensive and considering the proximity of 
the surrounding properties, and the level of staffing that is required to support the 

care need, I would recommend that the location of this property may not be suitable 
for the change of use proposed. 

 
4.1.3 SC Highways – 3 December 2024 

Given the recent use of the site as a residential facility, it is considered that a 

highway objection to the proposed development could not be sustained. However, 
the applicant is requested to demonstrate the proposed parking spaces on an 

Page 7



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

annotated, dimensioned scale drawing.  
 

Further comments following submission of additional information by applicant 
- 15 January 2025 

 
A highway objection to the proposed development could not be sustained. The 
submitted Staff Workplace Travel Plan together with the cycling facilities are 

acceptable. Recommended conditions and informatives.  
 

4.1.4 SC Ecology - 25 November 2024 

Ecology are satisfied that this application can be dealt with using standing advice.   
  
4.2 Summary of Public Comments 

4.2.1 Condover Parish Council – 4 December 2024 – Objection 

 
Harley Road, Condover, is a purely residential area. This commercial business would 
create many adverse issues for residents. There is inadequate parking for staff 

members and narrow road which could lead to hazardous parking impacting on 
pedestrian safety. Increased traffic generation from the use impacting on existing 
issues. 

 
Additional Parish Council comments received 9 January 2025 

 
Concern that another property no. 25 is also seeking a care use, issues of 
proliferation. Our view is that on Harley Road we have 3 small bungalows which are 

entirely in keeping with this residential area. The research we have done for our 
Neighbourhood Plan (which should be submitted in the month) shows there is real 

shortage of this type of property in the Parish. We aim to change that, but losing 3 
bungalows from our housing stock would be a big setback. Concern that this care 
use could repeat local concerns relating to noise and disturbance as the previous use 

created. 
 

4.2.2 21 public comments have been received and summarised as follows. 
 

 15 objections have been received based on the following grounds: 

 

Impact of use on local community  

 Fear of a repeat of issues from the previous care use at this facility and issues 
of noise and disturbance. 

 Activities and sounds associated with 24-hour care home operations would 
impact on local residents who are entitled to a peaceful environment. 

 Not possible to manage these noise issues due to the unsuitability of the two 

bungalows in such proximity to the surrounding houses with only a couple of 
metres between No 34 and its neighbour. Noise mitigation is therefore 

impractical and ineffective when operating a residential institution.   

 This is a residential institution is not a family home, as it has staff and services 

Page 8



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

that cater for the residents and operates as a 24/7 workplace. This use is not 
appropriate in this location.   

 Principle objection is due to the unsuitability of the buildings for a large 
residential care home not the vulnerable children to be housed there.  

 Could lead to issues of anti-social behaviour.  

 Loss of housing stock and affordable homes. 

 
Impact on cared for children. 

 Lack of privacy for occupiers.  

 The remaining garden is small, it is crucial for children to have access to a 
healthy environment particularly those who have faced adversity, mental 

health challenges or who are neurodivergent. 

 The applicant supports children and young people with learning disabilities 

and complex needs and therefore they should be in an environment where 
they can express themselves day and night where their emotional wellbeing is 
nurtured, the location and proximity to neighbours cannot provide this without 

an enormous impact.  
 

Parking, Traffic and Access Concerns 

 Inadequate parking provision could lead to obstruction to other users and 
emergency vehicles. 

 Shift changeovers can involve large volumes of staff arriving and departing in 
short timeframes, along with visitors, deliveries which can cause congestion, 

disruptive parking and noise and these vehicle movements and noise cannot 
be mitigated in this setting.  

 Condover only has a limited bus service outside peak hours and cycling to 
work is not practical due to lack of bike lanes and distance as a result most 
employees and visitors would use cars or taxis.   

 
1 Neutral comment  

 

 Request that SC reinstate these properties as two family dwellings to add to 
housing stock of village. 

           
8 supporting comments.  

 

 The noise objections assumes that disabled children are very noisy, this is 

prejudiced everyone in society deserves the same rights to a safe home 
regardless of disability or other protected characteristics. 

 Suitability of the site – this is a lovely, detached home with its own garden and 

plentiful parking and is spacious and part of a community. 

 Traffic congestion– only a few more cars at staff changeover.   Harley Road is 

not one of the busiest of roads, but maybe it is a school time. Existing parking 
on site. 

 Privacy issues - there is likely to be fencing around the property which is 

Page 9



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

adequate. 

 Previous occupants - This property was used by previous institutional care 

provider and the RNIB for many years and there was a continual change of 
residents, and these issues were not a major issue. 

 Village has a strong sense of community, excellent and tranquil setting making 
it an ideal environment for such a facility.  

 There is a significant shortage of residential care facilities in Shropshire 

currently which is becoming increasingly critical as the number of children in 
care continues to rise.  

  
5.0  THE MAIN ISSUES 

 

 Principle of development 
Scale and Design 

Residential Amenity 
Highway Safety  

 
6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL 

  

6.1 Principle of development 

6.1.1 The adopted development plan for Shropshire is the Local Development 

Framework (LDF) Core Strategy and the Site Allocations and Management of 
Development (SAMDev) Plan. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a 
material consideration for decision making. 

  
6.1.2 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

6.1.3 

The proposal is for a new care home business use in Condover that will provide a 

care home for children with learning difficulties which would also employ new staff 
and it would be sited within the development boundary of the village with easy access 
to the existing transport network. Condover is part of a Community Cluster with 

Dorrington and Stapleton. Policy CS4 recognises that settlements such as Condover 
have a role in securing public and private investment and will become more 

sustainable by doing so. Core Strategy policy CS11 supports the provision of 
specialist housing, including residential and extra care facilities in such locations.  
 

Whilst some concern has been sited about the loss of existing housing stock, this is 
not sufficient to outweigh the needs for specialist accommodation provision. As such 

the principle of a care facility would comply with policy and is an appropriate 
sustainable development in this location.  

  

6.3 Scale and design 

6.3.1 
 

 
 

6.3.2 

The NPPF is clear “Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 

communities”  
 

Policies CS6 Sustainable Design and Development Principles and Policy MD2 
Managing Sustainable Development, set out local considerations for design including 

Page 10



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

taking account of the local character and context and this extends to the health and 
wellbeing of communities including safeguarding residential and local amenity.. 

 
6.3.3 The properties are currently vacant and laid out internally as two separate dwellings, 

with separate entrances, parking areas and external space.  
  

6.3.4 The proposed layout will provide an internal link between the 2 properties to create a 

single building internally. The internal configuration is largely for the bedroom 
accommodation within No 32, and more communal spaces within No 34 which also 

has the access to the private rear amenity space. 
 

6.3.5 There would be no change to the external appearance of the building. The proposed 

small increase in the hardstanding in front of No 34 would allow more vehicles to be 
parked off the highway. This does not diminish the level of private garden space 

which is of ample size for the 5 residents. As there are no external changes, there 
would be no adverse impact on the significance of this part of the Condover 
Conservation Area. 

 
6.3.6 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

6.3.7 
 
 

 
 

Concerns from the past arrangements of staff using their cars during break times 
impacted on neighbouring properties and affected the character of the site. The 

details for this new use indicate that staff changeover would take place over a short 
time period and internal arrangements of the care home includes dedicated staff 

accommodation, reducing the likelihood of staff sitting out in their cars during breaks. 
The current proposal would seek to overcome this issue and therefore the proposal 
would not affect the character of this part of Harley Road or result in visual harm to 

the locality. 
 

The scale and design of the care home will not be altered because of the proposal 
and the scheme will not therefore impact the existing streetscene. The design of the 
internal arrangements is also considered appropriate for the type and level of care 

being proposed. Officers therefore consider the development accords with local and 
national policy. 

  
6.4 Residential Amenity 

6.4.1 Policy CS6 of the Core Strategy and Policy MD2 of SAMDev indicates that 

development should safeguard the residential and local amenity. 
 

6.4.2 
 
 

6.4.3 
 

 
 
 

 

The proposed use as a single property as the main residence for 5 children shares 
many similarities to the workings of the existing 2 family dwellings on the site. 
 

The premises will be home to 5 children between the ages of 5 and 18.  Supported 
by 5 staff members. The staff arrangements are for two carers working overnight on a 

rota basis (over a 48-hour period), one of these staff would leave each day around 
8.30am and would be replaced with three new day time carers. A manager would 
arrive each weekday around 9am and work until around 5pm. The day carers would 

then work from 8.30am to 6.30pm each day until the night staff took over. The 

Page 11



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

 
 

 
6.4.4 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
6.4.5 

maximum number of staff present on site would be six, but this will only be for the 
small change over period early morning. 

 
It is intended that the daily operation of the home will be undiscernible to that of a 

large dwelling house with the young people coming and going for education purposes 
and the adults coming and going for work purposes and thus, will not prejudice or 
undermine the existing surrounding uses. The applicant already runs other children’s 

Care Homes in Shropshire along the same business model as this proposal and has 
now submitted a Good Neighbour policy document to support the application. 

 
All public representations submitted with this application have been assessed and the 
concerns regarding the previous occupants of these properties have been noted, but 

it is important to state that the applicant's business is new business venture and is 
unrelated to that of the previous occupiers.  Significantly the children that will be 

placed in the proposed care home will first need to be assessed by Shropshire 
Council Children’s Social Services.    
  

6.4.6 The comments of the Regulatory Services Officer have also been noted in respect of 
the historical use of this property before the applicants purchased it. Reference is 
also made to recent case law regarding a Noise Abatement Order in relation to the 

new Equality Act, but the significant issue is that the property is currently vacant and 
is not being used as a care home at present, so this issue does not apply.  If there 

were future issues of noise and anti-social behaviour, then these matters would be 
dealt with by Regulatory Services.  
 

6.4.7 Therefore in relation to this application, it is the proposed use that needs to be 
considered here and although concerns have been raised about the layout and close 

proximity of neighbours, the choice of the actual residents has not yet been 
undertaken and therefore these potential concerns about future noise disturbance as 
an operational care home for children need to be taken in context, having regard that 

these properties could also be sold as off as ordinary family homes and occupied by 
residents who could also have children and may also have several vehicles too.  

 
6.4.8 Nevertheless, given the close proximity of the children's bedroom windows to the 

boundary hedge (which has recently been reduced in height) and No 36's rear 

garden which is slightly higher up than the application site, it is considered that a 2m 
high acoustic fence (secured by condition) should be provided along the party 

boundary to limit the direct impact on the neighbour’s amenities.  
 

6.4.9 Therefore, having regard to all the issues raised above including the detailed 

objections raised by the neighbours and given that the proposed children’s 
background is unlikely to raise amenity issues discernible from any children living as 

part of a household, it is considered that the proposal is unlikely to negatively impact 
on the  surrounding neighbours amenities and were issues to be raised in the future, 
these would be appropriately managed by the applicant. As the impacts have been 

assessed based on the levels of occupation proposed, it is considered appropriate to 

Page 12



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

limit the consent to occupation by a maximum of 5 children at any one time.  
  

6.5 Highway Safety and Travel Arrangements 

6.5.1 Policy CS7 deals with Communications and Transport. Sustainable development 

requires the maintenance and improvement of integrated, accessible, attractive, safe 
and reliable communication and transport infrastructure and services. 

  

6.5.3 The Highway Authority are not objecting in principle to this application.  A revised 
parking layout has now been submitted addressing concerns about the capacity for 

on street parking provision and can be controlled through conditions.  
 

6.5.4 There is a local bus service arriving at 07:32hours and then frequently until 17:57 

hours in the evening operating from Monday to Friday with a reduced service 
operating on a Saturday, but with no Sunday service.    

 
6.5.5 A Staff Workplace Travel Plan Policy accompanies the application and sets out the 

guidelines for staff travelling to and from the workplace focusing on environmental 

impact and reducing single-occupancy travel and thus traffic congestion, fairness in 
using parking facilities and seeking to foster good relations with the neighbouring 
properties. 

 
6.5.6 

 
 

The level of traffic associated with the development is unlikely to differ significantly 

from that of the existing residential dwellings. Shift changes are proposed to take 
place at appropriate times during the day to reduce disruption, there is adequate on-
site parking provision to ensure minimal disruption to the existing highway network.  

Accordingly, the development complies with local and national policy. 
 

7.0 CONCLUSION 

7.1 
 

 
 

 
 
 

7.2 

The change of use from two C3 dwellinghouses to a C2 children’s care home for 5 
residents with 3 daytime carers and two night time carers working on a rota basis 

would meet National and Local planning policies by supporting the delivery of 
specialist supported housing. Taking in account the size of the two attached 

dwellings, the size of their curtilages and the context of the site, it is an appropriate 
location for the purpose proposed.  
 

The small scale of children’s care home would not give rise to a level of activity nor 
an increase in vehicle movements which would have a significant detrimental impact 

upon the surrounding occupiers or impact on the significance of this part of the 
Condover Conservation Area. Having considered the objectors comments and the 
history of the site along with the detailed information submitted by the applicant, the 

proposal is considered to be acceptable and therefore on balance, the proposal can 
be recommended for approval.  Suggested conditions will seek details of an acoustic 

fence, access and parking area improvements, access apron, restriction on height of 
any hedge/fence/boundary fronting onto Harley Road being limited to 600mm high 
and levels of occupation. 

  

Page 13



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal 

  
8.1 Risk Management 

  

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows: 
 

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they disagree 

with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be awarded 
irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. written representations, 

hearing or inquiry. 

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. The 
courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of 

policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural justice. 
However their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, rather than 

to make a decision on the planning issues themselves, although they will interfere 
where the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. Therefore 
they are concerned with the legality of the decision, not its planning merits. A 

challenge by way of Judicial Review must be made a) promptly and b) in any 
event not later than six weeks after the grounds to make the claim first arose. 

 
Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against non-

determination for application for which costs can also be awarded. 
  
8.2 Human Rights 

  
Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol Article 

1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be balanced 
against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of the County 

in the interests of the Community. 
 
First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 

against the impact on residents. 
 

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above recommendation. 
  
8.3 Equalities 

  
The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the public 

at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a number of 
‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in Planning Committee members’ 
minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

  
9.0 Financial Implications 

  
There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of conditions 

Page 14



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of defending any 
decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent on the scale and nature 

of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of being taken into 
account when determining this planning application – insofar as they are material to 

the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for the decision maker. 
 
10.   Background  

 
Relevant Planning Policies 

  
Central Government Guidance: NPPF 
 

Core Strategy and Saved Policies: 
CS1 - Strategic Approach 

CS4 - Community Hubs and Community Clusters 
CS6 - Sustainable Design and Development Principles 
CS7 - Communications and Transport 

CS8 - Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Provision 
CS11 - Type and Affordability of housing 
CS13 - Economic Development, Enterprise and Employment 

CS17 - Environmental Networks 
CS18 - Sustainable Water Management 

MD2 - Sustainable Design 
MD3 - Managing Housing Development 
MD4 - Managing Employment Development 

MD12 - Natural Environment 
MD13 - Historic Environment 

Settlement: S16.2(vii): Dorrington, Stapleton and Condover 
SPD Type and Affordability of Housing 
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:  
 

21/03347/TPO Crown reduce by up to 2.5mtrs, and crown lift up to 3mtrs on secondary 
branches only of 1no Beech and remove major deadwood of 1no Sycamore tree protected by 
the Shrewsbury & Atcham Borough Council (North Condover) Tree Preservation Order 2004. 

GRANT 6th September 2021 
 

23/01829/TPO Trim back to boundary by ... & remove branch overhanging office and vicarage 
of 1no .... protected by the Shrewsbury & Atcham Borough Council (North Condover) Tree 
Preservation Order 2004 (Ref: SA/396) NPW 18th May 2023 

 
SA/98/0434 Erection of a single storey extension to provide additional accommodation. 

PERCON 9th July 1998 
 
SA/04/0858/F Erection of a single storey rear extension to 32-34 Harley Road and alterations 

to entrance gates/piers for Condover House (amended description). PERCON 25th August 

Page 15



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

2004 
 

11.       Additional Information 
 

View details online: http://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=SMJRONTDLIW00   
 

 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information) 

 
 

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  - Councillor Chris Schofield 
 

 

Local Member   
 

 Cllr Dan Morris 

Appendices 
APPENDIX 1 - Conditions 

 

Page 16

http://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=SMJRONTDLIW00
http://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=SMJRONTDLIW00


AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

Conditions 
 
STANDARD CONDITION(S) 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
Reason: To comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 (As 

amended). 
 

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans, 

drawings and documents as listed in Schedule 1 below. 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out 

in accordance with the approved plans and details. 
 
CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL DURING THE CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO 

THE OCCUPATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

 
3. Prior to the commencement of the C2 use, full details of the acoustic fencing including 

height, location and appearance and maintenance to be installed between the northern 
boundary of application site and No 36 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority.  The boundary treatment shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved details before the use is commenced and retained for the lifetime of 
the use hereby permitted. 

Reason:  To minimise the impact of the residential care home use on the neighbours 
amenities 

 
4. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the improvements 

to the existing accesses and parking areas have been provided properly laid out, hard 

surfaced and drained in accordance with Revised Block Plan Drawing No. 002 REV A3 
published on 09 January 2025. The space shall be maintained thereafter free of any 

impediment to its designated use for the lifetime of the use hereby permitted. 
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate vehicular facilities, to avoid congestion on 
adjoining roads and to protect the amenities of the area. 

 
 
CONDITION(S) THAT ARE RELEVANT FOR THE LIFETIME OF THE DEVELOPMENT  

 
5. Any hedge, fence or other boundary treatment fronting onto Harley Road is to be kept at 

a height of 600mm or lower at all times. 
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate visibility in the interests of pedestrian and 

highway safety. 
 
  6. The premises shall be used as a children’s care home and restricted to the care of a 

maximum of five young persons aged 5-18 inclusive at any one time and for no other 

Page 17



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 32 Harley Road 

        

 
 

purpose including any other purpose in Class C2 of the Schedule to the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class 

in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification. 

Reason: To restrict the use of the premises in the interest of the amenities of the area. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 18



          AGENDA ITEM 

 
 

 Committee and date       

 
  

 

25th February 2025 
 

 
 
Development Management Report 
 
Responsible Officer: Rachel Robinson, Director of Health Wellbeing and Prevention 
 
Summary of Application 

 
Application Number: 25/00171/COU 

 
Parish: 

 
Highley  

 
Proposal: Change of use of building from C3 (dwelling house) to C2 (residential institution) 

 
Site Address: 8 Greendale Close Highley Bridgnorth Shropshire WV16 6EG 

 

Applicant: Mr Meka Madumere 
 

Case Officer: Jenny Powell  email: jennifer.powell@shropshire.gov.uk 

 
Grid Ref: 373771 - 283716 

 
© Crown Copy right. All rights reserv ed.  Shropshire Council AC0000808715. 2024  For ref erence purposes only . No f urther copies may  be made.  

 
Recommendation:-   Grant Permission subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1. 

REPORT 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

   
1.0 THE PROPOSAL 

 

1.1 

 
 

 
 

The proposed development is for the change of use of one single storey 3 bedroom 

detached dwellinghouse (Class C3) into a single residential care home for up to 2 
no. children (Class C2) at 8 Greendale Close, Highley.  This application has been 

made by Mr Meka Madumere, who is a director of both Living Life Care Ltd who will 
operate the care home and Turnstone Residential which owns it.   
 

1.2 
 

 
 
 

 
1.3 
 

 
 

 
 
 

1.4 
 

 
 
 

 
1.5 

The proposal is to change the use of the existing dwelling into a care home. No 
operational development has been proposed. The existing dwelling is single storey 

and two children’s bedrooms would be provided alongside a staff bedroom, which 
would also act as a manager’s office during weekdays when the manager is 
present on site. 

 
The business would employ three full time equivalent staff members alongside the 
two juvenile residents.  The duties of two of the FTE employees would be 

undertaken in three teams of two working part-time shifts of 48 hours each (with a 2 
days on and 4 days off pattern). A manager (one FTE member of staff) would be 

present on site most weekdays from 8am until 4pm. Occasional pre-organised 
visits from outside agencies, family etc would also take place. 
 

The property has parking for 4 no. cars, with one proposed to be accommodated in 
the existing garage and three parked in tandem on the existing driveway. A pool car 

belonging to the business will be available for use by staff for the residents’ needs, 
whilst staff parking would be provided for three staff (two carers and one manager) 
working on site at any given time. 

 
Shift changeovers, the daily arrival and departure of the manager and occasional 

pre-organised visits by external agencies would result in a relatively small number 
of traffic movements occurring regularly across the week.  Alongside this, the on-
site pool car would also make regular trips to and from the premises.  No additional 

parking beyond the four existing parking spaces would be provided on site. 
  
2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION 

 

2.1 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
2.2 

8 Greendale Close is a detached 1970s brick and concrete-tiled bungalow situated 

on the southern side of a residential cul-de-sac to the western side of Highley.  The 
cul-de-sac, which rises in elevation from west to east, sits within a larger residential 

estate of homes largely constructed in the 1970s and 80s. The application site is in 
a sustainable location and a short distance to the northwest is Highley Primary 
School, where younger residents would attend school, whilst other local amenities 

including a medical centre, shops and outdoor swimming pool are a short walk 
away.   

 

Page 20



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

2.3 

Forming a boundary with the application site are (to its west) the rear gardens of 39 

and 41 Redstone Drive (both two-storey redbrick, detached dwellings) which are 
separated from the application site by a close boarded timber fence and mature 
deciduous trees. Behind the application site’s rear garden, to its south, is the large 

side/rear garden amenity of 61 Redstone Drive (a single storey detached dwelling) 
which is also screened by mature trees. To its east is 7 Greendale Close which sits 

on the same building line as number 8 and is a single storey detached dwelling 
facing north into the cul-de-sac towards the front elevation of 1 Greendale Close. A 
line of mature shrubs separates the two dwellings.  

 
8 Greendale Close is positioned directly opposite the rear garden and side 

elevation of 37 Redstone Drive, a link detached two storey red brick dwelling, 
whose rear garden amenity is enclosed by a close boarded timber and concrete 
fence. The only window facing the application site is an upper storey window on the 

southern gable of 37 Redstone Drive.  The ground floor windows of the application 
site and those of 1 Greendale Close uphill to the northeast may also provide some 
oblique intervisibility, however these windows are c.30m apart. 

  
2.4 Part of the application site is covered by a historic group Tree Preservation Order 

(The Salop County Council (Highley) TPO 1973 (Ref: BR/TPO/15), on its eastern 
boundary. This is not determinative to the proposed change of use of the existing 
dwelling, and in any case most of the trees with this group have been taken down, 

probably as part of planning or TPO applications, though the Order itself has not 
been modified or revoked. 

  
3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION  

 

3.1 The Parish Council objects to this application and the Local Ward Member has 
called it in to be discussed at the Southern Planning Committee. The application 

was duly discussed between the Interim Planning and Development Services 
Manager and the Chair on 5th February 2024 where it was resolved to present this 
application to Planning Committee. 

  
4.0 Community Representations 

  
4.1 Consultee Comments 

 

4.1.1 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

SC Developing Highways – 6th February 2025 

The proposed development seeks change of use from residential dwelling to a care 

home for up to two children. The property is located in a short residential cul-de-
sac. The traffic movements associated with this type of development are 
anticipated to be slightly greater than a residential dwelling. From a highways and 

transport perspective the main consideration is the level of off-street parking and 
suitability of the parking arrangements.  

 

Page 21



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

4.1.2 

While the existing parking arrangements may be accepted for a residential 

dwelling, it is considered that the layout would be unworkable for a care home with 
vehicles blocking each other in. The creation of a parking court across the whole 
site frontage may be more appropriate and would require an extended dropped 

kerb crossing; full engineering details of the new section of access driveway should 
be provided.  The proposed site parking layout should be detailed on an annotated 

dimensioned scale drawing at an appropriate scale to demonstrate the number of 
parking spaces that can be accommodated on the site, and each parking space 
should measure 2.5 x 5 metres. The internal dimensions of the garage have not 

been provided and it is questioned whether it could be considered for use on daily 
basis. It is also not clear if a ‘pool vehicle’ will be required/available on site.  

In addition, further details of staffing are required, to include admin staff, gardeners, 
cleaning staff etc... All daily traffic movements should be included. 
 
SC Regulatory Services – 29th January 2025 

 The nature of care homes can vary significantly depending on the specific 
circumstances of each individual resident. Environmental Protection has dealt with 

complaints where care homes have had an impact on the amenity of surrounding 
residential properties. Therefore, it is essential that suitable management measures 

are implemented to ensure that potential noise impacts are considered when 
placing clients into the care setting and in the management practices within the 
home. Given the proximity of neighbouring residents the company should have 

regard to those neighbours when determining suitable residents. I note the 
'neighbour policy' in the application which acknowledges the need for neighbourly 

awareness, such a plan ought to control of shift change over times and staff 
conduct, assessment of care needs and the potential for these needs to impact on 
surrounding properties prior to placing clients within the care setting and general 

noise management procedures including a complaints procedure. 
  
4.2 
 

4.2.1 

Public Comments 
 
Highley Parish Council – 5th February 2025 – Objection 

We are objecting due to the inaccurate and inconsistent information submitted on 
this application. Examples of which are as follows: 

- Number of children in business plan and statement of purpose is different. 
- The statement relates to different property "Elysium Lodge" which is based in 

Telford. 

- The documentation references local council to be Telford and Wrekin and not 
Shropshire. 

- States the property is currently NOT vacant and it is - and has been for some 
time. 

- The application states that no administration facility will be based at site 

although a manager’s office is on the plans. 
- The shift patterns show at least three changeovers plus additional specialist 

welfare staff, yet a further document states 2 days on and 4 days off rotas in 
contradiction to this. 

Page 22



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

- This could lead to a minimum of six cars at any one time up to a possible ten 

vehicles with only 3 car parking (the garage area is not functional due to an 
internal wall) 

- This will lead to on-street parking causing issues in the narrow section of the 

cul-de-sac affecting other residents having refuge collections or oil deliveries (9 
properties local have oil) 

- Further inaccuracies state a dentist/taxi service within the village which is not 
the case 

- Safeguarding issues surround the needs of the children - claiming they will not 

house children with complex needs yet, the business plan states otherwise 
 

4.2.2 

 

32 public representations were received, with 31 objecting and 1 in support.   
 
Objection comments 

The main concerns of the objectors focussed on the following themes: 

 Suitability of Location: Many contributors expressed concerns about the 

suitability of the location for a children's home, citing the quiet nature of the 
cul-de-sac and the lack of facilities to occupy the children's time. 

 Privacy and Noise: There were significant privacy concerns due to the 

increased activity and noise levels that a children's home would bring to the 
neighbourhood. 

 Safety: Safety concerns were raised regarding the proximity of the proposed 
children's home to a primary school and the potential for increased 

emergency services presence. 

 Parking and Traffic: Numerous objections highlighted the inadequate parking 
facilities and the potential for increased traffic and vehicle movements, which 

could disrupt the neighbourhood and pose safety risks. There was additional 
concern expressed by one objector that the 125 bus service would cease on 

31st March 2025. 

 Community Consultation: Several contributors felt that there had been a lack 
of community consultation regarding the proposal, leaving residents feeling 

sidelined. 

 Restrictive covenant: Many contributors referred to the existence of a 

restrictive covenant on the development site. 

 Inaccuracies in submitted documents: Numerous objections referred to 

inaccuracies and inconsistencies in the submitted documents. 
  
 Supporting comments 

A single supporting comment expressed the view that there appeared to be no 
problem with the proposal. 

 
 The public comments referred to above have been summarised for the purposes of 

this report using AI.  AI can be used to support our work and to create content by 

bringing together or summarising responses to consultation. The report writer 
remains responsible for ensuring that the content of the report is factually accurate 

Page 23



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

and that the use of AI is responsible and lawful.” All original documents remain 

unaltered on the planning register should you wish to view them in full. 
  
5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES 

 

 Principle of development 

Scale and design 
Residential amenity 
Highway safety 

 
6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL 

  
6.1 Principle of development 

6.1.1 

 
 
 

 
6.1.2 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
6.1.3 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
6.1.4 

 
 

The adopted development plan for Shropshire is the Local Development 

Framework (LDF) Core Strategy and the Site Allocations and Management of 
Development (SAMDev) Plan. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is 
a material consideration for decision making. 

 
The proposal is for a new C2 use in Highley that will provide a residential care 

home for children with behavioural, emotional and social difficulties as well as 
placement breakdowns, and which would also employ staff. It would be sited within 
the development boundary of the village with easy access to the existing transport 

network and local services. Highley is a Key Centre, and Policy CS3 recognises 
that settlements such as these provide facilities and services that support the rural 

hinterland and are foci for economic development and regeneration. Balanced 
housing and employment development of an appropriate scale and respecting local 
character is also expected to take place within such centres. Whilst some concern 

has been expressed that the existing residential area is not an appropriate location 
for a children’s care home, Core Strategy policy CS11 supports the provision of 

housing for vulnerable people, as well as specialist housing including residential 
and extra care facilities in Key Centres settlements, and the location is therefore 
considered to be appropriate. 

 
The dwelling already benefits from a Certificate of Lawful Proposed Use or 

Development granted in December 2024 (ref. 24/04746/CPL) confirming that its 
use as dwellinghouse in C3b use (as a single household of not more than 6 
residents where care is provided) would be lawful. Whilst a material change of use 

would occur in granting permission for the change from C3 (dwellinghouse) to C2 
(residential institution) use, the numbers of children and staff proposed to be 

residing within the home at any given time (five individuals) would be no more than 
would currently be lawful under C3b (six individuals), and a restriction on the 
number of children resident within the home could be conditioned accordingly.   

 
It is acknowledged that the proposal would result in the loss of one residential 

dwelling in C3 use, however this must be balanced against the fact that the 
proposal would contribute to meeting national and local planning policies to support 

Page 24



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

 

 
 
 

6.1.5 
 

 
 
 

 
 

6.2 
6.2.1 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
6.2.2 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
6.2.3 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
6.3 

6.3.1 
 

 
6.3.2 

the delivery of specialist supported housing in line with CS11 and Paragraph 63 of 

the NPPF. As such the principle of a care facility in this location would comply with 
policy and is appropriate sustainable development in this location. 
 

Some representations have raised concerns regarding the matter of an existing 
restrictive covenant on the 8 Greendale Close.  Covenants are outside the remit of 

planning and are a matter for the applicant to take up with a solicitor. The existence 
of a legal covenant would not form a material planning consideration in the 
determination of the application, which must solely be considered on its planning 

merits.  
 
Scale and design 

The NPPF is clear at Paragraph 131 that “Good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps 

make development acceptable to communities”. Policies CS6 (Sustainable Design 
and Development Principles) and MD2 (Managing Sustainable Development), set 
out local considerations for design including taking account of the local character 

and context, and this extends to the health and wellbeing of communities including 
safeguarding residential and local amenity. 

 
The scale and design of the proposed care home will remain as existing as the 
proposal is solely for a change of use with no associated operational development. 

There is existing parking provision on site is for up to four vehicles, albeit the space 
available within the existing garage is limited (yet would accommodate a small 

hatchback car).  It is questionable whether the garage would be used in practice, 
and given the proposal requires parking for a pool car belonging to the care home 
alongside three further staff cars (to be parked in tandem on the existing driveway) 

there is some concern that parking could overflow onto the cul-de-sac, negatively 
impacting the existing streetscene and local amenity. 

 
The details for the C2 use proposed indicate that staff changeovers, comings and 
goings would take place for short relatively brief periods of time on occasions 

throughout the week.  This would not be significantly different to the situation of any 
family home where several cars were parked in tandem on a driveway and the 

occupants came and went as part of their daily lives. The design of the existing 
internal arrangement is considered adequate for the type and level of care being 
proposed and there is ample private garden amenity space for the 2 children 

resident. Officers therefore consider the development accords with local and 
national policy in terms of scale and design, albeit the current parking 

arrangements could be improved upon. 
 
Residential Amenity 

Policy CS6 of the Core Strategy and Policy MD2 of SAMDev indicates that 
development should safeguard residential and local amenity. 

 

Page 25



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
6.3.4 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
6.3.5 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
6.3.6 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
6.3.7 

 
 

 
 

The proposed use of a single dwelling as the main residence for 2 children (as 

stated on the application form)  shares many similarities to the workings of the 
existing family dwellings adjacent to the site. The premises will be home to 2 
children between the ages of 7 and 17 supported by 3 FTE staff members. The 

duties of two of the FTE employees would be undertaken in three teams of two 
(one senior and one support worker) organised into three shift patterns with 

employees working ‘two days on/ four days off’. Senior staff shift changeovers 
would take place between 7.30-8.00am every other day throughout the week with 
support staff handovers taking place between 10-10.30am on these days. Each 

support worker would spend a minimum of 48 hours on shift, including sleep-in 
arrangements. A manager (making up1 FTE member of staff) would be present on 

site most weekdays from 8am until 4pm (except when working from home or at 
meetings elsewhere) and would also be on call at weekends. 
 

It is intended that the daily operation of the home will be largely undiscernible to 
that of an average sized dwelling house with the young people coming and going 
for education purposes and the adults coming and going for work purposes and 

thus, will not prejudice or undermine the existing surrounding uses. The applicant 
has submitted a good neighbour policy document to support the application in 

addition to a statement of purpose, information on shift patterns and a location risk 
assessment. 
 

All public representations submitted with this application have been assessed and 
the concerns have been noted regarding inconsistencies in the submitted 

documents particularly with regard to the name of the proposed premises (Elysian 
Lodge vs Greendale Lodge) and the name of the business operating the care 
home). It is important to state that the premises will be a new care home that   

has not yet been registered with Ofsted, and they would be responsible for 
addressing these matters.  Significantly the children that will be placed in the 

proposed care home will first need to be assessed by Shropshire Council 
Children’s Social Services.  
 

The comments of the Regulatory Services Officer have also been noted but the 
significant issue is that the dwelling is not yet being used as a care home and 

officers cannot prejudge the conduct of its occupants. If there were future issues of 
noise and anti-social behaviour arising from the occupants, then these matters 
would be dealt with by Regulatory Services as would be the case for the occupants 

of any other residential dwelling or any care home. Likewise, if there was any future 
cause for members of the emergency services to attend the premises then this 

would be a matter for those agencies at that time and is not a determinative 
consideration in this case. 
 

Therefore, in relation to this application, it is the proposed use of the dwelling that is 
under consideration, not its occupants, and although concerns have been raised 

about the suitability of the site and close proximity of neighbours, the selection of 
the residents has not yet been undertaken. Potential concerns about future noise 

Page 26



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
6.3.8 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
6.4 

6.4.1 
 

 
 
 

 
 

6.4.2 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
6.4.3 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
6.4.4 

disturbance arising as a consequence of the change of use to an operational care 

home for children must be taken in context, given that adjacent properties could 
equally be sold as off as ordinary family homes and occupied by residents who 
could also have children, without there being any requirement for consideration of 

who the occupants would be by external bodies. 
 

Having regard to all the issues raised above including the detailed objections raised 
by the neighbours and given that the proposed children’s background is not 
considered is unlikely to raise amenity issues discernible from any children living as 

part of a household (especially as the professional carers would seek to minimise 
any disturbance as outlined in the risk assessment and good neighbour policy), it is 

considered that the proposal is unlikely to negatively impact the surrounding 
neighbours’ amenities, and were issues to be raised in the future, these would be 
appropriately managed by the applicant. As the impacts have been assessed 

based on the levels of occupation proposed, it is considered appropriate to limit the 
consent to 2no. children maximum. 
 
Highway safety 

Policy CS7 deals with Communications and Transport, and states sustainable 

development requires the maintenance and improvement of integrated, accessible, 
attractive, safe and reliable communication and transport infrastructure and 
services, whilst policy CS6 requires all development proposals to be designed to be 

adaptable, safe and accessible to all, and to include appropriate car parking 
provision.  

 
The comments of the Highway Authority are noted, and whilst they do not expressly 
object to the application, they confirm the existing parking arrangements would be 

acceptable for a domestic dwelling but question the practicality of the tandem 
parking arrangements for the proposed C2 use. Scaled drawings already provided 

by the applicant show that each tandem parking space meets the 2.5m x 5m 
dimension required by the Highways Authority, and the existing garage, whilst 
small, is of a sufficient size to accommodate a small modern hatchback car, 

although it is conceivable the garage may not be used in this way in practice.  
 

Therefore, whilst parking for four vehicles can be accommodated on site, this layout 
would not be optimal for the business use proposed, and the reliance on excessive 
tandem parking would potentially result in excessive rearranging of vehicles during 

periods of shift changeover and when accessing the care home’s pool car. The 
matter of parking arrangements is not considered insurmountable in the 

determination of the application, however. The front garden amenity of the dwelling 
is sufficient in area to accommodate two parking spaces, and an appropriate 
revised parking layout could be secured by condition prior to the occupation of the 

premises to alleviate the current reliance on excessive tandem parking or indeed 
could be implemented as permitted development prior to the C2 use commencing. 

 

Page 27



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
6.4.5 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
6.4.6 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

6.4.7 

The level of traffic associated with the development is unlikely to differ significantly 

from that of an existing residential dwelling as the comings and goings of staff and 
of visitors.  For example, a similar dwelling of this size occupied by a family of four 
with young adult drivers still living at home alongside their parents might 

conceivably have three or more cars parked on site at any given time (all as part of 
a normal C3 use) and its occupants would similarly have to move cars in order to 

access their respective vehicles. 
 
The Highways Officer’s comment regarding whether any additional occasional 

members (i.e., gardeners or cleaners) may be employed at the proposed care 
home is noted but is not considered essential to the consideration of the change of 

use as these would constitute visitors to the home. Shift changes for permanent 
staff are proposed to take place at appropriate times across the week and subject 
to revisions being made to the on-site parking provision, would cause limited 

disruption to the existing highway network and to neighbour amenity. 
 
It is noted that the 125-bus route between Stourbridge and Bridgnorth runs six days 

a week and stops in Highley at hourly intervals between 6.53am and 6.28pm and 
would be available for use by the residents and staff attending the proposed 

premises alike, although this service is understood to be out to tender at the 
present time by Shropshire Council, as the current operator intends to cease the 
route from 31st March 2025.  In spite of this uncertainty, he proposed care home 

would be situated in a sustainable, Key Centre location that is intended to facilitate 
local economic development in line with Policy CS3, and it would not be 

unreasonable to anticipate that some staff members may potentially be existing 
residents of Highley who could travel to the premises on foot, or by bus if from 
further afield subject to the service being maintained.  

 
Accordingly, the development would not have a significant detrimental impact upon 

the surrounding occupiers or highways safety and is deemed to comply with local 
and national policy in this regard, subject to a condition being imposed to revise the 
existing parking arrangements prior to the care home’s occupation. 

  
7.0 CONCLUSION 

7.1 
 
 

 
 

 
 
7.2 

 
 

 
 

The change of use from a C3 dwellinghouse to a C2 children’s care home for two 
residents with two FTE live-in carers working on a rota basis alongside a manager 
would meet national and local planning policies by supporting the delivery of 

specialist supported housing. Taking in account the size of the detached dwelling, 
the size of its curtilage and the context of the site, it is an appropriate location for 

the purpose proposed.  
 
Subject to revisions to parking arrangements, the small scale of the children’s care 

home would not give rise to a level of activity nor an increase in vehicle movements 
which would have a significant detrimental impact upon the surrounding occupiers’ 

amenity or on highways safety. Having considered the objectors’ comments and 
the history of the site, along with the information submitted by the applicant, the 

Page 28



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

 

 
 
 

7.3 
 

 
 
 

proposal is considered to be acceptable and therefore on balance, the proposal can 

be recommended for approval.   
 
Suggested conditions will seek to restrict the numbers of residents aged between 

7-17 within the home at any given time to two and limit the use for no other purpose 
including any other purpose in Class C2, as well as requiring a revised car parking 

layout to be submitted and installed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority.  

  
8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal 

  
8.1 Risk Management 
  

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows: 
 

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they disagree 

with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be awarded 
irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. written representations, 

hearing or inquiry. 

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. The 

courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of 
policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural justice. 
However their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, rather 

than to make a decision on the planning issues themselves, although they will 
interfere where the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. 

Therefore they are concerned with the legality of the decision, not its planning 
merits. A challenge by way of Judicial Review must be made a) promptly and b) 
in any event not later than six weeks after the grounds to make the claim first 

arose. 
 

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 
non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded. 
 

  

8.2 Human Rights 

  
Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol Article 

1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be balanced 
against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of the County 

in the interests of the Community. 
 
First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 

against the impact on residents. 
 

Page 29



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 

recommendation. 
  
8.3 Equalities 

  
The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 

public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 
number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in Planning Committee 
members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

  

9.0 Financial Implications 

  
There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of 
conditions is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 

defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent on the 
scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of 
being taken into account when determining this planning application – insofar as 

they are material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for 
the decision maker. 

 
10.   Background  
 

Relevant Planning Policies 
  

Central Government Guidance: NPPF 
 
Core Strategy and Saved Policies: 

CS1 - Strategic Approach 
CS3 - The Market Towns and Other Key Centres 

CS6 - Sustainable Design and Development Principles 
CS7 - Communications and Transport 
CS8 - Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Provision 

CS11 - Type and Affordability of housing 
CS13 - Economic Development, Enterprise and Employment 

MD2 - Sustainable Design 
MD3 - Managing Housing Development 
MD4 - Managing Employment Development 

Settlement: S9: Highley 
SPD Type and Affordability of Housing 

 
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:  

 
24/04746/CPL Certificate of lawfulness for proposed change of use from dwelling house (Use 

Class C3) to supported living dwelling (Use Class C3b) LA 19th December 2024 
 

Page 30



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

 

11.       Additional Information 
 
View details online: http://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=SQ8Y7GTDMVN00  
 

 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information) 
 

 

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  - Councillor Chris Schofield 
 

 

Local Member   
 
 Cllr Mark Williams 

Appendices 
APPENDIX 1 - Conditions 
 

Page 31



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 - 25th February 2025 8 Greendale Close 

        

 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Conditions 
 
STANDARD CONDITION(S) 

 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
Reason: To comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 (As 

amended). 
 

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans, 
drawings and documents as listed in Schedule 1 below. 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans and details. 
 
CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL PRIOR TO THE OCCUPATION OF THE 

DEVELOPMENT 

 

3. Notwithstanding the parking details contained within the block plan of the approved 
scheme, no occupation of the dwelling as a care home shall take place until a revised 
car parking layout demonstrating a minimum of 4 no. parking spaces shall be provided 

to and approved in writing by the LPA, installed as per the approved document prior to 
occupation and retained in perpetuity. 

Reason: In the interests of highways safety and the amenities of the area. 
 
CONDITION(S) THAT ARE RELEVANT FOR THE LIFETIME OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

 
4. The premises shall be used as a children’s care home and restricted to the care of a 

maximum of 2 young people aged 7-17 inclusive at any one time and for no other 
purpose including any other purpose in Class C2 of the Schedule to the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class 

in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification. 

Reason: In order to restrict the use of the premises in the interest of the amenities of the 
area. 

 
Schedule 1 - Approved plans, drawings, documents 
 

Description Reference Date Received 

Location Plan 000.001 20.01.2025 

Block Plan 010.000 04.02.2025 

Mixed/Combined Plans 130.000 20.01.2025 

Floor Plan - Proposed 120.000 20.01.2025 

 

Page 32



 

 

          AGENDA ITEM 

 
 

 Committee and date       

 
Southern Planning Committee  

 
25th February 2025 

 
 
Development Management Report 
 
Responsible Officer: Rachel Robinson, Director of Health Wellbeing and Prevention 
 
Summary of Application 

 
Application Number: 24/03660/REM 

 
Parish: 

 

Buildwas  
 

Proposal: Application for the approval of reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, 

layout and scale) for Phase 2A residential development pursuant to outline planning 
permission 19/05560/OUT. 
Site Address: Development Land At Site Of Ironbridge Power Station Buildwas Road 

Ironbridge Telford Shropshire 
 

Applicant: Taylor Wimpey North Midlands 
 

Case Officer: Louise Evans  email: Louise.m.evans@shropshire.gov.uk 

 
Grid Ref: 365460 - 303820 

 

  
 
© Crown Copy right. All rights reserv ed.  Shropshire Council AC0000808715. 2024  For ref erence purposes only . No f urther copies may  be made.  

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

Recommendation:-  Grant Permission subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1 with 

delegation to officers to amend the conditions in light of revised plans being received to 
overcome consultee concerns.  

 
REPORT 

 
  1.0 THE PROPOSAL 

 

1.1 The outline scheme to which this reserved matters application relates is   
19/05560/OUT which permitted up to 1000 dwellings, a retirement village, 

employment development, a new school, playing fields, a local centre and retail 
development together with associated infrastructure at the former Ironbridge Power 
Station on Buildwas Road, Ironbridge. The development is intended to be carried out 

over seven phases and this application seeks to secure the detailed proposals 
relating to the second residential phase of development known as Phase 2A. 
 

1.2 The scheme for approval seeks permission for 202 dwellings. This includes 11   
affordable dwellings which is consistent with the 5% affordable housing requirement 

set through the S106 Agreement attached to the outline permission.  
 

  1.3   The housing mix is made up as follows: 

 

Bedrooms Affordable Open Market Total 

1 2 0 2 

2 6 9 15 

3 3 82 85 

4 0 100 100 

Total 11 191 202 

 
1.4 The housing mix provides a range of house sizes to meet local market demand, with 

a higher concentration of 3 and 4 bed dwellings.  
 

1.5 The proposed dwellings range from 1-bedroom maisonettes to 4-bedroom family 
houses and are between 2 and 3 storeys in height.  
  

1.6 Facing materials are proposed to be made up of three types of brick, a light red brick 
with a pink hue to reflect the former cooling towers of the Ironbridge Power Station, 

a traditional red brick and a darker red brick with a charcoal effect. White render will 
be used infrequently to terminate views and mark key corners within the site. Blue 
engineering brick will also be used for detailing to add further interest to the 

streetscape. The roof tiles will be a mix of red and grey in colour.  
 

Page 34



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

1.7 Boundary treatments are to be formed by timber fencing for rear gardens, brick 
walling for rear gardens that face public spaces and natural hedging. Timber knee 
rail has also been proposed to delineate public and private realm.  

 
1.8 Dwellings have been designed with a fabric first approach for energy efficiency with 

the inclusion of high levels of insulation and triple glazing. Each property will have an 
air source heat pump to provide heating and hot water as well as electrical vehicle 
charging facilities.  

 
1.9 The proposed parking provision is 2 spaces for 2 and 3 bed properties and 3 spaces 

(including 3.3m wide garages as spaces) for 4 bed properties. The proposed 
development provides 25 dedicated visitor parking spaces that are evenly spaced 
around the development with there being scope for parking to be provided on street 

where necessary. All dwellings are provided with a bike shed as well as space for 
external refuse and recycling storage.  
 

1.10 The proposals include a multi-functional public open space area that will also serve 
as a surface water drainage attenuation basin with biodiversity enhancement through 

landscape planting. There is also a local equipped area of play (LEAP) provided 
centrally within the development.   
 

1.11 The development has a single point of access located at the south of the western 
boundary. Within the development, a hierarchy of streets and pedestrian links are 

proposed.  
  

1.12 The scheme has been through a redesign since the validation of the current 

application in order to overcome concerns raised by consultees regarding 
connectivity, safety and providing sufficient space for appropriate landscaping.  

 
2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION 

 

2.1 
 

 
 
 

2.2 
 

 
 
 

 
 

2.3 

Phase 2a, is the location of the four former cooling towers for Ironbridge Power 
Station, which have since been demolished. It is a long, narrow site at the 

easternmost edge of the redevelopment scheme. The site measures 6.48 hectares 
in total and falls gradually from west to east. 
 

In addition to the woodland edge to the south and east, a line of trees borders the 
northern edge of the site, with the railway line associated with the power station  

further to the north. Along the western boundary will be the newly constructed access 
road which connects this parcel with other phases of the wider redevelopment. 
Beyond this road is the existing electricity substation, which is enclosed within an 

industrial building that is prominent due to its height and scale.  
 

Adjoining to the east of the site is the Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site and 
Conservation Area. To the south and east is the Tick Wood and Benthall Edge SSSI, 

Page 35



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

a woodland that is notable for its diverse plant species which reflect the variation in 
the underlying geology.  

  
3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE/DELEGATED DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION  

 

3.1 This is a major application, which, in the view of the Planning Services Manager in 
consultation with the Chairman, should be determined by the relevant planning 
committee. 

  
4.0 Community Representations 

  
4.1 Consultee Comment 

 

4.1.1 Historic England (Midlands) 
Reply Received: 10th October 2024 
Summary: No advice offered; suggested seeking views of specialist conservation 

and archaeological advisers.  
 

4.1.2 SC Ecologist 
Reply Received: 28th October 2024 and 21st January 2025 
Summary: Noted that the outline consent requires the submission of ecological 

information prior to commencement of development which is yet to be agreed. 
 

4.1.3 SUDS 
Reply Received: 14th October 2024 and 20th January 2025 
Summary: This application does not include any detail relating to surface water or 

foul water drainage therefore it is assumed this will be presented subsequently. 
Comments provided on the detail to be included in subsequent applications.  

 
4.1.4 SC Affordable Houses 

Reply Received: 29th October 2024 

Summary: There is a requirement for an additional affordable dwelling (11 in total). 
Floor areas (sq. metres) of the affordable dwellings are required (these should meet 

Nationally Described Space Standards) together with an identification of tenure on a 
plot by plot basis. The affordable dwellings should be split to provide two clusters. 
The affordable dwellings should not be accessed off an un-adopted highway. 

(Comments submitted prior to scheme redesign that now provides the correct 
amount of affordable housing.) 

 
4.1.5 SC Archaeology (Historic Environment) 

Reply Received: 21st October 2024 and 15th January 2025 

Summary: No comments on archaeological matters. 
 

4.1.6 Environment Agency (Midlands Region) 
Reply Received: 31st October 2024 

Page 36



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

Summary: Flood Risk - There are no fluvial flood risk issues associated with this 
phase. Land contamination - The contaminated land condition previously 
recommended still stands for this phase. 

 
4.1.7 SC Conservation (Historic Environment) 

Reply Received: 15th October 2024 and 29th January 2025 
Summary: No heritage-based issues raised; conditions regarding materials and 
finishes suggested. 

 
4.1.8 SC Trees 

Reply Received: 24th October 2024 and 20th January 2025 
Summary: Advice on the need to provide proprietary root deflecting barriers across a 
number of areas of the scheme and suggested that details of this need to be 

submitted and agreed along with other planning and maintenance specifications.  
Overall, the tree species palette within the submitted planting schedule is supported. 
Noted that the layout of the main estate road and central open space have been 

redesigned, such that the open space now runs in a continuous band between the 
north and south site boundaries, without being bisected by the main estate road. This 

is considered a better design in terms of visual and pedestrian connectivity and is 
therefore supported from an arboricultural perspective. 

 

 
4.1.9 SC Waste Management 

Reply Received: 16th October 2024 and 20th January 2025 
Summary: Importance of adequate waste storage space and suitable highway 
specifications for waste collection vehicles highlighted.  

 
4.1.10 SC Highways DC 

Reply Received: 19th December 2024 and 29th January 2025 
Summary: No objections; several amendments and further information requested. In 
particular, that the visitor parking space adjacent to Plot 13 should be relocated or 

removed as a parked vehicle will obstruct visibility for vehicles emerging potentially 
creating conflict with road users. The 2 metres footway should extend adjacent to 

Plot 26 and Plot 145. Noted that the parking space for Plot 156 does not appear to 
be the full length of a parking space. No visibility splays or junction radii have been 
provided for Cooling Lane and Tower Gate. Visitor parking space adjacent to Plot 

100 should be removed or relocated as a parked vehicle will obstruct forward 
visibility. The submitted Management Plan should align with the submitted General 

Arrangement Plan to ensure that visibility splays are not transferred to a third party. 
 
4.1.11 SC Rights Of Way 

Reply Received: 28th January 2025 
Summary: Satisfied that the development will not impact the surrounding Rights of 

Way network. 
 

Page 37



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

4.1.12 SC Regulatory Services 
Reply Received: 24th October 2024 and 22nd January 2025 
Summary: No comments provided. 

 
4.1.13 Active Travel England 

Reply Received: 25th October 2024 and 23rd January 2025 
Summary: No objections. Queried how on street parking may be controlled to avoid 
conflict with pedestrians utilising footways. Suggested that cycle storage is 

accessible externally from dwellings and includes a secure anchor to lock the bikes 
within the storage unit. 

 
4.1.14 Network Rail 

Reply Received: 9th October 2024 and 15th January 2025 

Summary: Interface with Network Rail required. Generic comments provided. 
 
4.1.15 SC Green Infrastructure Advisor - Steven Sixsmith 

Reply Received: 11th November 2024 and 16th January 2025 
Summary: Suggested that additional trees along Triton Way would link the proposed 

pockets of green space.  Highlighted a lack of information with regards to the play 
area and the central green space but noted that this could be addressed through the 
use of planning conditions. Noted areas where pedestrian desire lines have not been 

followed and queried public realm legibility in across a number of areas.   
 

  
4.2 Public Comments 

  

4.2.1 Buildwas Parish Council 
Reply Received: 9th December 2024 

Summary: Objections on grounds of:  

 The use of a single access point to serve a number of dwellings.  

 Concerns with the lack of visitor parking which will force visitors to park on 
the small in-roads, causing further unnecessary congestion.  

 Suggest that the design of these dwellings is significantly lacking innovation 

and that there is an apparent lack of design to meet the historical importance 
of such a site.  

 Suggested that rendering must include something to prevent a "rust" look 
which has appeared on other properties of a very similar design. 

 Concerns raised regarding the need to secure information on tree 
management proposals to ensure longevity.  

 Requested clarification for the responsibility for potential damage to the 

planned bollards.  
 

  
5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES 

 

Page 38



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

 The Design Code  
Access  
Layout  

Scale  
Appearance  

Landscaping 
 

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL 

  
6.1 The Design Code  

6.1.1 The outline scheme was approved subject to 69 conditions and a S106 agreement. 
Condition 5 required the submission and agreement of a design code and condition 
5b requires all subsequent applications to accord with the details of the code. The 

design code was submitted within application 22/04694/DIS which was approved on 
the 11th July 2023. 
 

6.1.2 
 

 
 
 

 
 

6.1.3 
 
 

 
6.1.4 

 
 
 

 

6.1.5 

 
 
6.1.6 

 
 

The approved design code provides a set of high-level design criteria that should be 
used to guide the delivery of development through reserved matters applications.  

The code is structured as a two-tier document, tier one being the strategic design 
code which sets guidelines that are relevant to the site as a whole, and tier 2 being 
a detailed design code that sets specific design instructions applicable to the releva nt 

phases of development. 
 

The application site falls within the ‘Tower Woods’ character area. This site is the 
location of the former cooling towers which gives the opportunity for distinctive design 
within this phase of the development.  

 
The vision for the development as set out within the design code is ‘to create an 

inclusive and sustainable community that truly integrates with its diverse historical 
roots; recognising the heritage and landscape surrounding the site and reflecting 
local character’. 

 
The scheme has been discussed at length with developer and this process has been 

assisted by Design:Midlands who have been able to offer independent advice and 
suggestions to the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Members will note from the remainder of this report that Shropshire Council Officers 
are now satisfied that the scheme meets with the objectives of the design code and 

is compliant with condition 5b attached to the outline consent. 
 

6.2 Access 

6.2.1 Access with regards to reserved matters deals with accessibility to and within the site 
including the positioning and treatment of accesses and circulation routes, as well as 

how these fit into the surrounding access network. 
 

Page 39



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

6.2.2 
 
 

 
 

 
6.2.3 
 

 
 

 
 
 

6.2.4 
 
 

 
 

 
6.2.5 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Reserved matters approval has been obtained for a single vehicular access point 
into the application site under reference 23/02809/REM. The current reserved 
matters application then shows a secondary street running almost the full length of 

the periphery of the site with minor access ways extending off the main vehicular 
route. A number of properties are also proposed to be served by private drives.  

 
The continuous loops of adopted highway throughout the development allows for 
ease of access for emergency, refuse and delivery vehicles and provides safe and 

efficient opportunities for pedestrians and cyclists. Overall, it is a very legible scheme 
with excellent edge to edge connectivity. Residents will also benefit from the 

footways approved via 23/02809/REM that will run continuously around the site.  
 
The concerns raised by Buildwas Parish Council regarding the site only being served 

by a single access point is noted however, this is not a matter for this current 
application. Application 23/02809/REM dealt with access for this phase and a single 
access point to serve around 200 dwellings is not unreasonable in highway safety 

terms. 
 

Outstanding concerns expressed by the Local Highway Authority regarding the 
location of two visitor parking spaces, visibility splays being detailed for private drives 
and the plans regarding footpath provision being aligned are acknowledged and the 

scheme will be updated to ensure that appropriate plans are received pre-
determination to cover these matters. These are relatively minor items that should 

not affect the ability of the committee in being able to come to a resolution on this 
scheme.    
  

6.3 Layout 
6.3.1 Layout deals with the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the 

development are provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to 
buildings and spaces outside the development. 

  

6.3.2 The layout of the scheme is well informed by the context in which it sits. The 
development positively addresses all green edges and areas of public open space, 

providing high levels of natural surveillance and a considered transition between 
green spaces and proposed homes. The use of back-to-back housing blocks also 
affords residents good levels of safety and privacy within their private garden areas 

and sufficient separation distances are proposed throughout with regards to directly 
facing habitable rooms within dwellings.  

  
6.3.3 The layout has also been designed to reflect the historic significance of the site, 

particularly the location of the four former cooling towers of the former Ironbridge 

Power Station. Although the visual prominence and sheer scale of the towers cannot 
be replicated in height for a residential development such as this, their significance 

is reflected in the concept of the four 'fallen towers' which is created through a north-
south perimeter block pattern at the eastern edge of the site. This pattern includes a 

Page 40



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

wider and narrower end to the blocks which is a subtle nod to the shape and scale 
of the original cooling towers.  

  

6.3.4 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
6.3.5 

The proposed layout allows for a north-south green space centrally within the site 
that accommodates a local equipped area of play (LEAP) and provides the 

opportunity to draw woodland planting into the site and link existing natural green 
spaces. Full details of the LEAP have not been provided with the scheme and a 
condition to secure and agree this information has been suggested at the end of the 

report. Play design guidance suggests that the LEAP should be at least 400sq.m and 
sited so that it is at least 20 metres from habitable rooms within a dwelling. Given the 

proximity to proposed highways, it is also suggested that the area is fenced for safety. 
These will be key considerations within any future discharge application.   
 

Within the central green space public art pieces are also proposed and will be spaced 
120 meters apart to reflect the height of the former cooling towers. This being another 
reference to the historic use of the site. Final details of the public art have not been 

provided within the reserved matters submission but can be agreed post 
determination and a condition to secure this has been suggested at the end of this 

report.  
  
6.3.6 

 
 

 
 
6.3.7 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
6.3.8 

In addition to the central green area, a public area that accommodates a surface 

water attenuation pond is also proposed at the eastern edge of the site that will be 
landscaped so that is also has a biodiversity and amenity function. Two other pockets 

of green space are also proposed in the western half of the site.  
 
The comments from the Council’s Affordable Housing Officer have been noted. The 

scheme does now provide sufficient affordable housing to meet the section 106 
requirements (11 units). With regards to grouping, the scheme does suggest that the 

dwellings will be located in a single group. Whilst the Affordable Housing Officer has 
suggested additional clusters, it is recognised that this is a relatively small grouping 
of units and some registered social landlords prefer clustering their units for ease of 

long term maintenance and management. In this instance, this would not warrant a 
reasonable reason for refusal.  

 
Overall, a sensible and logical layout has been proposed that meets with the 
requirements of the design code.   

  
6.4 Scale  

6.4.1 Scale’ deals with the height, width and length of each building proposed within the 
development in relation to its surroundings. 

  

6.4.2 The scale of the dwellings is limited to three storeys within the approved design code 
and the development proposes a mix of 2, 2.5 and 3 storey dwellings. This mix helps 

to create a dynamic and interesting roofline across the development. 
  

Page 41



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

6.4.3 Along the northern edge of the development, the dwellings are up to 3 storeys high. 
This area is characterized by a distinctive roofscape of front-gabled houses clustered 
together. 

  
6.4.4 The internal streets feature a mix of 2 and 2.5 storey dwellings as does the southern 

edge of the development. This area has a semi-formal arrangement with slight 
variations in building line and heights, creating a lower density and a softer transition 
to the surrounding woodland. 

 
6.4.5 The north-south streets, known as the Tower Streets (Cooling Lane, Tower Gate, 

and Chimney Way), have a consistent gable-fronted rhythm with a mix of 2 and 2.5 
storey dwellings. These streets are designed to be distinctive from the rest of the 
development with a strong and consistent building pattern. At the northern edge of 

the perimeter blocks, Clarkes Point features strong terraces with a mix of 2 and 3 
storey dwellings. The central two blocks of Clarkes Point increase in scale to include 
taller 3 storey elements, creating a visually striking area.  

  
6.5 Appearance 

6.5.1 Appearance deals with the aspects of a building or place within the development 
which determine the visual impression the building or place makes, including the 
external built form of the development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, 

colour and texture. 
  

6.5.2  
 
 

The proposed development has a contemporary architectural style with 
predominantly front-gabled houses, larger window proportions finished in grey, and 
simple brick detailing with clean lines.  

 
6.5.3 The development uses a palette of materials that are distinct to the Tower Woods 

character area. This includes the prominent use of pale red bricks with a pink hue, 
reminiscent of the former cooling towers, and red roof tiles to reinforce local 
distinctiveness. 

 
6.5.4 The vision for the development requires the creation of a locally distinctive place. In 

this instance, the scheme places emphasis on the use of materials within standard 
house types along with the arrangement of dwellings to reinforce character. This 
being the case, the final material choices will be paramount to a successful scheme, 

and it is suggested that these are agreed by way of sample panels post determination 
of this reserved matters application. A condition has been recommended at the end 

of this report.  
 

6.5.5 Overall, the aesthetic of the scheme is a thoughtful integration of the site's history, 

industrial heritage, and natural landscape, creating a unique and meaningful living 
environment that is relevant to the site. Shropshire Council Officers disagree with 

Buildwas Parish Council that the scheme lacks innovation or design quality.  

Page 42



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

 
6.6 Landscaping 
6.6.1 Landscaping as a reserved matter deals with the treatment of land (other than 

buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or protecting the amenities of the site and 
the area in which it is situated. 

  
6.6.2 The development includes several areas of green infrastructure, such as the central 

area of green space and the eastern edge of the site. The central area is proposed 

to be used for play, while the eastern edge of the site will be a multifunctional space 
providing drainage, biodiversity, and a place to enjoy nature. The two pockets of 

green space located within the western half of the development are also key green 
spaces within the development, providing a sense of the existing mature landscaping 
'leaking into' the parcel. Comments from the Council’s Green Infrastructure Advisor 

regarding the suggestion of more in-street planting to better connect the internal 
green spaces is noted, however, it is recognised that there is limited space to provide 
this within the adopted street boundaries whilst also maintaining other highway safety 

and amenity requirements. 
  

6.6.3 The landscape strategy features the use of red trees and shrubs which helps to 
create a visual connection to the site's history, reinforcing the narrative of the 'fallen 
towers' and their significance. The use of red trees is also part of the broader design 

strategy to create distinct character areas within the development and they will 
provide a striking contrast against the greenery of the surrounding landscape.  

 
6.6.4 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
6.6.5 

 
 

 
 
 

 
6.6.6 

 
 

With regards to hard landscaping, the majority of the highways will be adopted by 
the Local Highway Authority and will be constructed of standard tarmac. The Design 

and Access Statement submitted with the original scheme suggested that the hard 
landscaping in the 'Tower Streets' area in the eastern half of the site would include 

red hues through block paving and red tarmacadam. This choice of materials and 
colours would help to create a cohesive and visually appealing environment that 
reflects the site's industrial heritage. However, this has not been detailed on plan 

within the re-designed scheme and as such a condition controlling the final details of 
the hard surfacing will need to form a condition of consent to ensure that this can be 

implemented.  
 
Comments from the Council’s Tree Officer have been taken into account. No 

objections to the proposals have been made but there has been a request for 
additional planting and maintenance specifications to be provided to ensure the 

proper establishment of the proposed trees and shrubs. Buildwas Parish Counci l 
have raised a similar concern. An appropriate condition has been suggested at the 
end of this report to ensure agreement of such details.   

 
Overall, the landscaping scheme will create a visually appealing and functional 

environment that respects the site's history and natural features while providing a 
pleasant living space for residents.  

Page 43



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

 
6.7 
6.7.1 

 
Other Matters  
The aim of reserved matters applications is to secure the outstanding details of the 

outline permission. The matters that may be reserved are limited to access, layout, 
scale, appearance and landscaping. Other details that are necessary to be agreed 

with the local planning authority before the development is either started or 
completed are dealt with by way of planning conditions attached to the outline 
consent. This would include matters such as detailed drainage schemes or detailed 

ecological mitigation which may only become known once a layout had been set. 
These matters are dealt with by way of discharge of conditions applications. 

  
  
7.0 CONCLUSION 

7.1 The vision for the development as set out within the design code ‘is to create an 
inclusive and sustainable community that truly integrates with its diverse historical  
roots; recognising the heritage and landscape surrounding the site and reflecting 

local character’. The proposed scheme has adequately achieved that whist also 
accommodating the requirements of modern building standards. 
 

7.2 Planning conditions are proposed for this reserved matters scheme to deal with 
certain aspects of the design and finishes. Subject to the use of these conditions, the 

scheme will result in a high quality and well considered development that accords 
with best practice, the requirements of the approved design code and adopted 

planning policy. 
 

8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal 

  
8.1 Risk Management 

  
There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows: 
 

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they disagree 
with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be awarded 

irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. written representations, 
hearing or inquiry. 

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. The 
courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of 
policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural justice. 

However their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, rather 
than to make a decision on the planning issues themselves, although they will 

interfere where the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. 
Therefore they are concerned with the legality of the decision, not its planning 
merits. A challenge by way of Judicial Review must be made a) promptly and b) 

in any event not later than six weeks after the grounds to make the claim first 
arose. 

Page 44



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

 
Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 

non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded. 
 

  
8.2 Human Rights 

  

Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family li fe and First Protocol Article 
1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be balanced 

against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of the County 
in the interests of the Community. 
 

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents. 
 

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation. 

  
8.3 Equalities 

  

The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 
public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 

number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in Planning Committee 
members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

  

9.0 Financial Implications 
  

There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of 
conditions is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 
defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent on the 

scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of 
being taken into account when determining this planning application – insofar as 

they are material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for 
the decision maker. 

 

10.   Background  
 

Relevant Planning Policies 
  
Central Government Guidance: 

National Planning Policy Framework 
National Planning Policy Guidance  

National Design Code 
Manual for Streets 1 and 2 

Page 45



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

 
Core Strategy and Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) Plan: 
CS6 : Sustainable Design and Development Principles 

CS8 : Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Provision 
CS11 : Type and Affordability of Housing 

CS17 : Environmental Networks 
CS18 : Sustainable Water Management 
MD2 – Sustainable Design  

MD8 – Infrastructure Provision  
MD12 – The Natural Environment  

MD13 – The Historic Environment 
 
Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Guidance (2023) Type and 

Affordability of Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2012) Shropshire Refuse and 
Recycling Advice for Developers 2022 Update 
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:  
 
19/05560/OUT Outline application (access for consideration comprising formation of two 

vehicular accesses off A4169 road) for the development of (up to) 1,000 dwellings; retirement 
village; employment land comprising classes B1(A), B1(C), B2 and B8; retail and other uses 

comprising classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, D1 and D2;  allotments, sports pitches, a railway link, 
leisure uses, primary/nursery school, a park and ride facility, walking and cycling routes, and 

associated landscaping, drainage and infrastructure works GRANT 16th September 2022 
22/03687/FUL Phase 2 Earthworks - enabling works to commence upon grant of outline 

planning permission for the wider redevelopment proposals GRANT 2nd November 2022 
22/04694/DIS Discharge of conditions 4 (phasing plan), 5 A/B (design code), 8 A (structural 

survey - pump house), 12 B/C (foul water strategy), 13 (flood risk assessment), 14A (surface 

water strategy), 14 B (urban creep modelling), 15 (SUDS management plan), 16 (external 
lighting), 17 (highway), 18 (CEMP), 22 (bridge access), 28 (S38 drawings), 31A (CHEMP), 32 
(tree survey), 35A (tree safeguarding), 36 (tree management plan), 39 A/B/C (ecological 

surveys), 40 (ecology), 41 (bat protection), 43 A (badger survey), 44 (bird nesting), 45 (reptile & 
amphibian mitigation strategy), 46 (wildlife connectivity strategy), 47 (habitat statement), 48 

(external lighting), 49 A (habitat plan), 51 (BNG plan), 52 (biodiversity strategy), 53A 
(contamination), 53 B/E (remediation strategy), 52 C/D (verification report), 55 (noise strategy), 
57 (earthworks strategy), 58 (PFA removal strategy), 59 (pavilion proposals), 60 (landscape 

plan), 61 (LEAP/NEAP proposals), 21 (off-site works drawings), 25 (S278 MWR drawings), 29 
EV strategy), 19A (S278 MWR construction access drawings), 26 (southern MWR roundabout 

drawings) and 27 Southern Castlefields Way roundabout drawings) on planning permission 
19/05560/OUT DISPAR 11th July 2023 
23/02809/REM Approval of reserved matters pursuant to 19/05560/OUT for Phase 2 enabling 

and infrastructure works GRANT 6th June 2024 
 

 
11.       Additional Information 

Page 46



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

 
View details online: http://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=SKA28KTDKJK00  
 
 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 

containing exempt or confidential information) 
 
 

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  - Councillor Chris Schofield 
 
 

Local Member   

 
 Cllr Claire Wild 

Appendices 

APPENDIX 1 - Conditions 
 

Page 47



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

Conditions 

 
 

1. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans, 
drawings and documents as listed in Schedule 1 below. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans and details. 
 

 2. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect or vary the conditions imposed on 
Outline Planning Permission Ref: 19/05560/OUT which shall remain in full force.  
Reason: The conditions attached to the Outline Approval are still valid. 

 
 3. Prior to any above ground works commencing, a sample panel or panels of the materials to 
be used in the construction of the external surfaces must be prepared on site for inspection and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. The sample panel shall be at least 1 metre x 
1 metre and show the proposed materials, bonds, pointing technique and full palette of 

materials including roofing, fenestration and any cladding to be used in the development 
including the guttering, facias, soffits and dry verge capping. The panel or panels must also 
demonstrate the depth of the recess between the fenestration and the outer face of the 

dwellings. The development shall be constructed in accordance with the approved 
sample/samples, which shall not be removed from the site until completion of the development. 

Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory. 
 
 4. Prior to any above ground works commencing, a scheme must be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority to confirm the level of projection/recess 
between the brick detailing where blocks of contrasting coloured bricks are used on the 

elevations of the dwellings hereby permitted along with any other measures used to provide 
contrast between the brick detailing such as the colour of the mortar or the pattern/brick bond 
to be used. Development must be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory. 
 

 5. Prior to the above ground works commencing, details of all hard surfacing, including the 
proposed edging features, must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 

details and all public footpaths detailed on the approved plans must be finished with a bound 
surface material prior to occupation of the 190th dwelling hereby approved.   

Reason: To ensure establishment of accessible routes prior to the completion of the  
development.  
 

6. Prior to the above ground works commencing, full details of the decorative bollards to be 
located along the ‘towers streets’, including their size, design, materials and siting within the 

development must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details prior to the 

Page 48



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

occupation of the associated dwelling with which they relate and they must be retained in situ 
as approved, for the lifetime of the development 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory.  

 
7. Prior to the above ground works commencing, details of the design, siting and materials to 

be used in the construction of all boundary treatments must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved details either prior to the occupation of the associated dwelling 

where it relates to an individual private plot or prior to the occupation of the 190th dwelling 
hereby approved where it relates to a public area. The approved boundary treatments must be 

retained in situ, as approved, for the lifetime of the development 
 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory. 

  
 8. Notwithstanding condition 1 and prior to first occupation, a scheme for the provision of play 
equipment and street furniture, including benches, refuse bins and cycle stands must be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local  
planning authority. The scheme must include: 

 Details of the individual items including any surfacing required, 

 The proposed siting within the development,  

 The proposed boundary treatments to the areas provided, and   

 A timescale for implementation.  

The development must be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure establishment of a reasonable standard of facilities to serve the approved 
development. 

 
9.  Prior to any above ground works commencing a full planting specification for all trees, 

shrubs and grasses including ongoing maintenance details must be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. The development must be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 

Reason: to ensure satisfactory tree and shrub planting as appropriate to enhance the 
appearance of the development and its integration into the surrounding area 

 
 10. The landscaping scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
documents and completed prior to occupation of the 190th dwelling hereby approved. If within 

a period of five years from the date of planting, any tree or shrub, or any tree or shrub planted 
in replacement for it, dies or, becomes seriously damaged or diseased, or is otherwise lost or 

destroyed, another tree or shrub of a similar specification to the original shall be planted at the 
same place during the first available planting season.  
Reason: to ensure satisfactory tree and shrub planting as appropriate to enhance the 

appearance of the development and its integration into the surrounding area. 
 

11. Prior to occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted, full details of the public art shown on 
the approved plans as Rendel’s Point and Triton Point must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The details must include the scale, proposed materials, 

Page 49



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Development Land At Site Of 

Ironbridge Power Station 

        

 
 

siting and a timescale for implementation. The development must be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details and must be retained in situ, as approved, for the lifetime of the 
development.  

Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory. 
 

 

Page 50



 

 

          AGENDA ITEM 

 
 

 Committee and date        

 
Southern Planning Committee  

 
25th February 2025 

 
 
 
Development Management Report 
 
Responsible Officer: Rachel Robinson, Director of Health Wellbeing and Prevention 

 
Summary of Application 

 
Application Number: 24/01598/REM 

 
Parish: 

 

Tasley  
 

Proposal: Reserved Matters (appearance, layout, scale, landscaping) for Phase 2 (Plot 1) 

and Phase 3 (Plot 7) for the erection of 323 dwellings 
 
Site Address: Plots 1 & 7 Proposed Residential And Commercial Development Land 

Tasley Bridgnorth Shropshire 
 

Applicant: Mrs Daisy Loates 
 

Case Officer: Louise Evans  email: Louise.m.evans@shropshire.gov.uk 

 
Grid Ref: 369913 - 293651 

© Crown Copy right. All rights reserv ed.  Shropshire Council AC0000808715. 2024  For ref erence purposes only . No f urther copies may  be made.  

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

 
Recommendation:-  Grant Permission subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1. 

 
REPORT 

 
1.0 THE PROPOSAL 

 

1.1 The outline application to which this reserved matters application relates is 

21/05023/OUT. This was a hybrid application which gave outline planning permission 
for a mixed use development of up to 550 dwellings along with other employment and 
retail uses. The full element of the permission granted planning permission for highway 

network improvements to serve the new development.  
 

1.2 The current reserved matters application is in connection with plots 1 and 7 also known 
as phases 2 and 3 of the above detailed permission (phase 1 being the infrastructure 
works described in the full application). The reserved matters application is for 

residential development and its associated infrastructure only.  
 

1.3 The scheme proposes 323 dwellings in total, 62 within plot 1 and 261 within plot 7. 
The housing mix is made up as follows:  
 

 
 

Number of 

Bedrooms 

Number of Open 

Market Dwellings 

Number of 

Affordable Dwellings 

1  22 

2 30 28 

3 108 14 

4 69  

5 52  

   

Totals 259 64 

  

1.4 64 affordable dwelling represents 19.81% of the total number of dwellings provided 
within these phases which is slightly below the prevailing rate of 20%. It is proposed 
that the 0.19% shortfall is made up via a financial contribution and this is secured 

through the Section 106 agreement. Of the affordable housing proposed, 44 dwellings 
will be for affordable rent and 20 as shared ownership.  

 
1.5 The proposed dwellings range from 1-bedroom maisonettes to 5-bedroom family 

houses and are all 2 or 2.5 storey buildings.  

 
1.6 The development is proposed to made up of three character areas with slightly 

different detailing. Facing materials are made up largely of brick with render to key 
dwelling types. Brick detailing is proposed to the heads and cills of the windows and 
corbelling on some of the dwellings. Roofs are proposed to be clad in tile.  

Page 52



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

 
1.7 Parking is provided at 2 spaces per dwelling with 1 space for 1 bedroom dwellings 

along with visitor parking and the provision of garages for a number of dwellings.  
  

1.8 Public open space is provided within a large central area of plot 7 and will include both 
a Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) and Local Areas of Play (LAP) along with an 
attenuation basin for surface water run off. Detailed plans for the public open space 

areas are to be proposed and approved via condition 22 of the outline permission.  
 

1.9  Internal highways are proposed to be formed by public and private roads including 
some pedestrian and cycle paths. Vehicular accesses into both sites have been 
approved and secured within application 21/05023/OUT.  

 
2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION 

 

2.1 The site lies on the western edge of Bridgnorth and has an area of approximately 35.8 

acres. This comprises two parcels of land which are referred to as Plot 1 (Phase 2) 

and Plot 7 (Phase 3).  

2.2 Plot 1 lies north of the A458, above Wenlock Road and plot 7 lies to the north of Church 

Lane. Access to both sites has been approved via the full element of the hybrid 

application.  

2.3 Existing residential development abuts Plot 1 to the north and east and abuts the south 

and east boundaries of Plot 7.  Adjacent to Plot 7 there is also a waterbody and a small 

area of woodland. Agricultural land abuts the sites to their western boundaries and the 

existing livestock market is currently situated to the west of Plot 1.  

2.4 The site is allocated in SAMDev Plan Policy S3 1a, Land north of Wenlock Road, 

Tasley (BRID001/BRID020b) and Land north of Church Lane, Tasley (BRID020a) 

2.5 The site is not located within a conservation area, nor contains any listed buildings or 

structures. The site is not within a flood zone and is not subject to any other planning 

policy restrictions or constraints.  

2.6    Plot 7 does include a number of mature trees that will be retained within the proposed 

development. Boundaries to the site are generally formed by hedgerows including 

some more mature trees.  

  
3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE/DELEGATED DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION  

 

3.1 This is a major application, which, in the view of the Planning Services Manager in 

consultation with the Chairman, should be determined by the relevant planning 
committee. 

  
4.0 Community Representations 

Page 53



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

  
4.1 Consultee Comment 

 

4.1.1 SC Green Infrastructure Advisor 

 Date comment received: 29.11.2024 

 The advisor provided detailed comments on the strategic green infrastructure (GI) 

links and specific drawings. They suggested improvements to the green corridors, 

public street trees, and pedestrian legibility. 

 

4.1.2 SC Highways DC 

 Date comment received: 20.12.24 & 27.01.2025 

 Aspects of the design were queried in relation to parking provision and footways. 

 No objections were raised, but they recommended a planning condition for the 

footway link on Wenlock Road. They also expressed concerns about the proximity 

of swales to the carriageway and requested further consideration during the 

Section 38 technical approval process. 

 

4.1.3 SC Archaeology (Historic Environment) 

 Date comment received: 26.04.2024 & 25.11.2024 

 No specific comments on the design proposals for Plots 1 and 7. They advised 

that a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) for trial trenching is required to fulfil 

Condition 7 of the outline application. 

 

4.1.4 SC Ecologist 

 Date comment received: 14.05.2024 & 29.11.2024 

 The ecologist highlighted the need for a Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment and 

Plan, a habitat management and monitoring plan, and a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan in order to discharge the relevant conditions 

attached to the outline consent. They also raised concerns about the lighting plan 

and its impact on bat roosting potential. Noted that the scheme should have been 

developed alongside relevant ecological information.  

 

Page 54



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

4.1.5 SC Trees 

 Date comment received: 26.4.2024 & 03.12.2024 

 The tree team raised concerns about the proximity of certain dwellings to mature 

trees and recommended further assessment and amendments to the 

Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS). They also suggested using a cellular 

confinement system for paths within the root protection area (RPA) of retained 

trees. 

 

4.1.6 SC Waste Management 

 Date comment received: 30.04.2024 & 12.11.2024 

 Emphasized the need for adequate storage space for waste and suitable highway 

specifications for waste collection vehicles. They recommended identifying bin 

collection points for plots on private drives. 

 

4.1.7 Sport England UK 

 Date comment received: 15.05.2024 & 22.11.2024 

 Sport England notes that the proposed layout is consistent with the masterplan 

provided at outline stage. They reinforced the comments made at the outline 

stage. 

4.1.8 SUDS 

 Date comment received: 02.05.2024 & 27.11.2024 

 The drainage authority requested drainage calculations, details of exceedance 

routes, and information on the adoption and maintenance of swales and 

attenuation basins. 

 

4.1.9 SC Conservation (Historic Environment) 

 Date comment received: 29.04.2024 & 11.11.2024 

 No comments from a conservation perspective. 

 

Page 55



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

4.1.10 SC Affordable Houses 

 Date comment received: 26.04.2024 

 The affordable housing provision meets policy requirements, but they suggested 

replacing 1-bed units with 2-bed units on Plot 1. 

 

4.1.11 SC Planning Policy 

 Date comment received: 16.05.2024 

 The policy team provided a high-level response, emphasizing the need for 

compliance with the adopted Development Plan and national policy. They 

highlighted the importance of appropriate landscape buffering, housing mix, and 

open space provision. 

 

4.1.12 SC Regulatory Services 

 Date comment received: 14.05.2024 

 Land contamination will be dealt with by way of condition 27 of the outline 

consent. Unable to comment on the reserved matters application due to the lack 

of site investigation and risk assessment results for contaminated land. 

 

4.1.13 SC Learning & Skills 

 Date comment received: 20.05.2024 

 They reported a need for additional school places due to the development and 

recommended securing contributions for both primary and secondary education 

via a S106 agreement. (This matter was addressed at the outline stage) 

  
  
4.2 Public Comments 

  

4.2.1 Tasley Parish Council  

 Date comment received: 29.11.2024 

 The council raised concerns about the misclassification of a body of water as a 
'pond' instead of a 'lake', which could lead to flooding issues 

 They highlighted the presence of otters using the lake and requested a detailed otter 

survey. 

Page 56



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

 Concerns were also raised about the practicality of proposed footpaths, potential 
structural damage from mature trees, and the need for improved buffer zones and 

biodiversity net gains 

 The council also questioned the adequacy of a wooden fence to protect the old 

drovers road. 

  

4.2.2   Representations received from 4 individuals and can be summarised as follows.  

 Objected to the lack of proper notification about the application. 

 Concerns raised about traffic and parking issues along Church Lane (This is not 
altered by this reserved matters application). 

 Expressed concerns about flooding, potential contaminants, and the impact on 
wildlife and trees as a result of the development.  

 Highlighted the presence of bats and otters, and the need for updated surveys and 
proper mitigation measures. 

 
5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES 

 

5.1 Context 

Access 
Layout  
Appearance  

Scale 
Landscaping 

Other matters 
 

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL 

  

6.1 Context  

6.1.1 The aim of reserved matters applications is to secure the outstanding details of the 
outline permission. The matters that may be reserved are limited to access, layout, 
scale, appearance and landscaping. Other details that are necessary to be agreed 

with the local planning authority before the development is either started or completed 
are dealt with by way of planning conditions attached to the outline consent. This would 

include matters such as detailed drainage schemes or detailed ecological mitigation 
which may only become known once a layout had been set. These matters are dealt 
with by way of discharge of conditions applications.  

6.1.2 In order to inform the reserved matters applications a number of parameter plans were 
secured with the outline permission including for green infrastructure, access and 

movement, density, building heights and land use, and the proposed scheme is in 
accordance with these.  

Page 57



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

6.1.3 Shropshire’s Core Strategy Policy CS6 establishes the overarching aim that new 
development will be designed to a high quality using sustainable design principles. 

Policy MD2 of Shropshire’s SAMDev Plan builds on Policy CS6, providing additional 
detail on how sustainable design will be achieved.  

6.1.4 At a national level, the NPPF recognises ‘the creation of high quality, beautiful and 
sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve’ (Paragraph 131, NPPF, December 2024). At paragraph 135 

of the NPPF, it states ‘Planning decisions should ensure that developments: 

a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the 

short term but over the lifetime of the development; 

b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate 
and effective landscaping; 

c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 

appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities); 

d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 
streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming 

and distinctive places to live, work and visit; 

e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 

support local facilities and transport networks; and 

f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 

health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine 
the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 

Further advice is set out within the National Design Guide which outlines and illustrates 
the Government’s priorities for well-designed places.  

6.2 Access  

6.2.1  Access with regards to reserved matters deals with accessibility to and within the site 
including the positioning and treatment of accesses and circulation routes, as well as 

how these fit into the surrounding access network. 

6.2.2 The outline permission gave full details of the vehicular accesses into both plots 1 and 

7 and are not to be re-considered as part of this reserved matters application.  

6.2.3 Plot 1 will be served by a single 5.5 metre carriageway with 2m footpaths on either 
side. The primary route is then formed by a single loop terminated on three of its 

Page 58



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

corners by private drives serving 6 dwellings or less. A single additional pedestrian 
path is then provided to the edge of the site giving access onto Wenlock Road through 

an existing gap in the trees and hedgerow. The development has been set back off 
the boundary with Wenlock Road with the existing trees and hedgerow being retained 

and a small amount of additional planting provided. This small strip of land is proposed 
to be maintained by a management company funded by the residents.  

6.2.4 Plot 7 is also served by a single vehicular access. The primary route loops around a 

central area of green space and off this, secondary streets are formed. There is a 
single looped secondary street with all others terminating in turning heads. Private 

drives then form access to all remaining dwellings.  

6.2.5 Two of the secondary streets running to the north west of the development are  
indicated as providing access points to potential future development in the adjacent 

field. The access points have not been designed to be delivered to the edge of the 
development (despite requests for such) so it will now be a matter for the highway 

department alone to secure adoption of land to the edge of the site to ensure that 
ransom strips do not stifle good and logical design for future schemes. Given that the 
adjacent land is not currently allocated for development, it would be difficult to defend 

this as reason for refusal at appeal.   

6.2.6 Requests for connections with existing built development have also been made. As 
mentioned, plot 1 will benefit from a potential pedestrian linkage with Wenlock Road. 

It is noted that the Highway Officer has queried how the footpath will tie in with the 
existing pavement, as this is set back from the edge of the application site by 

approximately 2 metres and has suggested a planning condition to secure this 
information. However, as this area of land is beyond the current application site area, 
it would not be lawful to attach this condition to a reserved matters approval. As such, 

our only mechanism for this to be clarified and secured is within the section 278 
agreement with the Highway Authority.  

6.2.7 For plot 7, a pedestrian linkage has been detailed to an existing area of small woodland 
which connects in with the public realm of the adjacent development and this is 
welcomed. There are also two pedestrian linkages provided onto Church Lane.  

Unfortunately, the applicant has not secured a pedestrian linkage onto Beacons Field 
or any linkages for the north of the proposed development. This is certainly a missed 

opportunity for both existing and future residents. That being said, it is recognised that 
the proposed development does not prevent such a connection being made in the 
future as the land within the application site is not intended on becoming a private plot.    

6.2.8 Footpaths are provided within the site to give edge to edge connectivity. There is one 
instance where the proposed public footpath will link to a private drive adjacent to the 

woodland connection with the development which may cause some confusion. Given 
that this will be a management issue for future residents as opposed to raising a 
material planning issue, it would not warrant a reason for refusal of this reserved 

matters approval.  

Page 59



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

6.2.9 Overall, the proposed access arrangements meet the minimum requirements for 
adoption - where necessary and the Local Highway Authority have not objected to the 

scheme other than potentially where the proximity of the surface water attenuations 
features will require further justification within any adoption agreement. The scheme 

also accords with the access and movement parameter plan approved at the outline 
stage.    

6.3 Layout  

6.3.1 Layout deals with the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the 
development are provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to 

buildings and spaces outside the development. 

6.3.2 Plot 1 is adjoined to the north and east by existing residential development. Within the 
north of the plot, dwellings have been arranged so they are back to back with the 

majority of existing properties. However, a property known as Racecourse Farm is an 
existing dwelling that fronts the application site area. Plot 1 is a sloping site and 

Racecourse Farm is elevated above the proposed development sitting at an elevation 
of approximately 109 metres whereas the proposed closest dwellings (plots 9 to 12) 
will have finish floor levels at an elevation of 105.40 metres. Taking this level difference 

into account with separation distances of around 24 metres officers suggest that 
adequate privacy will be afforded between the dwellings.  

6.3.3 The east of plot 1 is adjoined predominantly by a single residence known as 

Altonways. The application proposes to back dwellings onto this boundary leaving 
approximately 24 metres between the rear of the proposed dwellings and the side 

elevation of Altonways. This separation is sufficient to maintain reasonable levels of 
privacy between the properties.  

6.3.4 Plot 7 is adjoined to the south and east by existing residential development that is sited 

so that it either backs onto or is side onto the application site.  The application proposes 
to back dwellings along the majority of this interface with existing development and 

affords reasonable separation distances between dwellings throughout. What is not 
clear from the current submission is the proposed boundary feature between the 
existing and proposed dwellings as this is not detailed on plan. A revised boundary 

treatments plan can be secured as a condition of consent to cover this. Some tree 
planting within the rear gardens is proposed. Whilst on plot planting cannot be 

guaranteed in the long term, this additional screening is considered to be beneficial in 
this instance and is welcomed.  

6.3.5 Open space for both sites is provided within plot 7. It is located centrally and to the 

north of the development and encompasses surface water attenuation features. The 
plans indicate that a total of 42,096 square metres of open space is to be provided 

whereas the requirement in accordance with the Council’s adopted policy of 30 square 
meters per person would be 31,740 square metres. Due to the surface water 
attenuation features, some of the area will not be useable, particularly during the wetter 

Page 60



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

months, however, footpaths have been provided around the features so that the whole 
of the area can be enjoyed.  

6.3.6 Concerns have been raised with regards to the proximity of the swales to the proposed 
adopted highway. This will need to be resolved through the section 38 adoption 

process. If the swales are required to be relocated, further planning approvals may be 
required, and the developer has been informed of this.  

6.3.7 The existing mature trees have also been retained and are located within pockets of 

public open space. These are attractive features as well as providing habitat for local 
fauna so their retention within public areas is welcomed.  

6.3.8  Consideration has been given to ensuring sufficient separations distances between the 
trees and the proposed dwellings and outstanding concerns from the Council’s Tree 
Officer are now limited to a single dwelling – plot 106 which will be located 5.7 metres 

from the crown of a mature oak tree. The Tree Officer comments that the layout of this 
particular plot does not achieve a totally satisfactory juxtaposition of trees and 

development, and therefore does not accord with SAMDev Policy MD2 (Sustainable 
Design). The developer has been made aware of these concerns and has had the 
opportunity to design the scheme accordingly. Whilst appropriate mitigation can be 

secured to ensure the tree is not severely impacted by the development, the living 
conditions of the residents within the dwelling can not be altered. That being said, 
taking account of the proximity to the tree and that it relates to just a single dwelling , 

the overall harm is not so severe as to warrant the refusal of the application.  

6.3.9 Overall, the layout accords with the parameter plans detailed at the outline stage and 

does not present any fundamental concerns that would warrant refusal of the scheme.    

6.4      Appearance  

6.4.1 Appearance deals with the aspects of a building or place within the development which 

determine the visual impression the building or place makes, including the external 
built form of the development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour 

and texture.  

6.4.2 The development is proposed to contain three character areas, each with slightly 
different detailing. Facing materials are made up largely of brick with render to key 

dwelling types. Brick detailing is proposed to the heads and cills of the windows and 
corbelling on some of the dwellings. Roofs are proposed to be clad in tile.  

6.4.3 The proposal utilises standard house types with the application of design detailing to 
differentiate between the character areas. Plot 1 will all be in the ‘Village’ character. 
Plot 7 will contain all three characters with ‘Boulevard Edge’ character being applied 

to the dwellings adjacent to the main highways surrounding the central area of open 
space. The ‘Village Green’ character will be utilised for the dwellings that front onto 

Church Lane and the remaining peripheral dwellings will be in the ‘Village’ character 
style. 

Page 61



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

6.4.4 It is not readily apparent what relevance the proposed design detailing has to Tasley 
or Bridgnorth, however, the development will sit adjacent to modern housing of a 

similar character and will not significantly detract from the area. Conditions have been 
recommended to deal with the agreement of external finishes to ensure cohesion. 

6.5 Scale  

6.5.1 Scale’ deals with the height, width and length of each building proposed within the 
development in relation to its surroundings. 

6.5.2 The scheme is made up of mainly two storey dwellings throughout the site but with the 
use of two and a half storey dwellings at key points within the development. 

6.5.3 Narrower dwellings are utilised within semi-detached or terraced groups so that overall 
buildings that are formed from them have better scale and proportions. The detached 
dwellings are then generally larger in scale and have been combined with the use of 

side parking in the majority of cases. The overall result is a good mix of dwelling types 
that sit comfortably with one another at a density that is appropriate for the site. 

6.5.4   The scheme is generally in accordance with the density and storey height parameter 
plans set at the outline stage.  

6.6 Landscaping 

6.6.1 Landscaping as a reserved matter deals with the treatment of land (other than 
buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or protecting the amenities of the site and the 
area in which it is situated.  

6.6.2 In this case, plot 1 is a field bound by hedgerows and trees and plot 7 is also a field 
partially bound by hedgerows with some internal mature oak trees. There is a small 

area of woodland adjoining the boundary of Plot 7 adjacent to a waterbody. Both sites 
have topography constraints to manage as neither are flat sites.  

6.6.3 The landscape strategy for plot 1 includes retention of the existing trees and 

hedgerows and some internal planting.  

6.6.4 Plot 7 has more scope for additional planting and includes a 'green' connection across 

the site generally from the existing area of woodland and linking with the central area 
of open space. The main open space area as well as both the primary and secondary 
streets are proposed to be tree lined giving them a character that this distinct from the 

more minor access ways and will provide green linkages for local fauna.  

6.6.5 With regards to hard landscaping, the proposals indicate that adoptable highways will 

be finished in tarmac as will the proposed private drives.  Private patios and access 
paths are to be buff riven slabs however, public footpaths (not within the public 
highway) are proposed to be finished in crushed stone. This material is not considered 

to be suitable and can be difficult to traverse for those within wheelchairs or with 

Page 62



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

pushchairs. This being the case, a condition requiring the footpaths to be finished in a 
bound material has been suggested and agreement of these post determination will 

be necessary.   

6.6.7 Overall, the proposals provide an array of natural green spaces, amenity space, 

community areas, and play, providing a healthy environment for new residents. The 
scheme also accords with the parameter plans approved at the outline stage.  

  
7.0 CONCLUSION 

 

7.1 The development seeks detailed consent for access, layout, appearance, scale and 
landscaping for 323 dwellings. The scheme accords with the parameter plans 
agreed at the outline stage and is within general compliance with the Council’s 

adopted planning policies and national planning guidance.  
  

8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal 

  
8.1 Risk Management 

  
There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows: 
 

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they disagree 
with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be awarded 

irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. written representations, 
hearing or inquiry. 

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. The 
courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of 
policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural justice. 

However their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, rather 
than to make a decision on the planning issues themselves, although they will 

interfere where the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. 
Therefore they are concerned with the legality of the decision, not its planning  
merits. A challenge by way of Judicial Review must be made a) promptly and b) 

in any event not later than six weeks after the grounds to make the claim first 
arose. 

 
Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 

non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded. 
 

  
8.2 Human Rights 

  

Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol Article 
1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be balanced 

against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of the County 

Page 63



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

in the interests of the Community. 
 

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents. 

 
This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation. 

  
8.3 Equalities 

  
The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 
public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 

number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in Planning Committee 
members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

  
9.0 Financial Implications 
  

There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of 
conditions is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 
defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent on the 

scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of 
being taken into account when determining this planning application – insofar as 

they are material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for 
the decision maker. 

 

10.   Background  
 

Relevant Planning Policies 
  
Central Government Guidance: 

National Planning Policy Framework 
National Planning Policy Guidance  

National Design Code 
Manual for Streets 1 and 2 
 

Core Strategy and Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) Plan: 
CS6 : Sustainable Design and Development Principles 

CS8 : Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Provision 
CS11 : Type and Affordability of Housing 
CS17 : Environmental Networks 

CS18 : Sustainable Water Management 
MD2 – Sustainable Design  

MD8 – Infrastructure Provision  
MD12 – The Natural Environment  
MD13 – The Historic Environment 

 

Page 64



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

Type and Affordability of Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2012)  
Shropshire Refuse and Recycling Advice for Developers 2022 Update 
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:  

 
21/02574/SCR Request for screening opinion - Mixed use comprising housing (500-600 

dwellings), employment, facilities and relocation of Bridgnorth Livestock Market EAN 13th July 

2021 
21/05023/OUT Hybrid application for phased development for:  

Outline planning permission (access only for consideration) for mixed use development of up to 
550 dwellings, foodstore, neighbourhood centre, B2/B8 business use, 'sui generis' uses to 
include hotel, public house, petrol filling and electric vehicle charging station, livestock market, 

lairage and ancillary uses, green infrastructure and associated ancillary works, demolition of 
the existing livestock market; 

Full planning permission for five arm roundabout, spine road south of A458 and north of A458 
with associated footway/cycleways and landscape verges, formation of junction with the spine 
road and Church Lane, upgrading of existing Livestock Market access to provide temporary 

access to Plot 1, drainage, associated earthworks, infrastructure and ancillary works GRANT 
6th March 2024 
24/01915/DIS Discharge of Conditions 14 (Highways - Internal Roads), 16 (Levels and Setting 

Out), 17 (Hard and Soft Landscaping), 21 (Trees Outline), 28 (Drainage), 29 (Residential 
Energy), 31 (Lighting) and 36 (REMS Bats) on Planning Permission 21/05023/OUT REFUSE 

16th July 2024 
24/01929/DIS Discharge of Conditions 6 (Phasing), 8 (CEMP), 9 (Church Lane), 10 (Church 

Lane Plot 7), 11 (Highways - Spine Road), 13 (Highways - Infrastructure Phasing), 18 (Trees - 

Full), 25 (Sub Stations), 27 (Contaminated Land), 30 (Site Waste Management Plan), 32 
(Ecology and Net Gain), 33 (Habitat and Monitoring Plan), 35 (Ecology - CEMP) and 37 

(Ecology - Updated Walkover) on Planning Permission 21/05023/OUT DISPAR 16th July 2024 
24/02281/DIS Discharge of Condition 7 (Archaeology) on Planning Permission 21/05023/OUT 

REFUSE 16th July 2024 

 
 

11.       Additional Information 
 
View details online: http://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=SCCVZPTDHA500  
 

 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information) 

 
 

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  - Councillor Chris Schofield 
 

 

Local Member   

Page 65



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

 
 Cllr Julia Buckley 
 Cllr Rachel Connolly 

Appendices 

APPENDIX 1 - Conditions 
 

Page 66



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 Plots 1 & 7 

        

 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

Conditions 
 

1. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans,  
drawings and documents as listed in Schedule 1 below. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in  

accordance with the approved plans and details. 
 

2. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect or vary the conditions imposed on  
Outline Planning Permission Ref: 21/05023/OUT which shall remain in full force.  
Reason: The conditions attached to the Outline Approval are still valid. 

  
3. Prior to any above ground works commencing, a sample panel or panels of the materials  

to be used in the construction of the external surfaces must be prepared on site for inspection 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The sample panel shall be at least 1 
metre x 1 metre and show the proposed materials, bonds, pointing technique and full palette of 

materials including roofing, fenestration and any cladding to be used in the development 
including the guttering, facias, soffits and dry verge capping. The development shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved sample/samples, which shall not be removed 

from the site until completion of the development. 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory. 

 
3. Notwithstanding condition 1 and prior to the above ground works commencing, details of  
the design, siting and materials to be used in the construction of all boundary treatments and 

retaining walls must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details either 

prior to the occupation of the associated dwelling where it relates to an individual private plot or 
prior to the occupation of the 250th dwelling where it relates to a public area.   
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory. 

  
4. Notwithstanding condition 1 and prior to the above ground works commencing, details of all 

hard surfacing, including the proposed edging features, must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved details and all public footpaths detailed on the approved plans 

must be finished with a bound surface material prior to occupation of the 250 th dwelling.   
Reason: To ensure establishment of accessible routes prior to the completion of the  

development.  
  
 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

          AGENDA ITEM 

 
 

 Committee and date       

 
Southern Planning Committee  

 
25th February 2025 

 
 
 
Development Management Report 
 
Responsible Officer: Rachel Robinson, Director of Health Wellbeing and Prevention 
 
Summary of Application 

 
Application Number: 25/00387/CPL 

 
Parish: 

 
Bridgnorth  

 
Proposal: Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for the proposed conversion of 

garage and internal alterations to kitchen.  Alterations to windows and doors, replacement 

brickwork to rear to allow for insulation, installation of french doors and addition of hipped roof 
to existing flat roof on rear bay 
 
Site Address: 11 Greenfields Road Bridgnorth Shropshire WV16 4JG  

 

Applicant: Mr & Mrs Garry & Gill Fuller 
 

Case Officer: Elizabeth Attwood  email: elizabeth.attwood@shropshire.gov.uk 

 
Grid Ref: 371059 - 293777 

 

 
 
© Crown Copy right. All rights reserv ed.  Shropshire Council AC0000808715. 2024  For ref erence purposes only . No f urther copies may  be made.  

Page 69

Agenda Item 9



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 11 Greenfields Road 

        

 
 

 
Recommendation:-  A Lawful Development Certificate be issued for the following 
reason: 

 
The proposed external alterations are permitted development by virtue of 

Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the GPDO, and the internal works do not 
constitute development under Section 55(2) of the of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. Therefore, the proposed development it is 

Lawful and Full Planning Permission is not required, and a Certificate of 
Lawful Development can be issued. 

 
 
REPORT 

 
1.0 THE PROPOSAL 

 
1.1 
 

 
 

This application seeks a Lawful Development Certificate under Section 192 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (“the Act”) for the proposed conversion of 

garage and internal alterations to kitchen.  Alterations to windows and doors, 
replacement brickwork to rear to allow for insulation, installation of French doors and 

addition of hipped roof to existing flat roof on rear bay. 
 

1.2  Internal alterations to include conversion of part of garage to create a 
WC/Shower room, internal alterations to utility and kitchen.  

 Alterations to windows and doors block up existing door and windows and 
replace with new door and windows on side elevation. 

 Replacement of brickwork on existing rear bay taken to ground floor to allow 
for insulation, install French door on front of bay to replace existing window 
and addition of hipped roof to replace existing flat roof. 

 All materials to match the existing. 

 None of the proposed external work would be higher than 4 metres. 
 

1.3 Note: A corresponding Building Regulation application for the Conversion of garage 
to form WC and utility room and internal alterations to the kitchen, has been 
submitted the SC under 25/00116/FEENQ.  

 
1.4 The applicant has stated that the proposal is considered to be lawful because; 

 The proposed works fall within permitted development under Schedule 2 
Class A of the GPDO. 

  
2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION 

 

2.1 
 

 

The application property is a detached red brick dwelling under a concrete tiled roof 
located to the southeast of Greenfields Road in an established residential area of 

Bridgnorth and is situated outside of Bridgnorth Conservation Area. It occupies a 

Page 70



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 11 Greenfields Road 

        

 
 

rectangular plot with the estate road to the southeast, detached properties on either 

side to the southwest and northeast. To the rear, the garden backs onto a footpath, 
on the opposite side of which are the rear gardens to properties on Dunval Road. 
 

2.2 Relevant planning history 
 

2.3 17/03114/CPE - Application for Lawful Development Certificate to confirm that the 
existing works of loft conversion, erection of porch with pitched roof and pitched roof 
over garage, installation of bow window to front elevation, creation of hardstanding 

to front garden, dropped kerb and erection of garden wall were within permitted 
development or have been completed for more than four years – LAWFUL. 

 
2.4 18/01814/FUL Erection of single storey front extension – GRANTED. 

 

3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION  
 

3.1 The application must be determined by Committee because it relates to the property 

of an officer of the Council who either directly or indirectly reports to the Planning 
Services Manager. 

  
4.0 Community Representations 
  

4.1 - Consultee Comments  
 

- Public Comments – None required for this type of application. 
 
- Public Comments – None required for this type of application. 

  

5.0 Planning Policy 

 
5.1 Under Section 192 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended, an 

application may be made to the Local Planning Authority if any person wishes to 

ascertain whether— 
 

   (a)any proposed use of buildings or other land; or 
 
   (b)any operations proposed to be carried out in, on, over or under land, 

 
   would be lawful. 

 
6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL 

6.1 The proposed works have been appraised against the criteria set out in the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. In 

particular, the key section is Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A – enlargement, improvement 
or other alteration of a dwelling house. 

Page 71



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 11 Greenfields Road 

        

 
 

 

6.1.1 Assessment of whether the internal alterations, altered windows and doors, 
replacement of the existing flat roof to the bay window with a pitched roof is 
Permitted Development. 

 
6.1.2 In terms of the ‘original’ dwellinghouse, the aforementioned planning history is noted 

above. 
  
6.2 Principle of development 

 
6.2.1 Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the GPDO advises that the enlargement, improvement 

or other alteration of a dwelling house is permitted development, unless it would not 
comply with a number of listed restrictions. These are considered in turn below: 
 

6.2.2 A.1 (a): The dwelling house has not been granted only by virtue of Classes G, M, 
MA, N, P, PA or Q of Part 3 of this Schedule (changes of use). (Not relevant) 
 

6.2.3 A.1 (b): The proposed development would not result in the total area of ground 
covered by buildings within the curtilage of the dwelling house (other than the original 

dwelling house) would exceed 50% of the total area of the curtilage (excluding the 
ground area of the original dwelling house).  (No additional footprint is being created) 
 

6.2.4 A.1(c): The height of the part of the dwellinghouse enlarged, improved or altered  (the 
replacement roof to the existing bay window) would not exceed the height of the 

highest part of the roof of the existing dwellinghouse; 
 

6.2.5 A.1(d): The height of the eaves of the part of the dwellinghouse enlarged, improved 

or altered would not exceed the height of the eaves of the existing dwellinghouse; 
(not relevant - no extension is being proposed) 

 
6.2.6 A.1 (e): The roof addition (to the existing bay window) does not extend beyond a wall 

which forms the principle elevation of the original dwelling house (i) or front a highway 

and forms a side elevation of the original dwelling house (ii). 
 

6.2.7 A.1 (f) subject to paragraph (g), the enlarged part of the dwellinghouse would have 
a single storey and— 
 

(i) extend beyond the rear wall of the original dwellinghouse by more than 4 metres 
in the case of a detached dwellinghouse, or 3 metres in the case of any other 

dwellinghouse, or (not relevant - no extension is being proposed) 
 
(ii) exceed 4 metres in height; (the replacement roof does not exceed 4m) 

 
6.2.8 A.1 (g): The enlarged part of the dwelling house does not extend more than 

8m, beyond the rear wall of the original dwelling house; or exceed 4m in height (ii). 
(not relevant - no extension is being proposed) 

Page 72



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 11 Greenfields Road 

        

 
 

 

6.2.9 A.1 (h): The enlarged part of the dwelling house does not have more than one storey. 
(not relevant - no extension is being proposed) 
 

6.2.10 A.1 (i): The enlarged part of the dwelling house is not within 2 metres of the 
boundary of the curtilage of the dwelling house. (not relevant - no extension is 

being proposed) 
 

6.2.11 A.1 (j): The enlarged part of the dwellinghouse would not extend beyond a wall 

forming a side elevation of the original dwellinghouse. (not relevant - no extension is 
being proposed) 

  
6.2.12 
 

 
 
6.2.13 

 

A.1 (ja): any total enlargement (being the enlarged part together with any existing 
enlargement of the original dwellinghouse to which it will be joined) exceeds or would 

exceed the limits set out in sub-paragraphs (e) to (j). (not relevant - no extension is 
being proposed) 
 

A.1 (k): The proposed development would not include the construction or provision 
of a veranda, balcony or raised platform; would not include the installation, alteration 

or replacement of a microwave antenna; would not involve the installation, alteration 
or replacement of a chimney, flue, or soil and vent pipe, and would not involve an 
alteration to any part of the roof of the dwelling house. 

 
6.2.14   (l) the dwellinghouse was not built under Part 20 of this Schedule (construction of 

new dwellinghouses). 
 

6.2.15 

 

A.2: The dwelling house is not on article 2(3) land. (A conservation area). 

 
6.2.16 

 
6.2.17 
 

A.3: (a). The materials – (facing materials will match the rear of the existing dwelling.) 

 
A.3 (b)(i)(ii) and (c) The alterations are on the ground floor and single storey therefore 
there are no restrictions on the need for obscure glazing or non-opening windows. 

 
6.3 Internal works do not constitute development under Section 55 (2) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, which states:  
 
    The following operations or uses of land shall not be taken for the purposes of     

   this Act to involve development of the land— 
 

   (a)the carrying out for the maintenance, improvement or other alteration of any   
   building of works which— 
 

   (i)affect only the interior of the building, or 
 

  (ii)do not materially affect the external appearance of the building, 
 

Page 73



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 11 Greenfields Road 

        

 
 

and are not works for making good war damage or works begun after 5th December 

1968 for the alteration of a building by providing additional space in it underground; 
 

6.3.1 The altered window and doors are on the side and rear elevations and will be similar 

to those instated in the original dwellinghouse and therefore there will be no material 
affect on the external appearance of the property. 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 

 

7.1 The proposed external alterations are permitted development by virtue of 
Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the GPDO or do not materially affect the external 

appearance of the building, and together with the internal works do not 
therefore constitute development under Section 55(2) of the of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. Therefore, the proposed development it is Lawful 

and Full Planning Permission is not required, and a Certificate of Lawful 
Development can be issued. 
 

  

8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal 

  
8.1 Risk Management 
  

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows: 
 

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they disagree 
with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be awarded 

irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. written representations, 
hearing or inquiry. 

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. The 

courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of 
policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural justice. 

However, their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, rather 
than to make a decision on the planning issues themselves, although they will 
interfere where the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. 

Therefore, they are concerned with the legality of the decision, not its planning 
merits. A challenge by way of Judicial Review must be made a) promptly and b) 

in any event not later than six weeks after the grounds to make the claim first 
arose. 

 

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against non-

determination for application for which costs can also be awarded. 
 

  

8.2 Human Rights 
  

Page 74



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 11 Greenfields Road 

        

 
 

Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol Article 

1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be balanced 
against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of the County 
in the interests of the Community. 

 
First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 

against the impact on residents. 
 
This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above recommendation.  

  
8.3 Equalities 
  

The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the public 
at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a number 

of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in Planning Committee 
members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

  

9.0 Financial Implications 
  

There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of conditions 
is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of defending any 
decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent on the scale and nature 

of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of being taken into 
account when determining this planning application – insofar as they are material to 

the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for the decision maker. 
  

 

10.   Background  
 

Relevant Planning Policies 
  
None 

 
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:  
 
17/03114/CPE Application for Lawful Development Certificate to confirm that the existing works 

of loft conversion, erection of porch with pitched roof and pitched roof over garage, installation 
of bow window to front elevation, creation of hardstanding to front garden, dropped kerb and 

erection of garden wall were within permitted development or have been completed for more 
than four years LA 17th January 2018 
18/01814/FUL Erection of single storey front extension – GRANTED 6t June 2018 

 
 

11.       Additional Information 
 

Page 75



AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Southern Planning Committee - 25th February 2025 11 Greenfields Road 

        

 
 

View details online: http://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=SR3RY1TD07V00  
 
 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 

containing exempt or confidential information) 
 

 

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder) - Councillor Chris Schofield 
 
 

Local Member   
 Cllr Christian Lea 
 Cllr Kirstie Hurst-Knight 

Appendices 

APPENDIX 1 - Conditions are not required for Lawful Development Certificates 
 

 

Page 76



SCHEDULE OF APPEALS AS AT COMMITTEE   
25 February 2025 

 
 

LPA reference 23/09403/ENF 

Appeal against Enforcement Notice 

Committee or Del. 
Decision 

Delegated 

Appellant Tom Smith 

Proposal Operational Development erect a timber cabin for 
residentail use and shed to house domestic 
paraphernlia and to erect fencing and gates which 
exceed 2m in height 

Location Land East Of Overton Dingle 
Overton 
Ludlow 
Shropshire 

Date of appeal 22.08.2024 

Appeal method Written representations 

Date site visit 26.11.2024 

Date of appeal decision 11.12.2024 

Costs awarded  

Appeal decision Dismissed 

 
LPA reference 24/00115/OUT 

Appeal against Refusal 

Committee or Del. 
Decision 

Delegated 

Appellant Dr Kay Gibbons 

Proposal Outline planning application for the replacement of 
a function room with a larger two storey building 
consisting of six one bedroom and six two bedroom 
apartments for a mixture of open market housing, 
affordable housing, pub letting and owner 
accommodation in currently redundant space 
between the pub and the rear car park with all 
matters reserved 

Location The Swan Inn 
Knowle Sands 
Bridgnorth 
Shropshire 
WV16 5JL 
 

Date of appeal 16.07.2024 

Appeal method Written Representations 

Date site visit  

Date of appeal decision Revised Decision 27.12.2024  

Costs awarded  

Appeal decision  

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



LPA reference 22/04355/FUL 

Appeal against Refusal (BEING RE-DETERMINED) 

Committee or Del. 
Decision 

Committee 

Appellant Econergy International Ltd 

Proposal Erection of an up to 30 MW Solar PV Array, 
comprising ground mounted solar PV panels, 
vehicular access, internal access tracks, 
landscaping and associated infrastructure, including 
security fencing, CCTV, client storage containers 
and grid connection infrastructure, including 
substation buildings and off-site cabling 

Location Proposed Solar Farm To The West Of 
Berrington 
Shrewsbury 
Shropshire 

Date of appeal Original date 23.11.23  Re-opened 18.09.24 

Appeal method Hearing – 18th and 19th of February 2025 

Date site visit  

Date of appeal decision 26.03.24 

Costs awarded  

Appeal decision DISMISSED 

 
 

LPA reference 24/00827/FUL 
Appeal against Refusal 

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated 
Appellant Mr Craig Bearley 
Proposal Erection of 1 No. replacement dwelling following 

demolition of a fire damaged bungalow 
Location 29 Sycamore Road 

Broseley 
Shropshire 
TF12 5QG 

Date of appeal 27.01.2025 
Appeal method Written representations 

Date site visit  
Date of appeal decision  

Costs awarded  
Appeal decision  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



LPA reference 21/08411/ENF 
Appeal against Enforcement Notice 

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated 
Appellant P Richmond and K Cooper 
Proposal Appeal against   

(i) Material change of use of the land from 
residential to short term holiday let accommodation 
comprising of three separate units of accommodation 
with associated facilities.  (ii) Associated operational 
development works to support the change of use to 
short term holiday let accommodation, namely the 
installation of decking, fencing, hot tubs, honesty 
shop and barbecue areas. 
 

Location Caradoc Cottage 
All Stretton 
Church Stretton 
Shropshire 
SY6 7JN 
 

Date of appeal 10.02.25 
Appeal method Written Representations 

Date site visit  
Date of appeal decision  

Costs awarded  
Appeal decision  

 
 

LPA reference 24/02149/FUL 
Appeal against Refusal 

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated 
Appellant Mr Kuldeep Singh 

Proposal Application under Section 73A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 for the erection of 
extension to front elevation 

Location 28 Woodland Close 
Albrighton 
Wolverhampton 
Shropshire 
WV7 3PR 

Date of appeal 10.01.2025 
Appeal method Written representations 

Date site visit  
Date of appeal decision  

Costs awarded  
Appeal decision  

 
 

Page 79



LPA reference 23/09746/ENF 
Appeal against Enforcement Notice 

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated 
Appellant Mrs Sarah Odell 
Proposal Appeal against a material change of use of 

agricultural land to a mixed use site of agriculture and 
residential, with associated erection of a building and 
siting of static caravan occupied for residential 
purposes 

Location Proposed Temporary Agricultural Workers Dwelling 
North Of B4364 
Wheathill 
Shropshire 

Date of appeal 31.01.2025 
Appeal method  

Date site visit  
Date of appeal decision  

Costs awarded  
Appeal decision  

 

Page 80



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 26 November 2024  
by A Walker MPlan MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 11 December 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/L3245/C/24/3344429 

Land east of Overton Dingle, Overton, Ludlow 
• The appeal is made under section 174 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended). The appeal is made by Thomas William Smith against an enforcement notice 

issued by Shropshire Council. 

• The notice was issued on 15 April 2024.  

• The breach of planning control as alleged in the notice is without planning permission: 

i. The material change of use from agriculture to residential use and the siting of a 

static caravan on land for human habitation. 

ii. Engineering operations including excavation of land, alteration of land levels, 

importation, laying of hardcore material and removal of vegetation in association or 

otherwise with the use of the land for residential use. 

• iii. Operational development erect a timber cabin for residential use and shed to house 

domestic paraphernalia and to erect fencing and gates which exceed 2m in height. 

• The requirements of the notice are to:  

(i) Cease the use of the Land for residential purposes; 

(ii) Remove from the Land the hard standing formed by concrete bases, scalpings and 

waste materials identified as rubber excess and tyres. 

(iii) Demolish and remove from the Land the timber cabin, shed and static caravan. 

(iv) Demolish and remove from the Land the high close panelled timber fence and 

gates. 

(v) Remove from the Land all materials associated with the above steps, motor 

vehicles, touring caravans and other domestic paraphernalia. 

(vi) Return the Land to its former condition. 

• The periods for compliance with the requirements are: 

(i) 2 months after this notice takes effect to comply with step (i) 

(ii) 4 months after this notice takes effect to comply with steps (ii) to (vi) inclusive. 

• The appeal is proceeding on the grounds set out in section 174(2) (b) and (f) of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

Summary of Decision: The appeal is dismissed and the enforcement notice is 

upheld 

 

Procedural Matter 

1. The date on which the enforcement notice (the notice) was signed is missing.  

However, the date of 15 April 2024 is included on the covering letter 
accompanying the notice.  As there is no statutory requirement to include the 
date the notice was issued, this has no effect on the validity of the notice. 

2. The appeal form indicates that an appeal is made on ground (f) only.  
However, the appellant’s submissions include arguments pertaining to a 

ground (b) appeal.  The Council addresses these arguments in their statement 
of case and therefore no parties would be prejudiced by my consideration of 
this additional ground of appeal. 

Page 81

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/C/24/3344429

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

The ground (b) appeal 

3. In appealing on ground (b) the burden of proof is firmly upon the appellant to 
demonstrate the alleged breach of planning control has not occurred as a 

matter of fact.   

4. The appellant contends there is no permanent residential use of the land and 
that the cabin is used for documentation to be stored along with tools and 

machinery relating to BAAS Ltd, which is claimed to be building and 
agricultural services.   

5. During my site visit, the appellant did not have access to the cabin nor the 
touring caravans and so I was unable to view inside them.  Nevertheless, I 
could see through a number of the windows in the cabin, through which I 

observed a kitchen with cupboards that appeared to contain foodstuff, a 
couch, and a shoe rack near the front door that contained several pairs of 

casual footwear.  There was no evidence the cabin was being used for the 
storage of any documents or machinery relating to a business. 

6. There was an electric cable leading off the cabin towards what appeared to be 

an electric feed located adjacent to the entrance to the site.  There were also 
two large gas bottles to the rear of the cabin that were connected to it.  In 

addition, to the rear of the cabin was a small timber shed containing a washing 
machine and tumble dryer.  Furthermore, a septic tank was sited close to the 
cabin, presumably to which it is connected. 

7. Adjacent to the cabin was a large touring caravan, outside the door of which 
were plant pots.  There were two smaller touring caravans on the site, one of 

which had an electrical extension lead leading to the cabin.  There were also 
four cars parked on the site, which did not have the appearance of being 
commercial in nature and therefore it is reasonable to conclude they were for 

private domestic use. 

8. Overall, the site appeared to be in use for residential purposes, with no 

evidence of a business operating from it.  The Council confirm they served a 
planning contravention notice on the appellant/the appellant’s father to 
establish what uses were taking place on the site, but it was not completed 

and returned. 

9. The appellant also states that the hardcore was not imported as this was 

already situated next to the pre-existing barn.  However, whether or not the 
hardcore was already present on site, it was still imported at some point in 
time. 

10. Based on the evidence before me and the observations I made on site, there is 
no evidence of a business operating from the appeal site.  It has not been 

demonstrated that the site is not used for residential purposes nor that the 
material used for the hardstanding has not been imported. Consequently, the 

ground (b) appeal fails. 

The ground (f) appeal 

11. This ground of appeal is that the steps required by the notice to be taken, or 

the activities required by the notice to cease, exceed what is necessary to 
remedy any breach of planning control which may be constituted by those 

Page 82

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/C/24/3344429

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

matters or, as the case may be, to remedy any injury to amenity which has 

been caused by any such breach.  

12. Having regard to section 173(4) of the 1990 Act as amended and the stated 

requirements of the notice, it is reasonable to conclude that the purpose of the 
notice is to remedy the breach of planning control. 

13. The appellant argues that the fence and gates can be lowered.  Be that as it 

may, there is no evidence before me as to what height they propose them to 
be lowered to.  In any event, the lowered fence would still require planning 

permission.  Therefore, it would not remedy the purpose of the notice, which is 
the breach of planning control. 

14. As there is no ground (a) appeal before me, arguments regarding the need for 

the fence and its effect on the visual amenity of the area have not been taken 
into consideration. 

15. By reason that there are no lesser steps which would achieve the purposes of 
the notice with less cost and disruption, I do not find that the requirements of 
the notice exceed what is necessary to remedy the breach of planning control. 

16. The ground (f) appeal therefore fails.   

Other Matters 

17. I note the comments made regarding the access road, the strength of the 
bridge and the transfer of the ownership of the land after the notice was 
issued.  However, these matters have had no bearing on my consideration of 

the grounds of appeal that have been made. 

Conclusion 

18. The appeal is dismissed and the enforcement notice is upheld. 

A Walker  

INSPECTOR 

Page 83

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 23 September 2024  
by Juliet Rogers BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 24 October 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/L3245/W/24/3342722 

The Swan Inn, Highley Road, Knowle Sands, Bridgnorth WV16 5JL  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended) against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Dr Kay Gibbons of Kay E Gibbons Holdings Ltd - The Swan Inn 

against the decision of Shropshire Council. 

• The application Ref is 24/00115/OUT. 

• The development proposed is the replacement of a function room with a larger two 

storey building consisting of six one bedroom and six two bedroom apartments for a 

mixture of open market housing, affordable housing, pub letting and owner 

accommodation in currently redundant space between the pub and the rear car park. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Applications for Costs 

2. An application for costs has been made by Dr Kay Gibbons of Kay Gibbons 

Holdings Ltd – The Swan Inn against Shropshire Council. This is the subject of 
a separate decision. 

Preliminary Matters 

3. The appeal scheme is for outline planning permission with all matters reserved 
for future approval. Matters relating to layout, scale, appearance and 

landscaping are reserved for future approval. Therefore, I have treated details 
relating to access, layout, scale, appearance and landscaping submitted with 
the application, including on the plans, as indicative.  

4. I have also dealt with another appeal on this site for the change of use of the 
public house to a single dwelling1. That appeal is the subject of a separate 

decision. 

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are: 

• whether the appeal site is suitable for the proposal, with particular regard 
to the local development strategy on the location of development; and 

• the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area.  

 
1 Appeal Ref: APP/L3245/W/24/3342722  

Page 85

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/24/3343807

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Location 

6. The appeal site is located adjacent to the B4555 within the settlement of 

Knowle Sands. Although not referred to on the decision notice I am aware 
from another appeal in Shropshire that some types of new development are 
supported only in specific settlements, including those identified as Community 

Hubs and Community Clusters in Policy MD1 of the SAMDev2. Knowle Sands is 
not listed as a Community Hub or Community Cluster and I have no 

substantive evidence before me to conclude this status has been proposed by 
the Parish Council (an exception required by Policy MD1). Beyond these hubs 
and clusters, and other larger settlements, new development is considered to 

be located in the countryside.  

7. Therefore, for the purposes of the local development strategy, the appeal site 

is located in the countryside where development is strictly controlled by Policy 
CS5 of the Core Strategy3, reflecting the objectives of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (the Framework). Whilst open market housing is not 

precluded from the countryside, Policy MD7a of the SAMDev restricts new 
market housing to exception site dwellings and residential conversions. Neither 

of these circumstances apply in this case. 

8. I conclude that the appeal site would not be suitable for the proposal, with 
particular regard to the local development strategy on the location of 

development. It would conflict with Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy and Policy 
MD7a of the SAMDev which support the strict control and management of 

development in the countryside. 

Character and appearance 

9. Matters relating to scale comprising height, width and length of the proposed 

built form are reserved for consideration at a later date although the number 
of apartments proposed is included in the description of development. The 

appeal site as shown on the Location Plan4 but excluding the existing access 
drive comprises sufficient area to accommodate the appeal scheme. Whilst the 
proposed built form footprint is not shown on the application, even for 

illustrative purposes, I have limited compelling evidence before me to conclude 
the appeal scheme would amount to overdevelopment on the site.  

10. As scale and appearance are reserved matters, detailed plans and elevations 
are not required for the principle of development to be established. Therefore, 
the design of the proposed development is unknown, as is its relationship with 

the existing public house. Consequently, there is limited evidence for me to 
determine that the proposed built form would be of a disproportionate scale to 

the existing building on the site and/or would dominate the local setting. Even 
if I were to determine that the proposed built form would be clearly visible 

from the B4555 due to the slope of the site, this does not necessarily imply it 
would harm the character of the area.  

11. I conclude that the proposed development would not harm the character and 

appearance of the area and complies with Policy CS6 of the Core Strategy 

 
2 Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) Plan 
3 Shropshire Local Development Framework: Adopted Core Strategy (the Core Strategy) 
4 Plan ref: TQRQM23244144649242 

Page 86

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/24/3343807

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

insofar as it relates to the incorporation of high-quality sustainable design 

principles. Policy MD2 of the SAMDev amplifies Policy CS6’s design and 
development principles, amongst other aspects, by setting out how a 

development proposal is to be considered acceptable. 

Other Matters 

12. The proposed development would provide social and economic benefits from 

the provision of new homes, including two affordable housing units. However, 
I have no substantive evidence before me indicating that the Council is unable 

to demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites or that there is 
a particular need in Knowle Sands for apartments. As such, I attach modest 
weight to the benefits which would be derived from the proposed 

development. 

13. Whilst the implementation of a surface water drainage scheme which reduces 

the existing runoff onto the B4555 is proposed, no substantive evidence 
demonstrating how this can be achieved is before me. Similarly, given the in-
principle nature of the proposals, any environmental benefits resulting from 

the incorporation of rainwater harvesting facilities into the development are 
undetermined. I therefore give any resultant public benefits limited weight. 

14. The proposed development could provide the opportunity to improve the 
existing access arrangements on the site. However, given the proximity of the 
conservatory and the property immediately adjacent to the access with the 

B4555 carriageway, opportunities to enhance visibility at this location are 
significantly constrained. As no substantive details have been provided to 

demonstrate how improvements to the access could be achieved, I give them 
neutral weight in my decision.  

15. Other public benefits including a local shop, heat recovery system, ultra-rapid 

EV charging points, and improved access including a disabled parking space 
and toilet facilities, alongside a reduced area for the public house are indicated 

in the Planning Statement. However, these are not included in the description 
of development and would be located beyond the redline site boundary, albeit 
on land within the ownership of the appellant. As there is no mechanism 

before me which provides certainty that these elements will be implemented, I 
attribute limited weight to the benefits that could be derived from them. 

16. Moreover, given my decision on the other appeal to allow the change of use of 
the public house to a single dwelling, were I to allow this appeal, there 
remains the possibility that both developments or part thereof, could be 

implemented. This could lead to a development without the full range of public 
benefits set out above. 

17. My attention has been drawn to a previous planning permission5 on the site. 
Even if this permission has not expired, I have limited substantive evidence 

before me which provides certainty of this status and the likelihood for it to be 
completed or, more crucially, the development it relates to, aside from an 
extract of a car park plan. Consequently, it is not a determinative factor in my 

decision.   

 
5 Application ref: BR/FUL/00/0091 

Page 87

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/24/3343807

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

Conclusion 

18. The proposed development would conflict with the development plan when 
taken as a whole and material considerations do not indicate that a decision 

should be made other than in accordance with it. Therefore, I conclude that 
the appeal should be dismissed. 

Juliet Rogers  

INSPECTOR 

 
 

 

Page 88

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Inquiry Held on 5 – 8 and 11 March 2024 

Accompanied site visit made on 4 March 2024 

Unaccompanied site visit made on 14 March 2024 

by David M H Rose BA(Hons) MRTPI  

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 26th March 2024 

 
Appeal Reference: APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
Land west of Berrington, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY5 6HA 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Econergy International Ltd against the decision of Shropshire 

Council. 

• The application Reference 22/04355/FUL, dated 26 August 2022, was refused by notice 

dated 16 May 2023. 

• The development proposed is: Erection of an up to 30 MW Solar PV Array, comprising 

ground mounted solar PV panels, vehicular access, internal access tracks, landscaping 

and associated infrastructure, including security fencing, CCTV, client storage containers 

and grid connection infrastructure, including substation buildings and off-site cabling. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

Reasons for Refusal 

2. The planning application was refused by Shropshire Council against Officer 
recommendation. The reasons given, in short, were: 

(i). Loss of Best and Most Versatile Land – ‘…… it is not considered that the 

applicant’s justifications for this choice of site are sufficient to outweigh the 

adverse impact of losing the arable production potential ……’. 

(ii). Adverse Visual Impact – ‘…… potential to adversely affect the local 

landscape and visual amenities ……’. 

(iii). Adverse Ecological Impact – ‘The application affects land which is used by 

Skylarks for nesting. The applicant proposes to mitigate for the loss of nesting 

opportunity by providing protected plots on land to the immediate north of the 

site. However, this land if of a different character and the general area is also 

used for seasonal shooting which may coincide with the Skylark nesting season 

……1’. 

 
1  At the Inquiry it was conceded that the shooting and nesting seasons did not coincide and this part of the 

reason for refusal was not pursued 

Page 89

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Case Management Conference  

3. I held a Case Management Conference on 4 January 2024, attended by the 

Council, the Appellant and the Rule 6(6) Party, Flour not Power, to discuss 
administrative and procedural matters. I set out the main issues, based on 

the reasons for refusal. In addition, in light of identified heritage assets 
within the locality of the appeal site, I included a further issue to reflect my 
statutory duty. 

4. It was subsequently confirmed that Flour not Power intended to present 
evidence on selected heritage assets. This was set out in an addendum to its 

statement of case2. The Appellant provided a Heritage Note by way of 
response3; and Flour not Power submitted a Built Heritage Reappraisal4. It 

was agreed that the heritage issue would be considered on the basis of the 
written evidence provided. 

The Inquiry 

5. The Inquiry was held in person on 5 – 8 March 2024 with closing 

submissions presented virtually on 11 March 2024. Prior to opening, I was 
informed by the parties that Flour not Power’s landscape witness would be 

unable to attend the Inquiry due to unforeseen compelling personal 
circumstances. The parties indicated that they would be content to table all 
of the landscape evidence in writing, so as to avoid adjournment and delay.  

I confirmed that the evidence could be considered in this way. 

6. Two further matters are to be recorded. First, Notice No 1 was served, 

belatedly, on the Council, as landowner, on 19 February 2024, relating to a 
short section of cable route within the highway. At the opening of the 

Inquiry, the 21 day period for representations had not run its course. 
However, no representations have been submitted subsequently.  

7. Second, a minor drafting error on the red line boundary of the application 

site had been identified by the Appellant. This relates to the north-western 
edge of the appeal site and the inclusion of a small strip of land that does 

not appear in the landowner’s title. No development or landscaping is 
proposed on that land. I am satisfied, absent any adverse representations, 
that the revised plan, and consequential amendments to other drawings, 

would not amount to a fundamental change to the application or result in 
procedural unfairness. 

Main Issues 

8. At the opening of the Inquiry I announced the main issues as follows: 

1) The landscape and visual effects of the proposal, including the effects 

on users of public highways and on public viewpoints, taking account of 
the proposed mitigation measures5.  

2) The implications of, and the weight to be given to, the loss of best and 
most versatile agricultural land. 

 
2  CD 4.14 
3  CD 12.8 
4  CD 14.3 Prepared by Dr Tim Jenkins, PhD, MA, BA(Hons) FRSA, FRHistS 
5  This issue differs from that identified at the Case Management Conference by the addition of the words 

‘including …… viewpoints’ to reflect the evidence presented  

Page 90

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

3) Whether the proposed off-site mitigation6 would provide an appropriate 

safe and undisturbed environment for successful Skylark nesting.  

4) The effect of the proposal on the setting and significance of heritage 

assets. 

5) The nature and extent of the benefits of the proposal and whether 
these would outweigh any harm arising from the issues above. 

Reasons 

Issue One:  
The landscape and visual effects of the proposal, including the effects on users of public 
highways and on public viewpoints, taking account of the proposed mitigation measures 

Introduction 

9. There is no dispute about the methodology used relating to landscape 
character and visual effects, including viewpoints and visualisations. It is 
common ground that the appeal site and the majority of the study area falls 

within the Estate Farmlands Landscape Character Type (LCT). It is also 
agreed that the site is not a ‘valued landscape’ for the purposes of paragraph 
180 a) of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework).  

Landscape character 

10. The Shropshire Landscape Typology identifies the key characteristics of the 
Estate Farmlands as mixed farming land use; clustered settlement pattern; 
large country houses with associated parklands; planned woodland character 

and medium to large scale landscapes with framed views. They are described 
as gently rolling lowland and valley floor landscapes.   

11. The parties agree, in general terms, that the landscape typology, as a whole, 
is capable of accommodating the sort of development proposed. The material 

difference arises in relation to the judgements on the landscape character of 
the appeal site and its immediate locality with Flour not Power promoting 

‘high’ rather than ‘medium’ sensitivity. This is based largely on the openness 
of the site, in part; its elevation; lack of planned woodland blocks; and 
absence of framed views. 

12. The Appellant acknowledges that there would be visibility of the south facing 
slopes within the appeal site, from the open countryside, which would extend  
to approximately 0.5km from the appeal site. The site is judged to be of 

high, rather than medium, susceptibility to the changes arising from the 
appeal proposal based on the consideration of the nature of the local 

landscape, which is currently undeveloped open countryside, and its relative 
openness to views from the south. I agree. 

13. However, I disagree with the Appellant’s claim that ‘The site does, however, 

have some ability to accommodate the proposed development by building on the 

existing green infrastructure which is typical of the Estate Farmlands LCT which 

would help minimise the change to its baseline character’7. In this regard, 
although the proposal would retain as many landscape features as possible, 

and provide reinforcement of hedgerows and additional planting, none of this 
would ameliorate the inevitable change to the baseline character when 

assessed in the locality of the site to the south. 

 
6  ‘mitigation’ reflects the reason for refusal 3 – hereafter referred to as ‘compensation’ to reflect evidence  
7  CD 12.4 paragraph 6.2.4 

Page 91

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

14. I accept the Appellant’s judgement on value and susceptibility, together, for 

the landscape character type. However, I consider that the lack of visual 
containment to the south of the appeal site, in particular, undermines the 

ability of the landscape to absorb the sort of development proposed without 
a fundamental change to its character at a localised level. 

15. The Appellant’s assessment of landscape effects during construction 

acknowledges that ‘the character would change from relatively tranquil agricultural 

fields to a construction site with commensurate short-term movement and activity’. 

Whilst localised in relation to the Estate Farmlands as a whole, activity is 
likely to be large in scale, intense and pervasive, spreading across a wide 
tract of open aspect countryside landscape. In my opinion, the Appellant has 

underestimated the ‘short-term’ effects. 

16. The Appellant indicates that during operation, the overall effects at site level 

would be ‘major/moderate’ adverse and permanent. From the immediate 
locality it is said that ‘The solar panels and ancillary equipment would permanently 

alter the character of the site from an arable field, however, the pastoral grassland 

beneath the panels would retain an element of agricultural use and the tranquility 

[sic] of the site would be largely unaffected. In addition, the appeal proposals would 

not affect the openness or scale of the landscape as it would not affect topography 

and would sit within the existing field structure’. 

17. To my mind, the perception of a retained agricultural use would be minimal 
as a significant part of the appeal site would be dominated by the proposed 

solar panels and related infrastructure. The appeal site would take on a 
wholly different character, and the nature and scale of the development 

would inevitably diminish the openness of the landscape, by spreading an 
incongruous form of development across a wide swathe of countryside, and 
fracturing its continuity.  

18. Moreover, lines of rigid arrays, running counter-intuitively to site contours 
and aspect, would introduce disorder and conflict with the undulating 

topography of the appeal site. Although the proposal would sit within the 
existing field structure, this would offer little consolation to the undeniable 
serious adverse effect on landscape character at the local level. 

19. The Appellant states that the changes ‘…… would result in medium scale effects 

initially which would reduce to medium/small over the long term as the proposed 

planting matures; the landscape structure of the site would be strengthened albeit 

solar panels would remain perceptible on land as it rises to the north of the site’. 
Again, whilst acknowledging that the maturity of the landscape structure will 

improve over time, I consider that its capability to absorb the development 
to any material degree would be minimal, given the nature of site 
topography and the limitations in the ability to secure meaningful foreground 

softening and filtering from the south.   

20. In summary, I consider that the appeal proposal would have minimal effect 

on the Estate Farmlands typology. However, even with the benefit of 
intended mitigation, the proposed development would have a significant 
adverse impact on landscape character at the local level. 

Visual effects 

21. The parties agree on the assessment of the value and susceptibility of visual 
receptors with a ‘high’ sensitivity for users of public rights of way and 

Page 92

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

residential properties and a ‘medium’ sensitivity for road users in the vicinity 

of the site. I shall review the differing judgements reached by the parties on 
effects by reference to the main viewpoints in dispute. 

The public highway to Cantlop Mill (Viewpoints 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6) 

22. The single track public highway runs between the eastern and western fields 
of the appeal site and terminates at the former mill. It serves the residents 

of the former mill and also those who choose to walk the lane to, and 
beyond, the mill in the direction of Cantlop (noting the adverse condition of 

part of the route beyond the mill).   

23. Although Flour not Power suggests that these viewpoints have been selected 
where there is optimal vegetation and where the road is sunken, I am 

satisfied that they are representative.  

24. Indeed, much of the lane is bordered by hedgerow and parts of the route lie 
well below field level. Flour not Power’s assertion that field hedgerows are 
‘…… degraded and gappy, outgrown and missing (in places) ……’ is overstated, in 

my view, and supplementary planting and management would be capable of 
remedying deficiencies within a modest timescale. 

25. Starting with the construction phase, receptors would be able to see the 
progression of construction activity, either directly, obliquely or glimpsed, as 
it evolves on either side of the lane. This would be particularly acute where 
the access track crosses the highway from the western parcel and into the 

eastern field. The Appellant accepts that the scale of change for users of the 
lane would be ‘large/medium’ over a localised extent and short duration. In 

my opinion, as the highway passes between the two parcels of the 
construction site, I would assess the scale of change to be within the upper 

part of that range. 

26. Taking the lane from the junction with Cliff Hollow Road, users would have 
more-or-less unimpeded views of the north-western sector of the eastern 
field parcel. This represents a small part of the overall development and 

prominence would be restricted to about 100m of the road. However, the 
nearest line of arrays, beyond the new boundary fence, would represent an 

immediate focus, above very limited foreground vegetation, at or near the 
break between land and sky. Nonetheless, reinforcement tree and hedgerow 
planting along the northern boundary would, at year fifteen, be capable of 

reducing the adverse impact to some degree. 

27. The most telling impacts would be in the vicinity of the crossing points, 
where open gaps would provide views across the development parcels 

bringing the scale of the overall project to the fore. Although the panels 
would be set back from the road, the alignment of the arrays, parallel with 

the road and forming a seemingly unbroken mass, would be particularly 
noticeable, incapable of mitigation and highly uncharacteristic.  

28. Elsewhere along the lane, impressions of the development would be fleeting 
and heavily filtered and reducing as hedgerow reinforcement matures.  

29. Despite the harmful effects that I have described, these would not amount to 
‘a visually oppressive effect for users of the publicly maintained highway leading to 

Cantlop Mill ……’8 as alleged. 

 
8  CD 3.2 Reason for Refusal 2; CD 4.11 paragraph 28 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

Public Rights of Way 0407/16/1 (Viewpoint 11) and 0407/1/1 (Viewpoint 12) 

30. These two public rights of way run to the east of the appeal site with the 

former being the closer of the two. In addition, viewpoint 11 observes the 
eastern parcel at or close to the skyline, whereas in viewpoint 12 the eastern 

field sits firmly in a layered landscape with distant backdrop hills.   

31. Given the manner in which these routes have wide and varied aspect, 
combined with undulating topography and vegetation, I disagree with Flour 

not Power’s assessment that the magnitude of change from construction 
activity would be major adverse on the premise that the project, or part of 

it, would become the dominant feature or focal point of the view. 

32. As to the operational phase, users of public right of way 0407/16/1 would 

experience the greater impacts, albeit views of the eastern field are not 
continuous as a result of undulating topography and intervening hedgerow 
boundaries.   

33. Where there is open aspect, a wide expanse of the arrays would be highly 
dominant and intrusive in the mid-ground. They would be seen rising 

towards the crown of the eastern field and viewed either close to, or - in the 
case of the north-eastern corner - above the skyline. This would be in stark 
contrast to the backdrop hills to the west. On this basis, any reinforcement 

of the eastern boundary of the eastern parcel, by way of hedgerow planting 
and tree cover, would have minimal perceptible mitigating effect and the 

adverse intrusive impacts of the development would remain apparent for the 
duration of the project 

Public Right of Way 0407/5R/2 (Viewpoint 15)  

34. The right of way is situated some 0.5km (nearest point) south/south-west of 
the two appeal site parcels and directly west of the hamlet of Cantlop.   

35. The two fields form a wide, almost continuous, arc in the undulating 

countryside. During the construction phase, the quintessential, tranquil, 
agricultural character and appearance of the appeal site would progressively 

give way to extensive change in the landscape with related activity and new 
infrastructure.  

36. On completion, as with the construction phase, the entirety of the 

development would not be visible in a single view. The western parcel 
benefits from some screening from woodland outside its south-western 

corner and the lower sections of both fields are masked to varying degrees 
by vegetation and/or topography.  

37. Nonetheless, the viewer would be looking over falling ground towards the 

Cound Brook and its vegetated corridor. The related rise in topography and 
the placing of arrays on ascending ground, across a wide swathe of 

countryside, would have a long-term marked adverse effect on visual 
amenity and the experience of walking to and from Cantlop. Additional 
landscaping, reinforcing the foreground hedgerows of the appeal site, would 

offer little solace to the overall extensive adverse impact. 

38. For completeness, albeit not of any great importance, a significant part of 

the development in the western parcel, and a small element in the eastern 

Page 94

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

parcel, would be clearly visible from a field gateway (viewpoint 17) at the 

crossroads junction leading into Cantlop.  

39. More significantly, from the unnamed road in Cantlop (Viewpoint 14), 

sizeable portions of the installation in the eastern sector of the western field 
and across the eastern parcel would be an inevitable large scale blemish on 
the landscape for the duration of the development. Whilst there is no alleged 

impact on the amenity of residential properties in this part of the hamlet, 
local residents would experience the transformation to the rural landscape on 

a daily basis.  

Other local highways (Viewpoints 1, 7, 9 and 19) 

40. Starting with Cliff Hollow Road, beyond the lane to Cantlop Mill (viewpoint 

1), much of the single-width road is bordered by hedgerow or sunken below 
the site, with the exception of two distinct field openings which would 
provide oblique views into the western parcel.  

41. Construction phase effects would be localised and limited. On completion, 
the arrays would be set back at varying distances from the road and with 

hedgerow reinforcement, where necessary, the majority of the infrastructure 
would not be discernible. Despite the illustrated dense tall planting proposed 
at viewpoint 1, resulting in the loss of an extensive vista, I consider that it 

would be possible to devise a scheme that would provide a better balance 
between mitigation and the open aspect at this point. 

42. Continuing with Cliff Hollow Road, between Berrington and the lane to 
Cantlop Mill (viewpoint 7), impacts would be contained to a small part of the 
eastern parcel and a minor part of the western field. These are likely to 

remain for the former during the operation of the installation. 

43. The road from Newmam Hall Cottages into Berrington, borders the eastern 

boundary of the eastern parcel. Hedgerow precludes or filters views into the 
field which would limit construction phase effects and, with hedgerow 
reinforcement, any longer term effects would be minimal. 

44. Viewpoint 19 relates to the north-western corner of the western parcel which 
sits well above road level and is bordered by a good hedgerow. It is 

representative of the road from the Cliff Hollow crossroads leading to the 
main site entrance. Impacts here, either during the construction or 
operational phases would be very minor. 

Conclusion 

45. It is acknowledged that the Officer Report restricted its reference to visual 
impacts to those at Cantlop and from the road leading to Cantlop Mill. 

Moreover, the Council’s landscape adviser had supported the Appellant’s 
Landscape and Visual Assessment methodology and conclusions that ‘the 

proposals can be accepted in terms of visual and landscape effects’9. 

46. I also note that the Council’s landscape evidence accepts the landscape 
effects assessed by the Appellant; and the visual effects on local residential 

properties are also agreed. The assessed effects on users of three public 
rights of way are also confirmed. 

47. The Council’s decision to refuse planning permission, reason two, alleged 
adverse visual impact at the two locations referred to by the Officer and 

 
9  CD 3.1 paragraphs 6.5.7 & 6.5.8 

Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

added other publicly accessible views from the Berrington Road and the 

Eaton Mascot Road. Further ‘affected’ locations have arisen from public 
representations and the evidence for Flour not Power. 

48. Taken in the round, it is my judgement that the proposed development 
would have a significant adverse effect on landscape character by changing 
its fundamental characteristics of a medium to large scale landscape at a 
local level.  

49. In terms of visual effects, there would be some marked adverse effects 
arising from the construction phase but, more typically, from the long-term 
operational phase. Although these would not be consistent around the site, 

the most telling adverse effects would be from a southerly direction, 
reflecting the predominantly open southerly sloping orientation of the appeal 
site. The limitations of existing foreground filtering and the limited 

opportunity to remedy this through supplementary planting are a significant 
negative factor. The adverse impact of the scheme viewed from parts of 

public right of way 0407/16/1, in particular, is also an important factor.  

50. In strategic policy terms, Core Strategy Policies CS6 and CS17, in short, 
require all development to (at least) protect the natural environment taking 

into account local context and character. SAMDev10 Policy MD12 is of similar 
vein, cross-referenced to the above policies, and indicates that proposals 
having a significant adverse effect on ‘…… visual amenity and landscape 

character and local distinctiveness’ will only be permitted if it can be clearly 
demonstrated that ‘the social or economic benefits of the proposal outweigh the 

harm to the asset’. 

51. It is also relevant to recount the Planning Practice Guidance which advises: 
‘The deployment of large-scale solar farms can have a negative impact on the rural 

environment, particularly in undulating landscapes. However, the visual impact of a 

well-planned and well-screened solar farm can be properly addressed within the 

landscape if planned sensitively’.  

52. Indeed, the Appellant does not shy away from acknowledging that the long-
term effects would be ‘moderate adverse and permanent’ and ‘views from the 

south and east would be difficult to screen further’ beyond the mitigation 

proposed11.  

53. Overall, whilst some landscape and visual harm is generally to be expected 
from solar developments of the scale proposed, and found to be acceptable, 

in this instance the extent of the appeal site, its topography and open aspect 
to views from the south and east, and the limited effects of minimising 
those, indicate significant negative weight should be carried into the 

planning balance within the fifth main issue.  

Issue Two: 
The implications of, and the weight to be given to, the loss of best and most versatile 

agricultural land 

Policy and guidance 

54. With reference to best and most versatile agricultural land, Core Strategy 
Policy CS6 requires all development to make the most effective use of land, 

including high quality agricultural land.  

 
10  Site Allocations and Management of Development Plan (2015) 
11  IN20 paragraph 7.3 (11) 

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          9 

55. Policy DP26 (2k) of the Draft Local Plan, in relation to large scale ground 

mounted solar farm proposals, indicates that ‘where a proposal requires the use 

of agricultural land, poorer quality land should be used in preference to land of a 

higher quality (see also Policy DP18)’.  

56. Policy DP18 (5) encourages the re-use of brownfield land; and DP18 (4) 
confirms that ‘development should avoid Shropshire’s best and most versatile 

agricultural land (grades 1, 2 and 3a) wherever possible, unless the need for and 

benefit of the development justifies the scale and nature of the loss’. 

57. In turn, the Framework, at paragraph 180, explains that planning decisions 

should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by, 
amongst other things, ‘recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 

countryside …… including the economic and other benefits of the best and most 

versatile agricultural land ……’. 

58. Footnote 62, in relation to paragraph 181 and guidance on plans, tells us: 
‘Where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, 

areas of poorer quality land should be preferred to those of a higher quality ……’. 

59. Allied to this, the Planning Practice Guidance12 also confirms that ‘where a 

proposal involves greenfield land, whether (i) the proposed use of any agricultural 

land has been shown to be necessary and poorer quality land has been used in 

preference to higher quality land; and (ii) the proposal allows for continued 

agricultural use ……’. 

60. A further material consideration is the Written Ministerial Statement, made 
on 25 March 2015, which predated the Practice Guidance. By way of extract: 
‘Meeting our energy goals should not be used to justify the wrong development in 

the wrong location and this includes unnecessary use of high quality agricultural land 

…… we want to be clear that any proposal for a solar farm involving the best and 

most versatile agricultural land would need to be justified by the most compelling 

evidence’.  

61. Most recently, National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy 

Infrastructure (EN-3)13 states: ‘While land type should not be a predominating 

factor in determining the suitability of the site location applicants should, where 

possible, utilise suitable previously developed land, brownfield land, contaminated 

land and industrial land. Where the proposed use of any agricultural land has been 

shown to be necessary, poorer quality land should be preferred to higher quality 

land avoiding the use of “Best and Most Versatile” agricultural land where possible’. 

62. Drawing these threads together, none of the documents, in particular the 
development plan, place an embargo on the use of best and most versatile 
agricultural land. In terms of material considerations, the Draft Local Plan, in 

general terms, follows the thrust of the Framework, the Planning Practice 
Guidance and EN-3. The Written Ministerial Statement, with its ‘higher bar’, 

remains extant alongside subsequent guidance. 

Site selection 

63. The Sequential Site Selection Report14 accompanying the planning 

application, which claimed to have taken a ‘robust approach to identify 

sequentially preferrable sites for the proposed development’, was criticised, by the 
Council, in the choice of brownfield sites for assessment and the failure to 

consider any other greenfield sites.    

 
12  CD 6.2 Renewable and low carbon energy – Published 18 June 2015; last updated 14 August 2023 
13  CD 6.4 Paragraph 2.10.29 (November 2023) 
14  CD 1.13 

Page 97

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          10 

64. The later Sequential Site Selection Report Addendum: Sites Assessment15 

was also derided by reference to its limited area of search, the size of land 
parcels assessed, lack of detail and the likelihood of lower grade agricultural 

land based on Natural England’s Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) 
mapping. 

65. It is evident that the key factor defining the area of search was based on the 

offer of a grid connection between the substations at Bayston Hill and Cross 
Houses. Whilst like-for-like land parcels might have been to some 

advantage, the document is in summary form and the ALC mapping 
identifies much of the land in the same category as the appeal site (60% 
probability of best and most versatile agricultural land).  

66. To my mind, based on the critical importance of a viable grid connection, a 
3km search area appears proportionate in the circumstances of this case. 

There are also a number of other important factors, described in the 
Addendum, which explain the exercise adopted by the Appellant.  

67. It is easy for opponents to claim ‘fundamental flaws’ in the process by 

suggesting that there are large areas of likely poorer quality land elsewhere 
(mainly in the north of the county); there is no requirement to approach 

other landowners; and the analysis by sub-dividing one of the larger parcels 
identified in the Addendum, and surmising suitability, appears to be ruled 
out by the likelihood of another party promoting a scheme in the future.  

68. Moreover, there is no policy requirement to carry out an evaluation of 
alternative sites or guidance on the contents of such reports. 

Understandably, they will be at a relatively ‘high-level’, as detailed 
assessment of sites within a given radius would be disproportionate. In any 
event, it would not be feasible to carry out detailed ALC assessments, for 

example, without the permission of landowners.  

69. Further, the legal position is common ground with reference to Bramley16 in 

which it was held ‘…… the PPG does not mandate the consideration of alternatives. 

Still less does it require a sequential test be adopted ……’. 

Agricultural land quality 

70. I now turn to the site specific considerations and the composition of the 
appeal site in terms of agricultural land quality. It is common ground that 

approximately 88% of the land surveyed within the site is best and most versatile 

agricultural land. 

71. The Agricultural Land Classification Survey17, that accompanied the planning 
application, reports 22.4ha of Grade 2 land; 12.4ha of Subgrade 3a land; 

and 4.9ha of Subgrade 3b land. It is recorded that 1.7ha was not surveyed. 

72. The underlying geology is the Salop Formation – a mudstone and sandstone 

conglomerate. The soils over much of the site are shown as predominantly 
deep reddish fine loamy soils with some deep well drained coarse loamy 
soils, which are widespread across the district and the wider region. 

 
15  CD 4.5 
16  CD 7.1 Bramley Solar Farm Residents Group and Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

[2023] EWHC 2842 (Admin) before Mrs J Lang DBE (15 November 2023) 
17  CD 1.3 

Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          11 

73. Flour not Power criticises the ALC for not mapping land of Grade 1 quality 

within the site. However, whilst it would have been possible to do so, there 
is no obfuscation as the survey details, within Appendix 3, identify those 

auger borings where Grade I land was found. Indeed, some 13 of the 41 
sample points indicated Grade 1 land, grouped in the south-western and 
south-easterly corners of the western field and in similar locations in the 

eastern field. These tend to be within the more acutely sloping parts of the 
appeal site.  

74. Whilst the key to the auger records lists ten potential limitations, including 
‘gradient’, only two are recorded in the table of survey details, namely 
‘droughtiness’ and ‘wetness’. It is also noted that the Executive Summary to 

the ALC notes ‘The main limitations to the agricultural use of the land include soil 

wetness or soil droughtiness’.  

75. Moreover, paragraph 1.1 states: ‘The land is [sic] falls very gently (0- 3°) from 

the boundary with Cliff Hollow to the southern boundary. In the north-western part 

of the site there is a ‘valley’ feature with some slopes of 8°’. The MAFF 

guidelines18 indicate the gradient limit for Grades 1 and 2 and Subgrade 3a 
to be of 7°. 

76. The Appellant’s proof, reinforced in evidence at the Inquiry, acknowledges 

the presence of Grade 1 profiles within the appeal site, noting that ‘in the 

south part of the site the soil textures are variable and the land falls to the field 

boundary’. Although recording in the ALC appears to have been somewhat 
superficial and vague, it is evident to me that parts of the appeal site are 
likely to be constrained by gradient.  

77. On this basis, I accept that the surveyor undertaking the ALC was entitled, 
as a matter of professional judgement, to take a rounded view having 

particular regard to the MAFF descriptions of ALC grades and subgrades. In 
addition, the guidelines provide a framework for classifying land, recognising 
the effects of limiting factors and that variability within a discrete area is to 

be expected19; and the implications for soil management, cropping decisions 
and yields.  

78. Flour not Power also suggested that some of the limitations could be 
remedied by irrigation. This would elevate a further four auger locations to 
Grade 1, three of which would be adjacent to other Grade 1 borings, and 

uplift three borings from Subgrade 3a to Grade 2. It acknowledges, however, 
that upgrading the land due to irrigation would not change the overall 

percentage of best and most versatile agricultural land within the appeal 
site. 

79. It remained in dispute as to whether or not the MAFF guidelines on irrigation 

continued to be a relevant factor after 1997. Either way, and irrespective of 
the reservoir adjacent to the appeal site boundary, there is nothing to 

suggest that the discreet areas of ‘better land’ would determine the overall 
characteristics and use of either of the two fields forming the appeal site. 

 

 
18  CD 9.1 
19  CD 9.1 – The Inspector notes that the guidance expects this to be identified where the mapping scale permits 

as indicated by Flour not Power 

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          12 

 Construction and operational effects  

80. The primary comprehensive Statement of Common Ground between the 

Appellant and the Council accepts that the proposal is temporary; it will not 
result in permanent loss of agricultural land subject to adherence with a Soil 

Management Plan; and some agricultural activity, such as grazing, could 
continue during the operational phase. 

81. In turn, the soil specific Statement of Common Ground between the 

Appellant and Flour not Power confirms that the outline soil management 
plan sets out the best practice methodology for the management of the soil 

resources; and that a detailed management plan can be prepared for the 
whole life - from pre-construction to decommissioning of the proposed solar 

farm - to ensure the protection and conservation of all soil resources and 
follow best practice to maintain the physical properties of the soils on site. 

82. Two related points of dispute are whether there is an adverse impact 

resulting from the loss of arable production potential during the lifetime of 
the development; and whether the site would be capable of being reverted 

to best and most versatile agricultural land. 

83. The Planning Practice Guidance confirms that the consideration of whether 
continued agricultural use is a material factor; and indicates that solar farms 

are normally temporary structures and planning conditions can be imposed 
to ensure the land is restored to its previous use. 

84. National Policy Statement EN-3 explains that ‘where sited on agricultural land, 

consideration may be given as to whether the proposal allows for continued 

agricultural use ……’. It also encourages the development and implementation 

of a Soil Resources and Management Plan and confirms that a ‘time limited 

consent, where granted, is described as temporary because there is a finite period 

for which it exists ……’ 20. 

85. The same document provides some detail in relation to mitigating potential 
effects on soils as follows: ‘The Defra Construction code of practice for the 

sustainable use of soils on construction sites21 provides guidance on ensuring that 

damage to soil during construction is mitigated and minimised. Mitigation measures 

focus on minimising damage to soil that remains in place, and minimising damage to 

soil being excavated and stockpiled. The measures aim to preserve soil health and 

soil structure to minimise soil carbon loss and maintain water infiltration and soil 

biodiversity. Mitigation measures for agricultural soils include use of green cover, 

multispecies cover crops - especially during the winter - minimising compaction and 

adding soil organic matter’22.  

86. These extracts, in particular, undermine Flour not Power’s view that ‘there is 

little evidence provided that the site will ever return to formal agriculture, let alone 

arable farming, or that its fertility and soil health will be maintained’. Further 
criticism is made of the content of the ALC and the outline soil management 
plan. 

87. The declared purpose of the Soil Management Plan (Outline) is: ‘to ensure the 

protection and conservation of soil resources on site; identify best practice to 

maintain the physical properties of the soils on site; provide on-site reference on the 

 
20  CD 6.4 paragraphs 2.10.32; 2.10.34; 2.10.66 
21  CD 9.2 
22  CD 6.4 paragraph 2.10.27 

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          13 

management of the soil resource for site operators’; and ‘to ensure that the land is 

physically capable of reverting to arable production at the end of the life of the solar 

farm’. It would apply at each of the three stages of the project, namely, 
construction, operation and de-commissioning. 

88. I am satisfied that the document follows good practice, developed and 
established over a number of years and supplemented by the recent IEMA  

‘A New Perspective on Land and Soil in Environmental Impact Assessment’23. 
Draft condition 25 would secure further details before works could 
commence.  

89. Although particular concern has been expressed about soil compaction, such 
factors as soil texture, moisture content and soil condition would be 

assessed; and works and trafficking would be controlled through the 
appropriate site management of operations in accordance with the scheme 
to be approved. 

90. Indeed, whilst I acknowledge the concerns raised, the evidence of Flour not 
Power’s expert witness admits, having illustrated the kinds of soil structural 

damage that can occur, that ‘a detailed soil management plan is essential for the 

construction operation and decommissioning of the Solar Site’24.  

91. Overall, given the ability to determine methods of working with appropriate 

safeguards and monitoring, I am satisfied that soil structure, health and 
future productivity could be maintained. 

92. Finally, although grazing livestock amongst solar arrays is not without 
difficulty, the Agricultural Good Practice Guidance for Solar Farms25 confirms 
the common practice of grazing the land between and underneath the solar 

arrays typically by sheep or free-ranging poultry. It also sets out times when 
grazing might be restricted and indicates when pasture management 

interventions might be required. 

93. In this regard, draft condition 21 would secure a scheme providing measures 

to facilitate sustainable grazing, including grass sward specification, potential 
stocking type and density and a monitoring regime. Whilst Flour not Power 
claims that ‘the reality is that ‘nothing’ grows under the panels, or that only weeds 

grow and must be sprayed’, the Natural Capital Best Practice Guidance provides 
cogent reassurance.  

94. Although maligned as an ‘industry publication’ under the banner of Solar 
Energy UK, the Forward is written by the Chair of Natural England. Whilst 
much of the document is aimed at natural capital enhancement, the role of 

sheep-grazing is recognised and guidance is provided on operational 
measures for grassland management and ‘control of injurious weeds’ without 

extensive recourse to chemical controls. Moreover, the single axis tracker 
system and employment of panels oriented east-west, as opposed to fixed 
tilt panels facing south, is likely to reduce under-panel shading. 

95. Overall, I conclude that in relation to the construction, operational and 
decommissioning phases, there is nothing of substance to counter the 

Appellant’s position that the physical characteristics of the soil, subject to 
safeguarding measures, and land quality would remain at the end of a forty-
year temporary permission. 

 
23  CD 9.10 Institute of Environmental Management & Assessment (IEMA) Guide – February 2022 
24  CD 14.2 paragraph 5.25 
25  CD 9.3 

Page 101

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          14 

Food production and food security 

96. Paragraph 124 b) of the Framework recognises the role of land for food 

production and Footnote 62 to paragraph 181 states: ‘The availability of 

agricultural land used for food production should be considered, alongside the other 

policies in this Framework, when deciding what sites are most appropriate for 

development’. 

97. It is understandable that the consideration of food security has attracted 

greater prominence with recent conflict in Ukraine and the Middle East. Prior 
to these events, the Agriculture Act 2020 imposed a new duty on the 
relevant Secretary of State to report to Parliament on food security in the 

United Kingdom at least once every three years. 

98. The UK Food Security Report 2021, a weighty document, reflects the 

statement ‘Food security has many dimensions. As a topic, it encompasses the 

state of global agriculture and markets on which the UK is reliant; the sources of raw 

materials and foodstuffs in the UK and abroad; the manufacturing, wholesale, and 

retail industries that ultimately bring food to shelves and plates, and their complex 

supply chains of inputs and logistics; and the systems of inspection that allow 

consumers to be confident their food is safe, authentic, and of a high standard’26. 

99. The document acknowledges that although the UK is around 75% self-

sufficient in foodstuffs that can be produced domestically, almost half of food 
consumed in the UK is imported. It notes, under the heading ‘Theme 1: 

Global Food Supply’, that ‘global food supply and availability has improved since 

2010, which is a positive sign for the UK’s overall food security’ and ‘projected 

growth in agricultural production will be largely due to increasing cereal yields and 

efficiency improvements in meat and dairy production ……’. However, it warns that 
‘several factors threaten the stability and long-term sustainability of global food 

production: climate change and climate variability, biodiversity loss ……’.  

100. A key message from ‘Theme 2: UK food Supply Sources’ is: ‘the biggest 

medium to long term risk to the UK’s domestic production comes from climate 

change and other environmental pressures like soil degradation, water quality and 

biodiversity. Wheat yields dropped by 40% in 2020 due to heavy rainfall and 

droughts at bad times in the growing season. Although they have bounced back in 

2021, this is an indicator of the effect that increasingly unreliable weather patterns 

may have on future production’. 

101. The two fields within the appeal site are currently used for arable crop 
production, on rotation, that can be used for food production or animal 

feeds, with oil seed rape also having industrial applications. It is estimated 
that the yield from a wheat crop covering the appeal site would be some 

0.002% of the national yield and about 0.003% for an oat crop. The 
contribution to the county’s cereal yield would be about 0.06%. 

102. It can be seen that the potential contribution of the appeal site to county and 

national food supply production and security is very small and insufficient to 
tell against the appeal proposal. Indeed, there is a balance to be struck 

between the temporary loss of best and most versatile agricultural land and 
renewable energy generation. 

 

 

 
26  CD 9.5 page 7 ’What is food security’. 

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          15 

Farm diversification 

103. The Appellant’s Agricultural Production Assessment27 indicates that 

Berrington Farm extends to 152.6ha. Some 58ha was entered into an Entry 
Level and Higher Level Stewardship Agreement in 2012 with related 
payments. These will reduce as a result of the Agricultural Transition and the 

farm business will lose a significant part of its income. It is said that the 
appeal proposal would provide an additional income stream to support the 

wider agricultural enterprise and result in biodiversity net gains. 

104. It is argued by the Appellant that the proposal would represent economic 
diversification within Core Strategy Policy CS13. This is disputed by the 
Council, claiming that such proposals lie out-with the types of development 

anticipated by the policy. However, this is at odds with the position the 
Council took at the Kemberton Inquiry by reference to paragraph 56 of the 

appeal decision: ‘…… at the inquiry, the Council acknowledged that the use of 

agricultural land for solar energy is an example of economic activity associated with 

agricultural and farm diversification even if not listed as such in this policy ……’28.  

105. Policy CS13 reads: ‘Shropshire Council, working with its partners, will plan 

positively to develop and diversify the Shropshire economy, supporting enterprise, 

and seeking to deliver sustainable economic growth and prosperous communities. In 

doing so, particular emphasis will be placed on: …… in rural areas, recognising the 

continued importance of farming for food production and supporting rural enterprise 

and diversification of the economy, in particular areas of economic activity 

associated with agricultural and farm diversification, forestry, green tourism and 

leisure, food and drink processing, and promotion of local food and supply chains. 

Development proposals must accord with Policy CS5’. 

106. To my mind, the policy does not clearly define, or indeed restrict, ‘farm 

diversification’ and the explanatory text takes matters no further in its 

reference to ‘agricultural and non-agricultural farm diversification’. Plain reading 
does not indicate to me that the proposal would conflict with Policy CS13. 

Conclusion 

107. In summary, I am satisfied that the Site Sequential Selection Report and its 
Addendum provides clear support for the development of the proposed solar 

farm on the appeal site. Inevitably, for the lifetime of the development, best 
and most versatile land would not be capable of use for its full agricultural 

potential, albeit some grazing could take place. However, the site would be 
capable of restoration to at least its current quality at the end of the forty 
year period. I have found no adverse effects relating to food production and 

food security and there would be a benefit to the farm business arising from 
the proposal.  

108. In my opinion, the harm arising from the failure to make the most effective 
use of high quality agricultural land, and conflict with Core Policy CS6, is a 
factor of moderate negative weight. Draft Local Plan Policies DP26(k) and 
DP18(4), which merit moderate weight consistent with progress to adoption, 

when read together, seek to avoid the loss of best and most versatile 
agricultural land wherever possible, unless the need for, and benefit of, the 

development justifies the scale and nature of the loss. National guidance is 
also a material consideration. These are matters for further consideration in 
the assessment of the fifth main issue and the overall planning balance.  

 
27  CD 1.20 
28  CD 7.40 paragraphs 55 -56 

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          16 

Issue Three:  
Whether the proposed off-site compensation would provide an appropriate safe and 

undisturbed environment for successful Skylark nesting 

Introduction 

109. It is noted that the Appellant and the Council agree that sufficient 
environmental information is available for the purposes of impact 

assessment. I do not have a contrary view. 

110. By way of background, the Officer Report contains brief reference to 

Skylarks subsumed within the Ecology sub-section of ‘Other environmental 
considerations’ as follows: 

‘An Updated Layout Plan and Landscape Masterplan have been prepared in response 

to comments received from SC Ecology. The updates are: …… Skylark Protection 

Areas: The proposed layout scheme now accommodates off-site ‘Skylark Protection 

Areas’ to the north of the proposed solar farm. These areas will be transformed into 

species rich grassland and will form suitable habitat for skylarks. This would be 

secured by means of a s106 legal agreement …… 

SC Ecology has not objected subject to a number of ecological conditions linked to 

habitat / biodiversity management / enhancement (included in Appendix 1). They 

requested further information in relation to mitigation for effects on Skylark habitat. 

In response the applicant has identified a specific area for Skylark mitigation in fields 

to the immediate north of the proposed site and has put forward specific 

management measures for this area to ensure that the habitat remains optimal for 

Skylark throughout the operational life of the proposed development. These 

provisions would be secured by means of a s106 Legal Agreement. Subject to this it 

is concluded that the Proposed Development complies with relevant planning policy 

regarding ecology / biodiversity (CS6, CS17, MD12).29 

111. In turn the decision to refuse planning permission states: 

‘Skylarks are protected under the EU Birds Directive 79/409/EEC. The application 

affects land which is used by Skylarks for nesting. The applicant proposes to 

mitigate for the loss of nesting opportunity by providing protected plots on land to 

the immediate north of the site. However, this land if of a different character and the 

general area is also used for seasonal shooting which may coincide with the Skylark 

nesting season. It is considered that the applicant has not demonstrated sufficiently 

that the proposed off-site mitigation would provide an appropriate safe and 

undisturbed environment for successful Skylark nesting. The proposals are therefore 

contrary to Core Strategy Policy CS17 and SAMDev policy MD12’30. 

112. During the Inquiry it was conceded that the shooting and nesting seasons 
did not coincide and this part of the reason for refusal was not pursued. 

Planning policy and guidance 

113. At this point it is helpful to set out the two relevant policies. Core Strategy 
Policy CS17 is a multi-dimensional policy seeking to ‘…… protect, enhance , 

expand and connect Shropshire’s environmental assets ……’. SAMDev Policy MD12, 
the natural environment, provides a more definite requirement: 

‘In accordance with Policies CS6, CS17 and through applying the guidance in the 

Natural Environment SPD, the avoidance of harm to Shropshire’s natural assets and 

their conservation, enhancement and restoration will be achieved by …… ensuring 

 
29  CD 3.1 paragraphs 6.7.7 & 6.7.8 
30  CD 3.2 Reason 3 

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          17 

that proposals which are likely to have a significant adverse effect, directly, 

indirectly or cumulatively on any of the following …… priority species …… will only be 

permitted if it can be clearly demonstrated that:  

a) there is no satisfactory alternative means of avoiding such impacts through re-

design or by relocating on an alternative site and;  

b) the social or economic benefits of the proposal outweigh the harm to the asset. 

In all cases, a hierarchy of mitigation then compensation measures will be sought’. 

114. In its Supplementary Statement of Case, the Council identified as relevant to 

its case Policies DP12 and DP26 of the emerging Local Plan. The former, in 
relation to priority species, repeats a) and b) of SAMDev Policy MD12 and 

adds:    

’Ensuring that where proposals meet these tests, mitigation measures to reduce the 

harm will be sought in the first instance. Compensation measures for residual harm 

will only be accepted as a last resort. Mitigation and compensation measures must 

be demonstrated to be achievable and be in accordance with policies DP14, DP15, 

DP16, DP17, DP19, DP22 and DP23. Appropriate conditions and/or planning 

obligations will be used to ensure that such measures are fully implemented and 

monitored where required’. 

115. Draft Policy DP26, in relation to new strategic infrastructure, indicates that 
new non-wind renewable and low carbon development will be supported 

where its impact is, or can be made acceptable and is cross-referenced to 
Draft Policy DP12.  

116. The Framework at paragraph 185 b), in relation to plans, seeks ‘…… the 

protection and recovery of priority species ……’. In relation to determining 
planning applications, at paragraph 186 a), the following principle should be 

applied:  

‘if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided 

(through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately 

mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be 

refused’.  

117. Circular 06/200531 advises that all species of birds are protected within Great 
Britain under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
Paragraphs 96 – 99, in relation to the conservation of species protected by 

law are to be read as a whole, but the focus of controversy at the Inquiry 
was paragraph 99: 

‘It is essential that the presence or otherwise of protected species, and the extent 

that they may be affected by the proposed development, is established before the 

planning permission is granted, otherwise all relevant material considerations may 

not have been addressed in making the decision …..’. 

118. Further, the Skylark is listed as a species of principal importance in England 
under section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006. They are also on the Red List in the Birds of Conservation Concern in 

the UK 2021. 

 

 
31  IN4 

Page 105

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          18 

Ecological Impact Assessment and development of a Skylark strategy 

119. The July 2022 assessment that accompanied the planning application 

reported the findings of the breeding bird surveys in the earlier part of the 
year, recording a total of 24 species breeding on the appeal site of which five 

species were red listed and seven were amber listed birds of conservation 
concern. The high number of Skylarks was of particular note with a minimum 
of 11 territories across the site. The site was assessed as ‘site and local 

importance’ for birds. 

120. Despite the importance of Skylarks, a declining species, and the anticipation 

of a net loss of habitat on site, the assessment assumed no significant 
effects on the population at local, regional or national levels as a result of 

the development. It concluded ‘similar alternative habitat is present within the 

immediate area, with Skylark present in all adjoining land parcels outside of the site 

boundary, and therefore no significant local scale impacts are expected’32. This has 

the hallmarks of being naïve and superficial.  

121. The amended report (January 2023) aimed to provide some remedy, noting 
the research of others that Skylarks are unlikely to nest amongst solar 

arrays, offered Skylark Protection Areas to be maintained as suitable nesting 
habitats alongside ‘…… similar alternative habitat present within the immediate 

area ……’33. 

122. Exchanges of correspondence between the Council and the Appellant sought 
to resolve the Council’s concerns about the adequacy and effectiveness of 

the proposed mitigation measures. In turn, the Appellant’s Skylark Mitigation 
and Management Plan (May 2023) identified 25ha of land to the north of the 

appeal site (‘the compensation land’) that was considered to be the nearest 
suitable land for compensation ‘…… and will easily accommodate the minimum 

required area of 6ha’34.  

123. Management regimes and conservation objectives were identified should the 
land be retained as pasture or if it were to revert to arable use. 

Establishing the relevant baselines 

124. The Council was particularly critical of the Appellant’s approach to, and 
recording of, the breeding bird survey on the appeal site and the 

presentation of information. Whilst it was countered that the absence of 
mid/late season surveys was a reasonable exercise of professional 
judgement, it is notable that the survey report was completed in July 2022 

shortly before the submission of the planning application. I also accept that 
record keeping might have been fuller and more transparent. Nonetheless, 

there is firm evidence of the importance of the appeal site to nesting 
Skylarks and I am content that the criticisms do not go to the heart of this 
main issue. 

125. The absence of corresponding surveys on the compensation land is 
understandable and would have served little informative purpose given the 

hitherto regime of intensive cattle grazing which is not conducive to Skylark 
nesting habitat. 

 
32  CD 1.24E [Superseded] section 6.1.9 
33  CD 1.23 section 6.2.5 
34  CD 1.15 section 3.2 

Page 106

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          19 

The compensation land 

126. The essence of this point, emerging from a lengthy debate at the Inquiry, is 

whether or not the compensation land would provide adequate nesting 
habitat for Skylarks displaced from the appeal site. The Appellant’s case, 

simply put, is that the Unilateral Undertaking, reinforced by a negatively 
worded planning condition, would provide certainty. 

127. Schedule 1 of the Unilateral Undertaking provides: 

‘The Owners covenant (to the extent that such obligations are applicable to their 

respective interests in the Mitigation Site and/or the Application Site as relevant) 

with the Council: 

1. Prior to Commencement of Development to implement the Skylark Mitigation 

Strategy secured by way of planning condition attached to the Planning 

Permission; 

2. Not to Commence Development unless and until the Skylark Mitigation 

Strategy has been implemented in full and written confirmation of such 

implementation has been issued to the Council; and  

3. To Maintain the Skylark Mitigation for the lifetime of the Development’. 

128. In turn, draft condition 2835 would preclude development until the Skylark 
Mitigation Strategy, following the principles of the May 2023 version with the 

addition of six criteria, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. 

129. The Planning Practice Guidance confirms that conditions requiring works on 

land that is not controlled by an applicant can be imposed in a negative form 
(a Grampian condition), prohibiting development authorised by a planning 

permission until a specified action has been taken. However, such conditions 
should not be used where there are no prospects at all of the action in 
question being performed within the time-limit imposed by the permission. It 

is not suggested that there are ‘no prospects’ and I agree. 

130. Nonetheless, a number of matters of disagreement remain in play. The first, 

regarding the lack of certainty about the future use and management regime 
for the mitigation land, flows from the ending of the Higher Level 
Stewardship Scheme and the potential for the site to revert to arable use 

(subject to approval by Natural England). Nonetheless, the Mitigation 
Strategy provides a series of principles for either of the outcomes.  

131. The Appellant’s witness was confident that the implementation of the 
mitigation strategy would provide adequate compensation for the displaced 
pairs of Skylarks. This was not just in terms of numbers but also by 

improving breeding productivity due to increased invertebrate availability on 
a qualitative basis. He also highlighted the certainty that would occur over 

the lifetime of the development as opposed to the unrestricted ability of a 
farmer to change cropping regimes without consideration of Skylark 

provision.  

132. However, that leaves in doubt the potential habitat carrying capacity of the 
compensation land which ultimately will depend on future land use. 

Irrespective of the debate about the possible conversion to arable, various 

 
35  The draft condition is not agreed by the Council or Flour not Power 

Page 107

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          20 

uses, including the spontaneous suggestion of organic set-aside, were 

canvassed in evidence reflecting an ascending hierarchy favourable to 
Skylarks.  

133. It is said ‘precisely how far up the hierarchy of habitat carrying capacity can be 

achieved will be a matter for discussion with and control by the Council’36. In my 
opinion, although the objective would be to seek to maximise this, and 

noting the interaction between qualitative and quantitative habitat provision, 
it does not assist in establishing the extent to which Skylarks might be 

affected. 

134. Moreover, it was argued that any potential impacts, to the extent that they 
might occur, would not be significant in terms of either the local, county or 

national populations and the conservation status of the species would be 
maintained.  

135. Indeed, the development plan and the Framework are written in the 
language of avoiding ‘significant’ adverse impacts. In addition, the 
development plan is phrased on the basis of avoiding harm to Shropshire’s 

natural assets and their conservation, enhancement and restoration. 

136. However, that does not suggest to me that impacts on protected species 

should be considered at what would be an artificially broad geographical 
area, since it would take a very substantial single loss or a cumulation of 
losses to reach such a high bar. To my mind, it is relevant to consider the 

materiality related to a site specific proposal. In fact, Natural England’s 
standing advice37 talks of ‘no net loss’ when assessing a planning application. 

137. Natural England’s advice also counters the claim that disproportionate 
consideration has been given to Skylarks on the basis that, in the Appellant’s 
experience, it is not usual to provide mitigation based on a definitive number 

of pairs of birds or number of animals. Insofar as I accept that proposition in 
general terms, here we have a recorded baseline of a minimum number of 

breeding pairs. If there is to be no net loss, then it would not be 
unreasonable to provide equivalence through compensation measures to the 
extent reasonably possible. 

138. Further to this point, whilst I recognise that the improvements to hedgerows, 
boundaries and margins on the appeal site would be of benefit to other red-

listed breeding bird species, there is nothing to suggest that gains for one or 
more other species should be a counterbalance for a proposal which would 
displace another priority species in decline. 

139. During the Inquiry, extensive reference was made, in particular, to an article 
by Harry Fox MCIEEM under the banner ‘Blithe Spirit: Are Skylarks Being 

Overlooked in Impact Assessment’. Although the paper is intended to 
provide a starting point for discussion and re-examination on ground-nesting 

birds (GNBs) mitigation, and carries minimal weight, it does highlight some 
understandable concerns by reference to the following extracts:  

‘While the fortunes of GNBs may be dramatically influenced by changes in 

agricultural policy, piecemeal developments have the potential to exacerbate local 

declines and place greater pressure on remaining habitats to absorb displaced birds 

 
36  IN20 paragraph 8.16 (8) 
37  CD 10.11 page 11 

Page 108

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          21 

…… it would appear there is an inconsistency in understanding of not only skylark 

ecology, but opinion on what might constitute an impact, and what mitigation could 

be employed ……’38. 

Conclusion 

140. From the foregoing it can be seen that the Appellant’s initial premise, that 

Skylarks would simply seek nesting opportunities elsewhere, evolved 
through several iterations culminating in an eventual proposition to provide 

off-site compensation.  

141. I am in no doubt that the appeal proposal is likely to have a significant 
adverse effect on a priority species, notably the Skylark which attracts 

significant negative weight. It has also been shown that there is no 
satisfactory alternative means of avoiding the adverse effect through re-

design or by re-locating on an alternative site. Development plan policy 
requires a corresponding exercise of balancing the social or economic 
benefits of the proposal.  

142. I return to this, and the consideration of the Grampian condition and 
Unilateral Undertaking in Issue Five and the planning balance below. 

Issue Four:  
The effect of the proposal on the setting and significance of heritage assets 
 
Introduction 

143. The Framework establishes that heritage assets ‘are an irreplaceable resource, 

and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they 

can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future 

generations’. 

144. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 sets out the statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 

or historic interest which it possesses in considering whether to grant 
planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its 

setting.  

145. The Appellant’s Built Heritage Statement recorded 31 designated heritage 
assets within a 1km radius of the appeal site; and none within its 

boundaries. It concluded that ‘…… the majority of the designated heritage assets 

within the 1km study area and beyond have no potential to be affected by the 

proposed development’. Closer analysis indicated that ‘only five designated 

heritage assets could potentially be affected by the proposed development’; and 
‘…… the proposed development will result in no negative impact on the heritage 

significance of these designated heritage assets via any change to their setting’39. 

146. Flour not Power’s Built Heritage Reappraisal notes the limitations of the 
Appellant’s survey site visit and seeks to demonstrate the intrinsic 

interconnectivity of the Cound Brook valley through the Parish as an 
important part of a wider heritage environment. 

 
38  CD 10.22 page 2 
39  CD 1.6 section 8 Conclusions 

Page 109

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          22 

147. It is said that ‘most of the extant historic buildings in the area demonstrate the link 

between the land and its people’40. ‘The parish today presents a layout and 

appearance bearing a strong resemblance to its seventeenth century character and 

it is one of several villages nearby (including Condover and Acton Burnell) that are 

fine examples of pre-industrial rural Shropshire life and as such this landscape forms 

a characterization that needs to be taken into account when considering the impact 

of the setting of historic assets by the proposed development’41. 

148. Flour not Power identifies four ‘key heritage assets’ which it considers to be 
at most risk of negative impact from the proposed development. 

Cantlop Bridge Grade II* Listed Building  

149. Cantlop Bridge was opened in 1813 to a Thomas Telford approved design. It 
is an important early example of a single-span cast-iron bridge which 
displays particularly well-executed detailing. It survives in its original form 

and retains its original ironwork and masonry and is considered to be the 
only Telford-approved cast-iron bridge remaining in situ in Shropshire. 

150. In addition to the significance of the bridge itself, the setting of the structure 
contributes to its significance. Its functional purpose is intrinsically linked to 
the Cound Brook, the original road alignment on each side of the bridge and 

the immediate surrounding fields. There is also a wider associated 
connection as the bridge was built by public subscription collected from the 

residents of Berrington and Cantlop. The bridge replaced a ford across the 
brook and provided an alternative to the small mill bridge at Cantlop Mill. 

151. The appeal site is some 125m to the north at its closest point, elevated and 

with its facing slope clothed in trees. Although the wooded area has been 
thinned, post-dating the photographic images before me, topography and 

remaining tree cover limit the extent of setting. Moreover, the proposed 
arrays would be further removed by their set back within the appeal site.  

152. Flour not Power suggests that the proposed development would be visible 

from a wider area, and argue that the setting of the bridge includes the 
historic turnpike which serves as a tourist route today linking nationally 

important heritage sites. 

153. Nonetheless, this does not change my perception of significance derived 

from setting. Overall, I conclude that the proposal would not affect the 
heritage significance of the bridge or how it is experienced. As such the 
proposal would have a neutral effect. 

Berrington Farm House Grade II Listed Building  

154. The farmhouse dates from the seventeenth century with later extensions, 
retaining much of its historic fabric. It has an extensive range of traditional 

farm buildings and yard to the rear and the farmhouse has prominence and 
standing from the road running through the village.  

155. The farmhouse is perceptible in longer-distant views, notably from Cantlop. 

The farm was once part of the estate of Sir Edward Joseph Smythe of Acton 
Burnell Castle, High Sheriff of Shropshire. An advertisement of 1887 lists the 

farm with 389 acres. 

 
40  CD 14.3 paragraph 4.13 
41  CD 14.3 paragraph 4.23 

Page 110

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          23 

156. It is acknowledged that there was once an historical functional relationship 

between the farmhouse and the appeal site, having formed part of its 
agricultural landholding. 

157. Flour not Power suggests that the view from the property contributes to its 
heritage significance within the wider landscape, sharing much of its 
historical significance with other listed buildings in the wider area. 

158. The farmhouse occupies a prominent position in the settlement and has 
wide-ranging views from its principal south-easterly aspect. However, it does 

not directly overlook the appeal site which is situated obliquely to the south-
west of the house; on falling ground, with intervening landscape cover; and 
with the eastern field being one field removed from Cliff Hollow Road. 

159. In terms of the relationship from the wider countryside, although the arrays 
would form an obvious component of the immediate foreground, the 

significance of the farmhouse as a prominent building with historic 
connection to the wider landscape, and the appeal site itself, would not be 
lost. 

160. On this basis, I consider that the proposed development would not materially 
harm the understanding of the asset within the context of the Cound Brook 

valley, or wider, and the effect of the appeal scheme would be neutral. 

Newman Hall Cottages Grade II Listed Building 

161. Newman Hall Cottages, now a single dwelling, dates from the seventeenth 

century. It was remodelled in the eighteenth century and extended at the 
beginning of the twentieth century. The isolated former cottages were home 
to ‘ordinary’ labourers who worked in the countryside and provide 

understanding of rural life. 

162. However, there is no documented direct historical functional or economic 

relationship with the appeal site. It is to be noted that the dwelling, as 
currently presented, does not have primary aspect towards the appeal site 
and it is substantially larger than the original cottages. Moreover, there is 

some intervening established vegetation, additional planting could be 
secured and the arrays would be set back from the appeal site boundary. 

163. Overall, I am satisfied that the proposal would neither sever the association 
of the cottages with the agricultural landscape or reduce the understanding 
or significance of the asset and how it is experienced as part of a wider 

appreciation of the historic landscape. Accordingly, the proposal would have 
a neutral effect.  

Cantlop Mill – Locally Listed 

164. The former corn mill has a longstanding importance with the local 
community. Its access road, between the eastern and western fields of the 

appeal site, was once the main communication route between Cantlop and 
Berrington and bridging point over the Cound Brook. The mill was rebuilt, 
with public subscription, in 1854 after a fire. There is evidence that in the 

nineteenth century the tenant of the mill, a potato grower, also cultivated 
several fields, including those that comprise the appeal site. 

165. The former mill and associated buildings sit deep in a tree-covered valley, 
close to, but well below the level of, and screened from the appeal site. 
There is therefore no direct visual connection between the asset and the 

appeal site. 

Page 111

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          24 

166. Flour not Power argues that it is the association of the ancient route between 
the hamlets that constitutes the heritage significance of setting. Although 
glimpses of the arrays either side of this artery would be evident, and with 

wider views where the access track between the two fields crosses the public 
highway, I am satisfied that this would not adversely affect the heritage 
significance of the mill complex or how it is experienced. On this basis the 

effect of the proposal would be neutral.   

Conclusion 

167. From my analysis of the material before me, and my site visits, I am 
satisfied that the detail in the Appellant’s Built Heritage Statement was 

proportionate to the importance of the assets concerned. In turn, this has 
been supplemented by the Appellant’s Heritage Note and Flour not Power’s 

Built Heritage Reappraisal. Having considered all of this material I conclude, 
in light of my statutory duty, that the appeal proposal would have a neutral 
effect on the setting and significance of heritage assets. 

Issue Five:  
The nature and extent of the benefits of the proposal and whether these would outweigh 
any harm arising from the issues above 

168. The benefits of renewable energy generation are not in dispute and can be 
recorded briefly without undermining their importance. Principally, the 
proposal would generate enough electricity to power approximately 7,000 

homes annually giving a CO2 saving of approximately 6,000 tons per annum. 
The planning application was supported by the Council’s Climate Change 

Task Force42. 

169. The development plan is dated and, understandably, does not identify areas 
suitable for renewable energy development; and the emerging local plan 
does not go beyond a criteria based policy in DP26. The Council declared a 

Climate Emergency in May 2019 as an acknowledgement that it needed to 
act on climate change. 

170. The appeal site is included on the broad brush siting possibilities map 
produced by Zero Carbon Shropshire43 for ground mounted solar 

development, albeit meriting very little weight.  

171. In terms of the development plan, no breach of Core Strategy Policy CS8 
was alleged: ‘The development of sustainable places in Shropshire …… will be 

assisted by …… positively encouraging infrastructure, where this has no significant 

adverse impact on recognised environmental assets, that mitigates and adapts to 

climate change, including decentralised, low carbon and renewable energy 

generation ……’. The Officer Report also confirmed that the proposal met the 
criteria for development in the countryside set out by Core Policy CS5. I note 

also that the Report cites Core Strategy Objective 9 which aims ‘to promote a 

low carbon Shropshire ……’. 

 

 
42  CD 3.1 paragraph 4.3 
43  ‘Zero Carbon Shropshire is an action-driven partnership of local people and businesses, all dedicated to helping 

our county fight climate change. Together, we’re taking a co-ordinated, collaborative response to the climate 

and ecological crisis at local level’. 

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          25 

172. At the national level, the amended Climate Change 2008 targets are material 

and guidance on renewable energy provision includes, but is not limited to, 
the topic specific Planning Practice Guidance, the Framework, the 

Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1) and the National 
Policy Statement for Renewable Energy (EN-3). 

173. Overall, the Council’s planning witness accepted that the renewable energy 

benefits of the proposal should carry substantial weight. Given the policy 
imperative, and the fact that the Appellant has secured a grid offer that is 

available from 2024, I agree. 

174. In terms of biodiversity net gain, hedgerows would be reinforced around the 
appeal site and the fields would be planted with species rich grassland. The 

proposal would deliver net gains of 123% in habitats and 76% in hedgerows 
for the appeal site. These important benefits attract significant weight. 

175. The economic and employment benefits of the appeal scheme relate 
principally to the construction phase, and in turn the employment generated 
by decommissioning, and I apportion limited weight. 

176. Set against these benefits is the significant harm to landscape character and 
visual amenity at a local level. The harm arising from the failure to make the 

most effective use of high quality agricultural land carries moderate weight. 
There are no adverse effects in terms of heritage assets. 

177. In closing, it was said for the Appellant that ‘secondary issues seem to [have] 

take[n] on a disproportionate importance …… or the potential to displace a tiny 

number of Skylark territories (which is not accepted) in a stronghold of perhaps 

14,000 pairs ……’44. That might appear to be the case on the basis of the 

Officer’s favourable recommendation and the Committee’s third reason for 
refusal alleging adverse impacts, partly on an unsupportable premise, on 

Skylarks. 

178. However, on the evidence before me, and having regard to local and national 
policies, there is a clear mandate for consideration by the decision maker. 

The starting point is, in the knowledge that the appeal site is used by 
Skylarks for nesting, the inevitable displacement of a protected species is a 

very strong material consideration. 

179. Application of the hierarchy of avoid, mitigate or compensate ultimately 
became grounded in the latter. But even then, the ability to compensate 

rests on a scheme yet to be produced and to be secured by a Grampian 
condition in tandem with the Unilateral Undertaking. 

180. Whilst having no criticism of the covenant within Schedule 1 as such, I am 
not convinced that the nature and effectiveness of the intended mitigation 
measures are sufficiently understood and well-developed to provide 

sufficient reassurance. 

181. In this regard, certainty is not required, in that the Council would have the 

final sanction of refusing later details that did not adequately secure an 
acceptable scheme of compensation. 

182. Reverting to the Planning Practice Guidance on conditions, the following is of 
importance: 

 
44  IN20 Paragraph 1.1  

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          26 

For non outline applications …… it is important that the local planning authority limits 

the use of conditions requiring their approval of further matters after permission has 

been granted. 

Where it is justified, the ability to impose conditions requiring submission and 

approval of further details extends to aspects of the development that are not fully 

described in the application (eg provision of car parking spaces)45. 

Where it is practicable to do so, such conditions should be discussed with the 

applicant before permission is granted to ensure that unreasonable burdens are not 

being imposed. The local planning authority should ensure that the timing of 

submission of any further details meets with the planned sequence for developing 

the site. Conditions that unnecessarily affect an applicant’s ability to bring a 

development into use, allow a development to be occupied or otherwise impact on 

the proper implementation of the planning permission should not be used ……’46. 

183. Taking this step by step, there are matters of importance that are not fully 
described in the proposal before me. That said, the Skylark Mitigation and 

Management Strategy sets out guiding principles to be followed. Further, the 
Appellant has sanctioned the condition. The claim is, if the details were 

found to be unacceptable, the Council would simply refuse to endorse them 
with a resultant embargo on the ability to implement the planning 
permission. However, in my opinion and in the alternative, if the 

compensation scheme was found to be unacceptable, and it was the only 
impedance to the development and all its benefits, the Council would be 

faced with a balance between the two single opposing interests, out-with the 
balancing exercise of this decision. 

184. On this basis, I am not satisfied that this issue should be deferred to another 
day and I attach significant weight to the impact of the proposal on Skylarks, 

a priority species in decline. 

185. Turning to the final planning balance, having satisfied myself that there are 
no other matters that should influence the balance to a material degree, the 
proposal would not protect and enhance the diversity, high quality and local 
character of Shropshire’s natural environment and it would be in conflict with 

Core Strategy Policy CS17. It would similarly be at odds with Policy CS6, 
bullet 4, which is worded to reflect CS17 and a measure of conflict with 

bullet 7 in that, whilst the natural resource of high quality land could be 
safeguarded, it would be under-used for a period of up to forty years.  

186. SAMDev Policy MD12 rests on determining the balance between harm and 
benefits. Finally, in relation to the emerging Local Plan, Policy DP26 supports 

non-wind renewable development where its impact is, or can be made, 
acceptable and DP12 again requires an overall balance. 

187. Considering the proposal in the round, and in light of the many facets of 
national guidance, I conclude that the nature and extent of the benefits of 

the proposal do not outweigh the harm that I have identified and the 
proposal would be in conflict with the development plan read as a whole. 
Having decided that the planning conditions before me would not make the 

development acceptable, I dismiss the appeal.  

David MH Rose 
Inspector  

 
45  I do not read this as a ‘closed list’ 
46  Paragraph 006 Reference ID:21a-006-20140306 

Page 114

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          27 

ANNEX A: APPEARANCES 

For Econergy International Ltd 

David Hardy   
Partner CMS 

Instructed by 

Econergy International Ltd 

He called 
 

Howard Fearn 
MSc MCIEEM 

Director                                         

Avian Ecology Ltd  

Ruth Metcalfe 
BSc(Hons) M AgrE CEnv MIAgrE 

Soil Scientist 

RSK ADAS Ltd 

Anthony Heslehurst 
MPlan MRTPI 

Director 

RSK ADAS Ltd 

Daniel Leaver (evidence in writing) 
CMLI 

Associate Director 
Stephenson Halliday 

For Shropshire Council   

Sioned Davies, Barrister No5 Chambers 
Counsel for the Local Authority 

Instructed by 

Kim Brown, Legal Team Leader 
Regulatory and Environment 
Shropshire Council 

She called 
 

Diane Corfe  
BSc (Hons) MSc RSB CBiol CIEEM 

Technical Director 

Waterman Infrastructure and 
Environment Ltd 

Mike Davies 
MBA MRICS MRTPI MCIOB MCMI IHBC47 

Consultant Planner 

Shropshire Council 

Tom Hurlstone (evidence in writing) 
BA (Hons) MLA CMLI 

Senior Associate Director 

Waterman Infrastructure and 
Environment Ltd 

For Flour Not Power 

Odette Chalaby, Barrister No5 Chambers 
Counsel for the R6(6) Party 

Instructed by 
Mark Turner, Partner 

Aaron and Partners Solicitors 

She called  

Sam Franklin 
BSc(Hons) MSc MRICS FAAV FBIAC MISoilSci 

Director 

Landscope Land and Property Ltd 

 
47  Full qualifications set out in CD 13.2 paragraph 1.1 

Page 115

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          28 

James Bullock (evidence in writing) 
CMLI 

Director 

Zebra Landscape Architects Limited 

Leo Smith (evidence in writing) 
BSc (Hons) 

Editor The Birds of Shropshire 

Dr Tim Jenkins (evidence in writing) 
PhD MA BA(Hons) FRSA FRHistS 

Heritage Consulting 

Interested Persons  

Dr Simon Briercliffe Local Resident 

Elliot Thomas Local Resident 

Tre Local Resident 

David King Local Resident 

Hamish Eccles Local Resident 

Hugh Elliott Local Resident 

Mary Elliott Local Resident 

John  Dryburgh Local Resident 

Claire Wild Local Resident 

ANNEX B: INQUIRY DOCUMENTS 

IN1  Opening on behalf of Econergy International Ltd 

IN2 Opening on behalf of Flour Not Power 

IN3 Opening on behalf of Shropshire Council 

IN4 Circular 06/2005 

IN5  Statement by Dr Simon Briercliffe 

IN6 Statement by Eliot Thomas 

IN7 Statement by Tre 

IN8 Statement by David King 

IN9 Statement by Hamish Eccles 

IN10 Statement by Hugh Elliott 

IN11 Statement by Mary Elliott 

IN12 Statement by John Dryburgh 

IN13 Statement by Claire Wild  

IN14 Council’s Unilateral Undertaking Position Statement 

Page 116

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/23/3332543 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          29 

IN15 Final Draft Unilateral Undertaking 

IN16 Schedule 2 Site Location Plan 

IN17 Schedule 3 Skylark Mitigation and Management Plan 

IN18 List of Suggested Conditions (V5) 

IN19 Condition 12 Plan – Construction and Traffic Access Route 

IN20 Appellant’s Closing Statement 

IN21 Flour not Power’s Closing Statement 

IN22 Council’s Closing Statement 

IN23 Appellant’s Response to the Council’s Position Statement (IN14) 

IN24 Signed Unilateral Undertaking 

0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0 

 

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 32 and 34 Harley Road Condover Shrewsbury Shropshire SY5 7AZ (24/04272/FUL)
	6 8 Greendale Close Highley Bridgnorth Shropshire WV16 6EG (25/00171/COU)
	7 Development Land At Site Of Ironbridge Power Station Buildwas Road Ironbridge Telford Shropshire (24/03660/REM)
	8 Plots 1 & 7 Proposed Residential And Commercial Development Land Tasley Bridgnorth Shropshire (24/01598/REM)
	9 11 Greenfields Road Bridgnorth Shropshire WV16 4JG  (25/00387/CPL)
	10 Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions
	Appeal Decision - 23-09403-ENF
	Appeal Decision 24-00115-OUT
	Appeal Decision 22-04355-FUL


